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Thoughtworks has delivered 
exceptional revenue growth and  
strong margins in 2021 and we  
are well positioned going forward.

Revenue Growth Rate 
as reported

33.2%
4.0% for FY20

Revenue Growth Rate,  
constant currency

29.3%
5.1% for FY20

Revenues

 $1.07B*

$803M for FY20

Bookings

$1.5B
Up by 60.8% from FY20

Adjusted EBITDA

 $223M
$153M for FY20

Adjusted EBITDA Margin

20.9%
19.1% for FY20

Adjusted Gross Margin

44.2%
41.9% for FY20

Free Cash Flow

$92M
$110M for FY20

Year ended Dec. 31, 2021

* Annual Gross Revenue for FY 2021 was $1,069.9m



A message from our chair of the board
Prior to joining Thoughtworks, I was very aware of its reputation as a purpose-led 
technology consultancy with an extraordinary commitment to thought leadership 
and to innovation within the technology services industry. The nine months since  
I joined the board as chair have only served to strengthen these perceptions.  
It has been inspiring to work with Guo Xiao, the board and the leadership team. 

The executive team has a deep commitment to the Thoughtworks culture, thanks 
in part to the average tenure of 17 years. They have worked together through the 
company’s transition to becoming an established global company. The company’s 
commitment to diversity and inclusion is clear and enduring. For example, 60% of 
executive officers are women.

The IPO in September was an important milestone for Thoughtworks. I am excited 
about the growth potential and the opportunity ahead of us as a public company.  
I would like to share a few initial perspectives.

The potential for digital technologies to transform business and society is widely 
recognized and is becoming an increasing reality. Indeed the pace of this change 
is accelerating. Thoughtworks is at the forefront of digital transformation, with our 
hard-earned reputation as thought leaders in digital technology. The company is 
very well positioned in an increasingly dynamic and fast growing sector. 

It is no longer enough for companies to be ambivalent about their place in the 
world. It has been reaffirming to see at first hand how our mission to create 
extraordinary impact on the world through our culture and technology excellence 
feeds into the day-to-day work and lives of Thoughtworkers. You can feel it in 
every interaction.

Any company that challenges itself with ambitious missions has to have a robust 
leadership team in place to deliver on that. At Thoughtworks, it is a pleasure to 
work with a cohesive and highly aligned leadership team. This is a group of people 
who are passionate about technology, about our culture and our impact on the 
world. I have been delighted to find that the leadership team is the embodiment 
of the values the company espouses: integrity, pursuit of excellence, global first, 
cultivation, curiosity, inclusivity, courage and a belief in autonomous teams.
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Our values are reflected in our unique 
and long-standing commitment to 
social change and sustainability. We 
published a comprehensive Social 
Impact Report in 2021 that outlined 
our alignment with the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals and 
our Sustainability Accounting Standards 
Board (SASB) materiality matrix. We are  
committed to working with our clients, 
partners and employees to make 
high impact reductions to our carbon 
emissions before 2030. 

With such solid foundations, I am 
confident that Thoughtworks has 
tremendous opportunities for sustained 
growth ahead. We operate in a large 
and fast-growing market. We have a 
global and diverse business that has  
a notable track record of creating  
value for our clients.

Our strategy for growth — deepening 
our existing client relationships, 
continuing to win new clients, focused 
geographic expansion, expanding our 
strategic partnerships and targeted 
acquisitions — alongside developing 
new technical capabilities and client 
services, is delivering and positions us 
well for the future. Central to our growth 
will be our ability to attract, develop 
and retain the best technology talent 
and to ensure that we protect the 
Thoughtworks culture. 

I am indebted to our long-standing 
board members, Jane Chwick, Rohan 
Haldea, Salim Nathoo and William 

Parrett for their hard work and 
commitment to Thoughtworks and 
their patience and good humor in 
dealing with a new chairman. I want 
to personally welcome to the board 
Robert Brennan, Gina Loften and 
Roxanne Taylor who joined us in 2021. 
We have an outstanding board and their 
expertise, enthusiasm and experience  
is already proving invaluable. 

Strategy execution, talent and culture 
will be the primary and enduring 
priorities for the board and the 
management team in the years ahead. 
As a newly public company, the board 
of  directors has set up new governance 
processes as well as establishing three 
committees — audit; compensation and 
talent; nominating and governance. 

Finally, I would like to thank all 
Thoughtworkers for their contributions  
in 2021. It is they who have made 
possible the exceptional performance  
of recent years. It is they who have 
created the extraordinary impact for  
our shareholders, clients and partners.
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The past year has been historic for Thoughtworks, as we continued to deliver 
extraordinary impact in the world through our technology and culture.

Our IPO was a major milestone in our 28-year journey. This was only 
possible thanks to the tireless contributions of more than 10,600 dedicated 
Thoughtworkers, across 17 countries in five continents. We are well 
positioned to fuel our growth going forward.

We achieved this while continuing to invest in our business, growing  
and cultivating our people and delivering transformational change for  
our clients and the communities we serve. 

A message from our CEO

We delivered exceptional financial performance in 2021, 

growing our business and exceeding $1 billion revenues 

for the first time. 
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We’re committed to achieving enduring commercial success and sustained 
growth. We believe many of our enterprise clients are only at the start of 
their digital transformations and we expect significant opportunities to 
increase our share-of-wallet with them. 

Commercial success is just one of the five lenses we use to define our 
purpose. We also believe in being an awesome partner for our clients and 
their ambitious missions; and in revolutionizing the technology industry.  
We understand the power of technology and want to amplify positive social 
change and advocate for an equitable tech future. And we want to foster 
a vibrant community of diverse technologists. Together these five guiding 
principles help set our strategy for future sustained success.

For 2021, we increased the number of clients generating  

more than $10 million  in revenues, a 30.4%  

increase compared to the prior year. And our top 10 clients 

have an average tenure of seven years. We thank them  

for their continued loyalty.
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That demonstrates the extent to which our clients value us. They trust  
that we have the deep technology expertise necessary to enable them  
to successfully tackle their most complex and business-critical challenges.  
Our client mix gives us confidence in the resilience of our business. No  
single client accounts for more than 10% of our revenue and our top 10 
clients come from four different industry verticals. If we look at client 
concentration in 2021, our top 10 clients represented 27.3% of our revenues.

Clients recognize our track record of rapidly delivering value. We are  
pleased that our premium position and reputation in the market continues  
to help us attract new clients and we served more than 370 in 2021.

And our purpose-led growth strategy is delivering.  

In 2021, our revenues grew by 33.2%  year-on-year —  

with 86.5% of our revenues coming from existing clients. 
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Today access to digital talent is business critical. Here, our reputation for 
technology excellence, thought leadership and advocacy for social change 
enables us to attract superior talent. We value poly-skilled people who  
are passionate and curious — this coupled with our cultivating culture 
enables us to develop and retain what we believe to be the best talent in  
the market — so that we continue to deliver extraordinary impact for our 
clients. This is reflected in our average annual revenue per employee of  
over $100,000 in 2021.

We grew our talented global team by 33% in 2021, closing the year with  
more than 10,600 Thoughtworkers. And our overall employee engagement 
score increased to 8.7, which is in the top 25% for the technology sector. 
In 2021, we also made two strategic acquisitions. With Fourkind, we are 
growing our consultancy and AI capabilities and gaining a presence in 
Finland and the Netherlands. Our acquisition of Gemini Solutions in Romania 
strengthens our near shore capabilities in Europe. We’ve been delighted to 
welcome them into the Thoughtworks family.
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Our success, with our diverse — by geography and sector — revenue base 
and strong growth in all regions and verticals, comes against a backdrop of  
a world that is rapidly changing. 

Our global delivery model ensures our ability to meet our clients’ demands 
in a dynamic and scalable way, while our local presence provides us with 
specialized knowledge of the local market and culture. Today, 8.6% of 
Thoughtworkers are based in North America, 14.6% in Europe, 15.9% in  
Latin America, 32.2% in India, 3.2% in Southeast Asia, 3.8% in Australia and 
21.7% in China. We work with our clients in their time zones and languages  
to deliver impact.

We continue to see robust growth coming from our four main service 
offerings: digital transformation and operations; enterprise modernization, 
platform and cloud; data and AI; customer experience, product and design.

As the world changes, our deep expertise in distributed agile delivery 
enables us to deliver digital transformation services at scale.

A resilient and diverse  
global delivery model

 North America
8.6%

Europe
14.6%

Latin America
15.9%

China
21.7%

Southeast Asia
3.2%

Australia
3.8%

 India
32.2%



10

Consumer expectations and next-generation technologies constantly  
evolve. This requires our clients to reevaluate their business models and 
undergo continual digital transformations. Thoughtworks’ expertise spans 
the entire value chain needed to achieve this, from strategy, through design 
and software engineering to deliver premium, end-to-end solutions. 

One example is Standard Chartered, a multinational bank. We’re working 
with Standard Chartered to develop a next-generation cloud-based digital 
banking proposition for their retail and wealth customers. This collaboration 
will support the bank’s ambition to expand the reach and scale of their 
digital-first strategy to elevate banking experiences for their customers.

Elsewhere, we’ve worked with Kroger, one of the world’s largest retailers,  
to enable them to realize their mission to leverage data in order to be a 
leader in distribution and merchandising. We’ve also partnered with Kroger  
to support their merchandising organization with new digital pricing, 
forecasting, item location and promotion communications.

Record bookings of $1.5 billion  in 2021 an increase  

of 60.8% year-on-year. 
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And in the UK, we are working with ITV, an integrated producer broadcaster 
that creates, owns and distributes high-quality content on multiple platforms 
globally. Consumer viewing behavior is constantly evolving and we are 
working with Amazon Web Services to help ITV further leverage their 
significant data assets to create brilliant customer experiences and to  
better serve their commercial partners.

Our journey with our clients goes far beyond project 

delivery — we ensure that clients derive the maximum 

possible value by enabling them to reach a tipping point 

where they’re able to transform their operations and 

culture so that they can evolve, upskill and scale their 

digital capabilities.
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The place for technologists to grow
Our commitment to enriching our culture is born from our passion to 
revolutionize the technology industry. Our belief in both technology 
excellence and social impact is unique; we put issues such as privacy, 
gender inclusion, social rights, open source and ethical technology at the 
heart of what we do. We’re proud that 60% of our executive officers and 
40.6% of Thoughtworkers are women or underrepresented gender minorities. 

 

Our culture has become a critical differentiator for us, as people have taken 
stock in the post-pandemic world and realized that they want to work for 
companies that share their values and belief in a better tomorrow.

This is reflected in our Glassdoor rating of 4.5 and the fact that our attrition 
rate is below the IT services industry average.

In 2021, our employees gave us a score of 8.9 for diversity and 

inclusion, putting us in the top 5% in the technology sector.
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We don’t just stop at hiring talent, we nurture too. Twelve Thoughtworks’ 
countries now have the Great Place to Work certification — and we have  
an average industry-leading global average trust index score of 90%. 

Our insatiable curiosity and desire to learn feeds our thought leadership 
engine, through which we influence the industry, help our clients and build 
our premium brand. Thoughtworks is recognized for the books we author —   
we’ve written more than 100. Our flagship reports — Thoughtworks 
Technology Radar, now in its 25th edition and the Thoughtworks Looking 
Glass — enhance our reputation for deep technical expertise and our  
ability to leverage technology to create business value.

We continue to provide Thoughtworkers with an environment where they  
can deliver extraordinary impact on society and specifically for people  
who are systematically marginalized and oppressed. 

Across the world, every day, Thoughtworkers use technology 

to directly confront and resolve deep-rooted problems and 

inequalities. We constantly reflect on our own practice and 

privilege, and ensure that when we seek to create social 

impact, it is always in the service of local communities.



Thoughtworks has been reporting on our social impact since 2018 and 
we published a comprehensive Social Impact Report in 2021. The report 
outlined our alignment with the UN Goals for Sustainable Development along 
with our Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) materiality matrix. 
We’re using SBTi, Science Based Targets, and supporting the joint initiative 
of the Carbon Disclosure Project, the U.N. Global Compact, World Resources 
Institute and World Wide Fund for Nature.

Our office of Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, Sustainability and Social Change 
(DEISSC) is a center of excellence supporting and uplifting the diverse range 
of social impact projects across the company — more than 70 in 2021. 

A good example is the work we do in support of the Digital Public Goods 
Alliance, to promote digital public goods to create a more equitable world.  
In April 2021, the open-source medical records system, Bahmni — which 
we’ve been deeply involved with as part of our commitment to healthcare  
as a human right — was one of only a handful of projects recognized as  
a Digital Public Good.

In 2021, we published our Responsible Tech playbook, providing insights 
about the tools and techniques that underpin the creation of ethical tech.
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We take great pride in the extraordinary journey we’ve been on for the past 
28 years. During that time, Thoughtworks has consistently stayed ahead of 
the technology curve — no matter how fast the pace of change. And that’s 
one of the reasons why in January 2022, Brand Finance ranked us a top 25 
brand in the IT services sector. 

Our unique business model is difficult to replicate. The digital space is not 
one where you rest on your laurels. As a premium technology consultancy, 
we’re constantly challenged: to identify the next big trends, develop the  
skill sets needed to deliver innovation and provide customer value. 

That in turn enables us to solve our clients’ toughest, business-critical 
challenges — through our desire to learn and share knowledge, we use 
those experiences to identify the next big trends.

15

Delivering extraordinary impact  
in 2022 and beyond

Our reputation for thought leadership and our award 

winning, cultivating culture help us to attract what we 

believe to be the best talent in the market.
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Key to building our premium position is to retain and develop our talent. 
And with technology advancing so fast, in addition to our core learning and 
developing programs, we’re committed to training 1,000 Thoughtworkers in 
critical skills such as data and cloud technologies over the next 12 months.

And that question — what’s next? — is something that we’re always seeking 
to answer, whether with distributed agile, microservices, continuous delivery 
or data mesh. Whatever’s next, we’ll be leading the way, shaping the industry 
with our thought leadership and helping our clients drive business value. 

And, we’ll stay laser focused on delivering extraordinary impact through  
our technology and culture for all of our stakeholders.

Guo Xiao
CEO, Thoughtworks

I am privileged to work with an amazing leadership team, 

whose average tenure at Thoughtworks is 17 years. And on 

their behalf I want to thank ​​our incredible Thoughtworkers, 

our clients, partners and shareholders for making 2021  

such a successful year.
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Executive board 
Ian Davis (NGC) 
Chair 
Former non-executive chair of Rolls-Royce 
Holdings; Former worldwide managing director,  
McKinsey & Company

Guo Xiao 
Chief Executive Officer and Director, 
Thoughtworks

Robert Brennan (CTC, NGC) 
Director 
Former executive director of Computer 
Associates; Former chair and chief executive 
officer of Veracode

Jane Chwick (CTC, NGC) 
Director 
Former partner and co-chief operating officer 
of Goldman Sachs’ technology division

Rohan Haldea (AC, CTC) 
Director 
Partner in the tech & telco team at  
Apax Partners

Gina Loften (AC, CTC) 
Director 
Former chief technology officer for  
Microsoft US

Salim Nathoo (NGC) 
Director 
Partner in the tech & telco team at  
Apax Partners

William Parrett (AC, NGC) 
Director 
Former senior partner at Deloitte & Touche USA

Roxanne Taylor (AC, CTC) 
Director 
Chief marketing and communications officer 
at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center; 
Former chief marketing and communications 
officer, Accenture

Executive officers 
Guo Xiao 
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Erin Cummins 
Chief Financial Officer

Ange Ferguson 
Chief Transformation Officer

Sai Mandapaty 
Chief Commercial Officer

Ramona Mateiu 
Chief Legal Officer and  
Chief Compliance Officer

Chris Murphy 
Chief Executive Officer, North America

Joanna Parke 
Chief Talent Officer

Dr. Rebecca J. Parsons 
Chief Technology Officer

Chad Wathington 
Chief Strategy Officer

Julie Woods-Moss 
Chief Marketing Officer

Board committees 
Audit Committee (AC) 
Compensation & Talent Committee (CTC) 
Nominating & Governance Committee (NGC)

Executive offices 
200 E. Randolph Street, Chicago, IL

Common stock information 
We are listed on NASDAQ under the ticker 
symbol TWKS.
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	 Year ended December 31,
Adjusted Gross Profit reconciliation:	 2021	 2020
Gross profit, GAAP	 $ 380,502	 $ 327,815	
Stock-based compensation	 80,440	 —	
Employer payroll tax on  
employee equity incentive plan*	 98	 —	
Depreciation expense	 11,929	 9,049	
Adjusted Gross Profit	 $ 472,969	 $ 336,864	
Gross margin, GAAP	 35.6%	 40.8%
Adjusted Gross Margin	 44.2%	 41.9%

	 Year ended December 31,
Free Cash Flow reconciliation:	 2021	 2020
Net cash provided by operating activities	 $ 118,304	 $ 125,296	
Purchase of property and equipment	 (26,068)	 (15,125)
Free Cash Flow	 $ 92,236	 $ 110,171	

(in thousands, except percentages)

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP  
financial measures

* We exclude employer payroll tax expense on equity incentive plans as these expenses are tied to the exercise or vesting of underlying equity 
awards and the price of our common stock at the time of vesting or exercise. As a result, these taxes may vary in any particular period independent 
of the financial and operating performance of our business.
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Available information 
Our investor website address is investors.thoughtworks.com. We use our website as a channel 
of distribution for company information. We make available free of charge our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments 
to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). We also make available through our website 
other reports filed with or furnished to the SEC under the Exchange Act, as well as our Code of 
Conduct. Financial and other material information regarding Thoughtworks is routinely posted 
on and accessible at investors.thoughtworks.com. We do not intend for information contained in 
this document or on our website to be part of the Annual Report on Form 10-K. This document and 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, together constitute 
Thoughtworks’ annual report to security holders for purposes of Rule 14a-3(b) of the Exchange Act. 

Additional information concerning forward-looking statements, non-GAAP Financial Measures 
(including definitions and reconciliations) and the risks and uncertainties that may affect our 
business may be found in Thoughtworks’ quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, and other filings and reports that Thoughtworks may file from time to time with the SEC.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures 
Certain financial metrics contained in this presentation are considered non-GAAP financial 
measures. We use these non-GAAP measures in conjunction with traditional GAAP measures 
to evaluate our financial performance. We believe that these non-GAAP measures provide our 
management and investors consistency and comparability with our past financial performance 
and facilitate period-to-period comparisons of our operations. The non-GAAP measures provided 
should not be considered as a substitute for the comparable measures of financial performance 
prepared in accordance with GAAP. 

Trademark references 
Rights to trademarks referenced herein, other than Thoughtworks trademarks, belong to their 
respective owners. We disclaim proprietary interest in the marks and names of others. 

http://investors.thoughtworks.com
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

This annual report on Form 10-K (the “Annual Report”) contains “forward-looking statements” within the 
meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended. Forward-looking 
statements include statements that are not historical facts and can be identified by terms such as 
“anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” 
“seek,” “should,” "strive," “will,” “would” or similar expressions and the negatives of those terms, but the 
absence of these words does not mean that the statement is not forward-looking. The forward-looking 
statements are contained principally in the sections captioned “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Risk Factors.” Forward-looking statements may include 
information concerning our possible or assumed future results of operations, client demand, business 
strategies, technology developments, financing and investment plans, competitive position, our industry and 
regulatory environment, potential growth opportunities and the effects of competition.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may 
cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, 
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Given these 
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Also, forward-looking 
statements represent our management’s beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this Annual Report. 
You should read this Annual Report and the documents that we have filed as exhibits to the Annual Report, 
completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we 
expect.

Risk Factor Summary

Important risk factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations include:

• the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted our business and operations, and future business and operational 
challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic could materially adversely affect us;

• we may be unable to implement our growth strategy;
• our ability to generate and retain business depends on our reputation in the marketplace;
• we must successfully attract, hire, train and retain skilled professionals to service our clients’ projects 

and we must productively deploy our professionals to remain profitable;
• increases in wages, equity compensation and other compensation expenses could prevent us from 

sustaining our competitive advantage and increase our costs;
• our business and operations may be harmed if we cannot positively evolve and preserve our 

Thoughtworks culture;
• if we fail to manage our acquisition strategy, our culture and growth plans could be materially adversely 

affected;
• our global business exposes us to operational, geopolitical, regulatory, legal and economic risks;
• our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by fluctuations in 

foreign currency exchange rates;
• our effective tax rate could be materially adversely affected by several factors;
• if we fail to adequately innovate, adapt and/or remain at the forefront of emerging technologies and 

related client demands, we could be materially adversely affected;
• we face intense competition and operate in a rapidly evolving industry, which makes it difficult to 

evaluate our future prospects;
• we may not be successful at attracting new clients or retaining and expanding our relationships with our 

existing clients;
• we generally do not have long-term commitments or contracts with our clients;
• we face risks associated with having a long selling and implementation cycle for our services;
• our cash flows and results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to collect on billed 

and unbilled receivables from clients;
• our profitability could suffer if we cannot accurately price our solutions and services, maintain favorable 

pricing for our solutions and services, are unable to collect on receivables from clients or fail to meet our 
contractual and other obligations to clients;

Table of Contents
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• if we cause disruptions to our clients’ businesses, provide inadequate service, or breach contractual 
obligations, our clients may have claims against us, which our insurance may not adequately protect 
against, and our reputation may be damaged;

• we face risks associated with security breaches as well as privacy and data protection regulations, and 
we may incur significant liabilities if we fail to manage those risks;

• a significant failure in our systems, telecommunications or IT infrastructure could harm our service 
model, which could result in a reduction of our revenues and otherwise disrupt our business;

• changes in privacy and data protection regulations could expose us to risks of noncompliance and costs 
associated with compliance;

• we are subject to laws and regulations in the U.S. and other countries in which we operate, compliance 
with these laws requires significant resources and non-compliance may result in civil or criminal 
penalties and other remedial measures;

• we may become subject to disputes or legal or other proceedings that could involve significant 
expenditures by us, which could have a material adverse effect on us, including our financial results;

• our existing indebtedness could adversely affect our business and growth prospect;
• we may face intellectual property infringement or misappropriation claims that could be costly to defend 

or if we do not protect our brand through our intellectual property rights, our business may be harmed;
• we may not be able to prevent unauthorized use of our client's intellectual property and our business 

and competitive position may be damaged as a result;
• our stock price may be volatile, and the value of our common stock may decline;
• our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our 

equity incentive plans, or otherwise will dilute all other stockholders;
• if securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable or inaccurate research 

about our business, the market price and trading volume of our common stock could decline;
• we do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, the ability of the holders of 

our common stock to achieve a return on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our 
common stock;

• investment funds (the "Apax Funds") advised by Apax Partners L.L.P. ("Apax Partners") control us, and 
such control may give rise to actual or perceived conflicts of interests; 

• our status as a “controlled company” will grant us exemptions from certain corporate governance 
requirements, and our status as an “emerging growth company” will allow us to comply with reduced 
public company reporting requirements;

• we will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be 
required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices;

• we may fail to comply with the rules that apply to public companies, which could result in sanctions or 
other penalties;

• provisions of our corporate governance documents could make an acquisition of us more difficult and 
may prevent attempts by our shareholders to replace or remove our current management, even if 
beneficial to our shareholders;

• provisions of our certificate of incorporation could limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable 
judicial forum for disputes with us; and

• a significant portion of our total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold 
into the market in the near future, which could cause the market price of common stock to drop.

For more information, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

We derive many of our forward-looking statements from our operating budgets and forecasts, which are 
based on many detailed assumptions. While we believe that our assumptions are reasonable, we caution that 
it is very difficult to predict the impact of known factors, and it is impossible for us to anticipate all factors 
that could affect our actual results. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
our expectations, or cautionary statements, are disclosed under the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annual 
Report. All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements as well as other cautionary statements 
that are made from time to time in our other Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings and public 
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communications. You should evaluate all forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report in the 
context of these risks and uncertainties.

We caution you that the important factors referenced above may not contain all of the factors that are 
important to you. In addition, we cannot assure you that we will realize the results or developments we expect 
or anticipate or, even if substantially realized, that they will result in the consequences or affect us or our 
operations in the way we expect. The forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report are made 
only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement as 
a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by law.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. ("Thoughtworks," the "Company," "we," "us," or "our") is a premium global 
technology consultancy that integrates strategy, design and software engineering to enable enterprises and 
technology disruptors across the globe to thrive as modern digital businesses. Thoughtworks exists to deliver 
extraordinary impact for clients, employees, partners and the communities we serve through our culture and 
technology excellence.

In the face of ongoing digital disruption, many companies lack the capabilities and talent necessary to keep 
pace with the accelerating rate of technological change. Thoughtworks has been a thought leader at the 
forefront of technology innovation for the past 28 years. We leverage our vast experience to improve our 
clients’ ability to flourish in the digital era. 

We are a globally diversified business, with clients across all major verticals and geographies. Our global 
distributed agile delivery model operates where our clients are, with over 10,600 employees working across 
17 countries on five continents, including North America, South America, Europe, Asia and Australia. Further, 
our unique, diverse and cultivating culture, with a reputation for technology excellence and thought 
leadership, enables us to attract and retain what we believe is the best talent in the industry. That is why our 
clients trust Thoughtworks as their premium digital transformation partner.

Global spending on the digital transformation of business practices, products and organizations is forecast by 
International Data Corporation ("IDC") to reach $2.8 trillion in 2025, more than double the amount spent in 
2020.

Thoughtworks provides premium, end-to-end digital strategy, design and engineering services and we are 
well positioned to capitalize on this opportunity. We connect strategy to execution, using cross-functional 
teams to deliver value to our clients at scale. Our four global service lines provide specialized capabilities and 
thought leadership to drive digital transformation:

• Enterprise Modernization, Platforms & Cloud
• Customer Experience, Product & Design
• Data & Artificial Intelligence ("AI")
• Digital Transformation & Operations

Our unique service offerings, differentiated delivery, global talent and culture have enabled us to attract over 
370 current clients, including global enterprises and technology disruptors. Our clients are highly diversified 
across industry verticals. We have relatively low client concentration, with only 27.3% of our revenues coming 
from our top 10 clients in 2021. Our deep client integration and senior executive relationships have enabled us 
to drive long-standing partnerships with our clients, as demonstrated by an average tenure of seven years 
across our top 10 clients by revenue in 2021. As a result, 86.5% of our revenues in 2021 were generated from 
recurring clients.

Since our inception, we have been pioneers in technologies that now underpin today's modern digital 
businesses, such as agile software development, continuous delivery, microservices, evolutionary 
architecture and data mesh. We have established ourselves as a thought leader and are continually 
advancing digital trends with our innovations. We believe our approach enables us to deliver the innovations 
that deliver value for our clients before new technologies reach mass adoption.

We utilize a distributed agile delivery model, leveraging a broad base of high-quality, poly-skilled global 
technology talent. Our professionals seamlessly work with clients both where they are located and nearshore/
offshore. Our local presence enables us to develop deep client intimacy and assimilate market context and 
knowledge. Blending our local presence with our nearshore/offshore capabilities allows us to innovate rapidly 
at scale. Our differentiated delivery model enables us to generate an average annual revenue per employee of 
over $100,000 in each of 2019, 2020 and 2021 (based on the average number of employees for the relevant 
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year). For more information regarding our average annual revenue per employee in historical periods, see 
"Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key 
Factors Affecting Our Performance—Expanding our technical capabilities and client solutions."

Our differentiated approach is rooted in a unique culture that is championed by our executive leadership 
team, which has an average tenure of 17 years. Our reputation for technology excellence, thought leadership 
and advocacy for social change enables us to attract what we believe is the best talent in the industry. Allied 
to this, our cultivating culture enables us to develop and retain talent. In addition, Thoughtworks is widely 
recognized for leading the technology industry through our efforts on diversity and inclusion. For example, 
60% of our executive officers are women. Thoughtworkers are incredibly engaged and loyal, as evidenced by 
our 2021 annual employee engagement survey, where our overall engagement increased to 8.7 which is in the 
top 25% for the technology sector. Our diversity and inclusion score increased to 8.9 which puts 
Thoughtworks in the top 5% in the sector. Our attrition rate of 15.1% in 2021 is lower than the industry 
average.

We believe the Thoughtworks value proposition is sustainable and difficult to replicate. The core elements 
form a virtuous cycle: clients trust us to deliver on their most complex and business-critical projects; those 
experiences allow us to explore cutting-edge technologies and expand our thought leadership; this enables 
us to continuously attract, develop and retain the very best global talent; which gives us the ability to meet 
and exceed our clients’ needs. Our position is at the forefront of successive waves of technological change — 
spotting important trends early.

Our approach has enabled us to consistently grow our revenues and profits. In 2021 our revenues surpassed 
the one billion mark at nearly $1.07 billion, representing 33% of year-over-year revenue growth. Net loss for 
the full year was $(23.6) million, compared to net income of $79.3 million in 2020. Adjusted EBITDA for the full 
year was $223.2 million representing year-over-year growth of 45.7%. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for a 
definition of and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net (loss) income, the most directly comparable GAAP 
measure, how we use Adjusted EBITDA and an explanation of why we consider this non-GAAP measure to be 
helpful for investors.

Key milestones for our business include:

• 1993—Thoughtworks was founded.
• 1999—Guo Xiao and Dr. Rebecca Parsons joined Thoughtworks.
• 2000–2004—Opened offices in Australia, United Kingdom, India, Canada and China.
• 2001—Manifesto for Agile Software Development published (co-authored by our Chief Scientist Martin 

Fowler).
• 2004—Surpassed 500 Thoughtworkers; Selenium, the leading web application testing framework today, 

was developed based on work started at Thoughtworks.
• 2005—Established Thoughtworks University.
• 2009–2010—Opened offices in Brazil and Germany.
• 2011—Published first edition of Thoughtworks Technology Radar, tracking new developments in 

technology across techniques, tools, platforms, languages, frameworks.
• 2012–2014—Opened first offices in Singapore, Ecuador and Italy.
• 2014—Surpassed $300 million in annual revenues and 3,000 Thoughtworkers. Published the seminal 

article Microservices and Building Microservices.
• 2015—Collaborated with Save the Children in the fight against Ebola, developing an open-source and 

adaptable electronic medical record system for Sierra Leone.
• 2016—Opened offices in Spain and Chile; Awarded winner of the AnitaB.org Institute’s Top Companies 

for Women Technologists, winning again in 2017 and 2018 and recognized as a leader in 2019 and 2020.
• 2017—Surpassed $500 million in annual revenues; Apax Funds acquired Thoughtworks.
• 2018—Thoughtworks surpassed 5,000 Thoughtworkers.
• 2019—Surpassed $700 million in annual revenues. Published the Digital Transformation Game Plan: 34 

Tenets for Masterfully Merging Technology and Business and How to Move Beyond a Monolithic Data 
Lake to a Distributed Data Mesh.
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• 2020—Named strong performer in digital product development by Forrester Research Inc.; committed 
to the Valuable 500, the global movement putting disability on the business leadership agenda; awarded 
IT Vendor of the Year by the UK IT Industry Awards.

• 2021—Acquired Gemini and Fourkind; completed initial public offering (IPO) and began trading publicly 
on the NASDAQ.

Our Growth Strategies

We continue to differentiate ourselves as a leading global technology consultancy that drives digital 
innovation by leveraging the following key growth strategies:

• Deepen our relationships with existing clients. We have a successful track record of expanding our 
relationships with our existing clients. This is reflected in our total percentage of revenues from recurring 
clients, which represented 86.5% in 2021. In addition, in 2021, we had 26 clients generating between $5 
million and $10 million in revenues and 30 clients generating over $10 million. In 2021 we reached a new 
milestone with one of those top 10 clients reaching $50 million in revenues. We will continue to focus on 
larger, higher value projects. We believe we have a substantial opportunity to cross-sell additional 
services to our existing clients.

• Establish new client relationships. We believe there are significant untapped opportunities to win new 
clients across current and adjacent industry verticals and geographies. To that end, we increased the 
total number of clients to 371 in 2021 from 320 in 2020. Adding new clients has also enabled us to 
maintain relatively low client concentration with only 16.8% and 27.3% of our revenues coming from our 
top five and 10 clients, respectively, in 2021.

• Develop new technical capabilities and client solutions. For 28 years, we have been at the forefront of 
innovation, pioneering numerous innovative trends. We have built a thought leadership engine that we 
believe is consistently pioneering technology-driven business change. We accomplish this by giving our 
teams, who work in close proximity to our clients, autonomy to experiment with new technologies while 
solving complex client problems. When they discover new innovations, we give them resources to 
develop and harvest them, then scale them through our global delivery model.

• Develop and grow our strategic partnerships. While we remain technologically agnostic and work with 
the appropriate technologies for our clients, we have expanded our relationships with hyperscale cloud 
providers, including Amazon, Google, Microsoft and Alibaba. This enables us to deepen our capabilities, 
target new clients and drive meaningful growth. We partner with other third-party product and service 
companies to expand our delivery capabilities as well as identify additional client opportunities.

• Pursue strategic, targeted acquisitions. Our historic growth has been predominantly organic and we 
expect this to continue. In 2021, we made two strategic acquisitions: (i) Gemini Solutions in Romania to 
increase our nearshore European presence and (ii) Fourkind in Finland and the Netherlands to enhance 
our advisory, digital transformation and AI consulting capabilities. Going forward, we believe there is 
further opportunity to augment our growth by selectively pursuing acquisitions that broaden our service 
offerings, add leading talent, expand our client base and addressable market and enhance the depth of 
our capabilities in all of our verticals and geographies.

• Focused-geographic expansion. Thoughtworks has throughout its history expanded into key new 
countries and will continue to do so, as and when opportunities to do so make strategic sense.

Thoughtworks' Differentiation

Thoughtworks was founded in Chicago in 1993 by a small team with a unified purpose. At that time, 
information technology functions were largely regarded as ineffective cost centers. As a digital native 
business, Thoughtworks aspired to change this through experimenting and learning to drive continuous 
improvement and the pursuit of excellence in the craft of software development.

Today, we believe our clients benefit from our differentiation, including our:

• Ability to digitally transform global enterprises at scale by applying strategic consulting and cutting 
edge technologies. Digital transformation requires alignment across the entire organization. 
Thoughtworks' unique and consistent global approach and end-to-end capabilities span strategy, 
design, software engineering and organizational transformation. We believe that is why we can enable 
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clients to realize value swiftly, and why our clients rely on Thoughtworks to solve their most complex 
problems.

• Deep agile and technical expertise coupled with a history of thought leadership. Thoughtworks was 
an early visionary behind some of today’s leading technologies, as reflected by our range of 
publications, including approximately 100 software engineering and technology books Thoughtworkers 
have collectively authored. We have been delivering software and subsequently digital transformation, in 
an agile manner for over 20 years, long before it was a mainstream practice.

• Poly-skilled, transformational and global talent. We believe we deliver transformational change to our 
clients through our differentiated and diversified talent base of over 10,600 Thoughtworkers. To achieve 
that, we hire poly-skilled, high-aptitude Thoughtworkers who can learn new skills quickly. We see this as 
a competitive advantage in the talent market.

• Global and distributed agile delivery with a strong local presence. We use highly skilled, distributed 
teams to deliver custom software projects more effectively and to give our over 370 clients access to 
the diverse talent they need. Our global delivery ensures our ability to meet our clients’ global demands, 
while our local presence provides us with specialized knowledge of the local market and culture, 
enabling us to work side-by-side with our clients in their time zones and languages on innovative and 
effective solutions.

• Award-winning and cultivating culture. Since our founding, we have relentlessly focused on evolving 
our culture, creating a differentiated brand that Thoughtworkers are proud to be a part of. We believe 
our culture not only drives higher quality work but also enables us to efficiently recruit and retain 
Thoughtworkers to drive growth.

• Experienced management team with a long history of working together. Our management team has an 
average tenure of 17 years at Thoughtworks and the majority have been working together as a team for 
over a decade. Most of the team members have worked across multiple functions and geographies, 
giving the group a diverse and well-rounded experience-base on all facets of our business.

As a result of our competitive advantages, we have created a virtuous cycle that is difficult to replicate. We 
earn our clients’ trust to deliver on their most complex and business-critical projects. Our demonstrated track 
record of success encourages us to further develop cutting-edge technology solutions and expand our 
thought leadership. As a result, we continuously attract, develop and retain high caliber talent, enabling us to 
meet and exceed our clients’ needs. The reputation we have built as the go-to partner for digital 
transformation allows us to command premium bill rates.

Our Culture & People

Since inception, revolutionizing the technology industry has been a core part of Thoughtworks’ mission. We 
are driven by a desire to “create an extraordinary impact on the world through our culture and technology 
excellence.” Our people relentlessly pursue our values of integrity, excellence, global-first, cultivation, 
curiosity, autonomy, inclusivity and courage. We aim to be an awesome partner for clients and their 
ambitions.

Diversity & Inclusion

Thoughtworks proudly and actively seeks to make itself and the technology industry more reflective and 
inclusive of the society that we serve. We believe that our flat organizational structure means that every voice 
can be heard, as evidenced by our 2021 employee engagement survey: we scored 8.7 as an aggregated 
average across Thoughtworks.

Diversity and inclusion has been a core guiding principle since we were founded. Sixty percent of our 
executive officers are women and approximately 38.2% of our technologists are women.

Our Recognition

Our differentiated culture has been widely recognized by the industry, earning us numerous awards, 
including:

• Twelve Thoughtworks’ countries now have the Great Place to Work certification. We’re proud that we 
have achieved industry-leading Great Place to Work trust index scores, with a global average of 90%.
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• In Q4 2021, our overall global Glassdoor rating is 4.5, higher than the Glassdoor rating for the IT services 
sector of 3.95.

Attracting Talent

Our employee brand is strong in the market and in 2021, we had 250,000 applications for roles. Our 
recruitment capability is a source of key differentiation, with 99.99% of all hires being recruited internally 
through our recruitment and recruitment marketing teams on a 30/30/30 model — with a goal of 30% 
referrals, 30% direct applicants and 30% sourced, with the help of channels like Access Thoughtworks, our 
online community for career development and job opportunities.

Thoughtworkers come from a variety of traditional and non-traditional technology backgrounds and include 
career changers and/or self-taught technologists, valuing transferable skills, adaptability and continuous 
learning. Our blended delivery approach gives us a clear advantage when it comes to attracting talent. 
Candidates have the opportunity to work on in-region service line projects, as well as in distributed agile 
teams — either as part of a nearshore or far-shore delivery team. We believe candidates are attracted by our 
career development opportunities. We continue to innovate in our recruitment and onboarding processes and 
tools.

Training Talent

As a pioneer of agile and extreme programming practices, in 2005 we set up Thoughtworks University, our 
immersive entry-level program for new hires. This provides guidance on career coaching and progression, 
ensuring our newest Thoughtworkers have the full toolset required for them to build long-term careers at 
Thoughtworks. As of December 2021, there have been approximately 3,600 graduates from Thoughtworks 
University since its inception, including 51% women and under-represented gender minorities in 2021.

Retaining Talent

Cultivation and empowerment is a core part of our culture; we call this "Empowering Thoughtworker 
Growth"—enabling Thoughtworkers to have a personalized, integrated journey of cultivation and growth. We 
developed tools, including "Pathways" for career planning and growth paths and "Summit" for self-
assessment, expectation-setting and feedback, as well as offering Thoughtworkers extensive online training 
opportunities.

When we became a public company in September 2021, every Thoughtworker with us at that time became an 
equityholder. Going forward, we can offer equity as part of the total reward package to a broad set of our 
people. This approach aligns with our inclusive culture and proactive approach to employee retention.

Our Differentiated Service Offerings

We are passionate about creating exceptional customer experiences and helping clients achieve their unique 
business goals. As our clients continuously evolve and grow their modern digital business capabilities, they 
capitalize on our end-to-end services that combine strategy, innovative experience design and world-class 
software engineering. Our four global service lines influence thought leadership, capability development, 
community building and client work to reinforce our premium brand position. 

Enterprise Modernization, Platforms & Cloud

Our Enterprise Modernization, Platforms & Cloud service line focuses on evolving clients’ platforms, processes 
and talent to deliver business value quickly and enables continuous innovation and development. Key 
offerings include: modernization strategy and execution; digital platform strategy and engineering 
organization transformation; cloud modernization; cloud-native application support and evolution; and 
platform assessment and remediation.

Customer Experience, Product & Design

Our Customer Experience, Product & Design service line brings together design and product thinking with 
software engineering excellence, integrating product and platform strategies to help our clients build quality, 
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digital products and deliver differentiated customer experiences. This service line delivers: idea to market; 
customer experience strategy; product management transformation; product design and delivery.

Data & AI

Our Data & AI service line combines best-in-class data and software engineering practices, product thinking 
and data science expertise to help our clients extract value, insights and information from their data assets, 
connect data silos and create effective predictive analysis tools. This service line delivers: data strategy; 
intelligent products; data platforms and data mesh; continuous delivery for machine learning (CD4ML); and 
data governance. 

Digital Transformation & Operations

Our Digital Transformation & Operations service line connects strategic understanding with software and 
platform expertise to deliver fast, effective organizational transformation, enabling clients to respond to ever-
changing market expectations. This service line delivers: delivery transformation; digital fluency; 
organizational transformation; value-driven portfolio management; technology strategy; executive advisory 
services; and digital foundations training.

Our Global Distributed Agile Delivery Model

Thoughtworks is a global business, operating as a single organization, with consistent global capabilities, 
regardless of country. We have a broad geographical presence with proven capabilities in key regions. As of 
December  31, 2021, we have 8.6% of our employees in North America, 14.6% in Europe, 15.9% in Latin 
America ("LATAM") and 60.9% in Asia-Pacific ("APAC").

Our blended delivery model means we are able to partner with our clients in ways that suit them. By offering a 
combination of onshore and nearshore/offshore talent, we are able to deliver the services our clients need, 
while balancing costs and proximity considerations.

Our Clients

During 2021, we served over 370 clients ranging from large, global enterprises to technology disruptors, who 
utilized our services and talent to help them evolve the digital capabilities within their organizations. We have 
a diversified client base spanning a range of geographies and industry verticals. In 2021, our revenues as a 
percentage of total revenues were as follows across geographies: 37.1% North America; 33.5% APAC; 25.0% 
Europe; and 4.4% LATAM. In addition, in 2021, our revenues as a percentage of total revenues were as 
follows across industry verticals: 27.0% technology and business services; 25.7% energy, public and health 
services; 19.0% retail and consumer; 15.9% financial services and insurance; and 12.4% automotive, travel and 
transportation. Additionally, our top five and 10 clients in 2021 represented just 16.8% and 27.3%, 
respectively, of our revenues.

We have long-term and trusted relationships with our clients. In 2021, 86.5% of our revenues came from 
recurring clients and our 10 largest clients in 2021 have been clients with us for an average of seven years. 
We look to partner with clients who recognize the importance of technology as a central component of their 
business strategy. With that shared understanding, we engrain ourselves in their organizations and 
collaborate with them to translate that strategy into higher business value over the long term.
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Key Challenges Our Clients are Facing

As much as digital transformation is considered an imperative, companies face several key challenges in their 
digital transformation journeys, including the ability to:

• Keep up with the latest technological innovations. Often companies lack the ability to synthesize and 
prioritize the latest technology to drive value and to compete.

• Embrace digital to drive sustainable change across the enterprise. Often, companies are unable to 
align key functional stakeholders on competing priorities between business and technology.

• Deliver digital products and experiences rapidly and at scale. Many organizations struggle to adapt to 
the pace of change required to thrive in a digital marketplace.

• Adopt platform thinking. To benefit fully from digital platforms requires significant investments and, 
often, cultural changes.

• Recruit and retain high-quality talent. Competition for digital talent is fierce. Korn Ferry estimates that 
there will be approximately $450 billion worth of unrealized output by 2030 due to the massive shortage 
of skilled digital workers.

Sales & Marketing

Our sales and marketing strategy is focused on increasing revenues from existing clients, generating 
revenues from new clients and continuing to maintain our brand to appeal to current and prospective clients 
and employees.

Sales

Our sales strategy emphasizes a team-based approach involving client partners, account managers, delivery 
professionals, country heads and senior leaders. We have created a three-prong model for our demand 
teams. One group targets new client acquisition, a second looks after existing clients and the third builds on 
growing our partner business.

In 2021, we saw larger, longer term client deals and clients with ambitions to scale their digital 
transformations at a faster pace. 

Excellence in Client Services Initiative

Our approach to client relationships is based on the understanding that technology and delivery are as 
important as sales. Each of our clients has a Client Leadership Team (“CLT”), whose mission is to drive 
success for the client’s business. The CLT consists of three senior leaders. They are supported by the 
Excellence in Client Services program, which enables the CLTs to execute strategic change with their clients 
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through masterclasses, workshops and tools. This has been an effective model for us, allowing us to stay 
close to not only the client but also the work we deliver and how we deliver it.

Marketing

Our reputation as a leading digital transformation services provider helps us generate new business 
opportunities. In addition to the flagship Thoughtworks Technology Radar, we have a portfolio of high impact 
publications such as our annual Looking Glass report, as well as thought leadership events, such as XConf, a 
global event series focused on the latest thinking from Thoughtworks’ technology community. 

The investment in our Digital Experience Platform — including the implementation of a new customer 
relationship management system and migration to a new content management system — has strengthened 
our ability to reach and influence our target business executive audience, support account growth with 
personalized account-based marketing and collate real-time insights to inform our go-to-market strategy.

Our focus on building our premium brand has resulted in Thoughtworks being ranked as a Brand Finance top 
25 global IT services brand.

Environment and Social Impact

Environment

Thoughtworks is passionate about sustainability and the environment, and has a long-standing commitment 
to creating positive social change through our technology contributions. This includes in May 2021, co-
founding the Green Software Foundation, along with Microsoft, GitHub, Accenture and the Linux Foundation, 
which seeks to build a trusted ecosystem for green software. In 2019, Thoughtworks committed to set near-
term company-wide emission reductions in line with climate science with the Science Based Target Initiative 
("SBTi").

Social Impact

Diversity and inclusion has been a guiding principle since we were founded as evidenced by our 2021 
employee engagement survey: Our diversity and inclusion score increased to 8.9 which puts Thoughtworks in 
the top 5% in the sector. In 2021, 40.6% of Thoughtworkers were women and underrepresented gender 
minorities.

We work with communities around the world on over 70 initiatives, and strive to make significant 
contributions to the United Nations ("U.N.") Sustainable development goals ("SDGs"), particularly goals three 
(good health and well-being), five (gender equality), nine (industry, innovation and infrastructure), 10 
(reduced inequalities) and 13 (climate action). We believe that our social impact ethic is a key pillar of our 
culture and business and is considered a board-level priority. Thoughtworkers seek to undertake 
transformational social impact projects around the world. An example of this is the work we do in support of 
the Digital Public Goods Alliance, whose mission is to promote digital public goods to create a more equitable 
world. In 2021, we provided support to open source digital solutions that may play a role in advancing the 
SDGs in climate action, good health and well-being, and reduced inequalities.

Revolutionizing the Technology Industry

Alongside our commitment to diversity and inclusion in the technology industry, Thoughtworks has been at 
the forefront of revolutionizing the technology industry and thought leadership and authorship are part of our 
DNA.

Books

Thoughtworkers have published approximately 100 books on a wide variety of topics, cementing 
Thoughtworks’ industry-leading ideas around distributed agile, lean thinking, microservices and evolutionary 
architecture. Through nurturing talent and supporting would-be authors, Thoughtworks has established a 
reputation as an attractive place to work for top talent.
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Thoughtworks Technology Radar and Thoughtworks Looking Glass

Published twice a year over the past 12 years and now in its 25th edition, Thoughtworks Technology Radar 
has become the go-to guide for software developers. It helps technologists keep up with the rapid innovation 
and the ever-evolving technology landscape. The publication received endorsements from Porsche, Redgate 
and REA Group.

Thoughtworks Looking Glass is our annual report into the day’s most important technology trends. It gives 
business executives advice on how advances in technology will impact their organization and how quickly 
they need to react.

Open Source

Thoughtworks has always been an ardent supporter of open source software. This support stems from a 
philosophical perspective on how the best software is created and from a practical perspective, in that many 
of the software tools and products we have developed have been created through the use of open source 
licenses; many Thoughtworkers are dedicated contributors to a wide variety of open source projects.

We believe that open source enables us to build superior solutions to those based on proprietary software in 
terms of cost, freedom, privacy, security, quality and community. Building open source software allows us to 
share new ways of working and learn from the wider community.

Our Industry

Modern, next-generation technologies have spawned a digital revolution, advancing the global economy 
towards a digital age driven by seamless connectivity, efficient cloud computing and advanced data analytics. 
This is redefining business models, disrupting the competitive landscape and increasing consumer 
expectations. To survive and enable growth, companies across all industries and geographies need to adapt 
to the accelerated pace of technological change by undergoing holistic and continuous digital 
transformations.

Key Technology Industry Trends Driving Digital Transformation

A number of key industry trends are driving spending for digital transformation:

• Realizing the potential of platforms. Platform building connected to clearly defined goals is a critical 
component for modern business.

• Rapid advancement of AI- and ML-based tools. AI and Machine Learning ("ML") tools are delivering 
productivity gains and better, faster decision making.

• Enhanced consumer experiences. The way we interact with the digital world is changing — opening up 
new possibilities for businesses.

• Accelerating towards sustainability. Environmental impact is a core concern for every business. 
Technology presents both challenges and opportunities to being sustainable.

• Growing impact of hostile tech. Data is increasingly valuable. This attracts attackers and heightens 
privacy concerns.

Our Market Opportunity

As companies struggle to keep pace with this accelerating rate of technological innovation, they need to rely 
on service providers to drive digital transformation, creating a massive market opportunity. According to IDC, 
global spending on the digital transformation of business practices, products and organizations is forecast to 
reach $2.8 trillion in 2025, more than double the amount spent in 2020.

Competition

We operate in a global, dynamic and rapidly evolving market and, as a result, face competition from a wide 
number of organizations and service providers, both global as well as local. These include software 
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engineering specialists, large global consulting firms, strategic consulting firms, traditional IT services 
providers and our clients’ in-house development teams.

We believe that our thought leadership, excellence in modern software engineering capabilities, end-to-end 
solutions that we are able to deliver to our clients rapidly and at scale, differentiated global delivery model 
and unique culture with a focus on diversity and inclusion provide us with strong, sustained differentiation 
from our competition.

Limitations of Other Digital Service Providers

While the market for digital transformation services is large and growing rapidly with a range of quality 
providers, many face some key limitations, including:

• Inability to deliver new technological innovations ahead of mass adoption. Many service providers 
offer expertise around digital innovations only after such innovations reach mass adoption. As a result, 
they struggle to innovate and adopt newer technologies earlier to differentiate their clients’ digital 
products and experiences.

• Lack of expertise to provide early stage strategy for complex digital transformations. Many service 
providers are optimized to execute once a template for scaling is designed, but often lack early stage 
strategy expertise. If technology expertise is absent from strategic decision-making, then the resulting 
solution may be ineffective or undifferentiated.

• Employees focused on narrower specialties. Many service providers train their employees in narrower 
specialties, resulting in both siloed development and solutions. By taking this approach, employees often 
lack the full context needed to identify potential problems and opportunities, limiting the speed and 
depth of innovation.

• Limited onshore talent. Many service providers have a high concentration of employees offshore, but 
offer limited onshore talent. As a result, they may lack important local market context, client intimacy to 
drive innovation and the ability to influence culture, transfer knowledge and enable sustained 
organizational change.

• Concentration of talent in fewer offshore geographies. Many service providers rely on a limited 
number of international geographies to recruit their offshore talent. As a result, they may miss out on 
broader pools of high-quality talent to support demand and are unable to consistently provide talent in 
the client’s preferred location.

Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property rights are important to our business, particularly around our branding. We rely on a 
combination of copyright, trademark, patent and unfair competition laws, as well as intellectual property 
assignment and confidentiality agreements and other methods to protect our intellectual property rights. We 
require our employees, independent contractors, vendors and clients to enter into written confidentiality 
agreements upon the commencement of their relationships with us. These agreements generally provide that 
any confidential or proprietary information disclosed or otherwise made available by us be kept confidential.

We customarily enter into non-disclosure agreements with our clients with respect to the use of their 
software systems and platforms. Our clients usually own the intellectual property in the software or systems 
we develop for them. Furthermore, we usually grant a perpetual, worldwide, royalty-free, nonexclusive, 
transferable and non-revocable license to our clients to use our pre-existing intellectual property but only to 
the extent necessary to use the software or systems we developed for them.

We have invested and plan to continue to invest in research and development to enhance our domain 
knowledge and create complex, specialized solutions for our clients. We have registered (or applied for 
registration of) the trademark “Thoughtworks” in over fifteen jurisdictions, including the United States, the 
European Union and the United Kingdom, as of December  31, 2021. We have developed several tools, 
including consulting frameworks and software applications, that we use to deliver digital services to our 
clients. We have also secured patent protection for certain internal asset tracking and human machine 
interaction designs. In addition, to ensure we maintain the ability to engage with our clients, employees and 
the public, we have registered and maintained dozens of domain names.
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We do not believe that any individual intellectual property right, other than our rights in our name and logo, is 
material to our business.

Government Regulations

Due to the industry and geographic diversity of our operations and services, our operations are subject to a 
variety of rules and regulations. Several foreign and U.S. federal and state agencies regulate various aspects 
of our business. We are subject to laws and regulations in the United States and other countries in which we 
operate, including export restrictions, economic sanctions, like the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), 
the California Privacy Rights Act ("CPRA") and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), among others. 
Compliance with these laws requires significant resources and non-compliance may result in civil or criminal 
penalties and other remedial measures.

Corporate & Website Information

Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in 2017 to serve as the indirect holding company of 
Thoughtworks, Inc. and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. Our principal executive offices are located at 200 
East Randolph Street, 25th Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60601. Our telephone number is (312) 373-1000. Our 
website address is www.thoughtworks.com. The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, 
our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report or any other report or document we file 
with the SEC.

Available Information

The SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy statements and other information about 
issuers, like us, that file electronically with the SEC. The address of that website is www.sec.gov. We are 
subject to the information and reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange 
Act") and, in accordance with this law, will file periodic reports, proxy statements and other information with 
the SEC. These periodic reports, proxy statements and other information will be available at the website of 
the SEC referred to above. We also maintain a website at www.thoughtworks.com. You may access these 
materials free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished 
to, the SEC. Our website also provides access to reports filed by our directors, executive officers and certain 
significant shareholders pursuant to Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition, our Code of Conduct, Code 
of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and charters for the committees of our Board of Directors (the "Board") 
are available on our website as well as other shareholder communications.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition, cash flows, and operating results can be affected by a number of factors, 
whether currently known or unknown, any one or more of which could, directly or indirectly, cause our actual 
financial condition and operating results to vary materially from past, or from anticipated future, financial 
condition and operating results. Any of these factors, in whole or in part, could materially and adversely affect 
our business, financial condition, operating results and stock price. Before making a decision to invest in our 
common stock, you should carefully consider all of the risks and uncertainties.  

Risks Related to COVID-19

Our results of operations have been adversely affected and could in the future be materially adversely 
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic has created widespread economic disruption and uncertainty, including as it relates 
to our operations, our people’s ability to work and demand for our services and solutions. For example, the 
majority of the COVID-19 impact on our business was seen in the second quarter of 2020, following a 
slowdown in our new business pipeline along with one-time pauses and select cancellations in projects as 
certain clients were addressing the initial challenges of the pandemic. The initial impact of COVID in early 
2020 negatively impacted our revenues, however, we returned to pre-COVID revenue growth by the fourth 
quarter of 2020 and continued to have positive revenue growth trends in 2021.
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The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will further impact our business, operations and financial results 
will depend on numerous factors that are frequently changing or unknown, and that we may not be able to 
accurately predict, including: the duration and scope of the pandemic, including the development of new and 
unique variants of COVID-19; governmental, business and individuals’ responses or planned responses to the 
pandemic, including availability, adoption, efficacy and administration rates of vaccines (or any potential 
vaccine mandates and societal response thereto); the impact of the pandemic on economic activity and any 
interventions or government relief or stimulus intended to mitigate decreased economic activity; the effect on 
our clients and client demand for our services and solutions; our ability to sell and provide our services and 
solutions, including as a result of travel restrictions and social distancing; our ability to acquire new clients or 
deepen relationships with our existing clients due to budgetary constraints or changes in business strategy at 
our clients as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic; the ability of our clients to pay in a timely manner, if at all, 
for our services and solutions with or without discounts requested by our clients; bankruptcy or other 
insolvency procedures among our clients; and closures of our and our clients’ offices and facilities.

Certain clients, such as those in the hospitality and travel industries, have experienced broad disruptions in 
their businesses, which have disrupted, and continue to disrupt, the demand for our services and solutions. 
Among other things, we have experienced, and could continue to experience, reductions in work orders, 
delays or interruptions in the performance of contracts, losses of revenues and an increase in bad debt 
expense. However, certain clients have increased their work orders as those clients have accelerated or 
initiated digital transformation projects as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We cannot be certain that any 
increased levels of demands for our services will be sustained.

We have also experienced higher than normal employee absentee rates due to illness, family medical leave 
and bereavement leave. For example, we have seen more of our employees unable to work during a more 
localized surge of COVID-19 cases. Such a surge, if sufficiently widespread, could materially impact our 
operations. In addition, government policies, such as China’s Zero-COVID policy, may result in periodic lock-
downs, border closures, supply chain disruptions and employee absenteeism, which could have an impact on 
our business directly or may affect our clients and their engagement with us. An overall or prolonged labor 
shortage, lack of skilled labor, increased turnover or labor inflation could have a material adverse impact on 
our operations, results of operations, liquidity or cash flows.

Further, travel and immigration restrictions may delay or prevent our people from accessing worksites. Even 
as employees return to our worksites, we may be prevented from conducting business activities at full 
capacity for an indefinite period of time. Moreover, there may be additional costs that we will have to incur in 
connection with further changes to, or a return to, normal operating conditions. Further, maintaining a hybrid 
remote/in-office workforce may exacerbate talent management issues and result in issues relating to the 
onboarding of new employees remotely, dilution of our culture, mismanagement of current employees by 
failing to identify high performers or misallocation of resources for projects, and may create increased risk of 
cyber incidents. Alternatively, we potentially risk losing some employees if we cannot offer hybrid or remote 
working arrangements. We may experience additional absenteeism in the future as travel restrictions are 
reduced and employees feel more comfortable traveling. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely 
affects our business and financial results, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks 
described in this section of this Annual Report.

Risks Related to Our People and Growth

We may be unable to implement our growth strategy.

We have grown rapidly and significantly expanded our business over the past several years. Our growth has 
resulted in part from developing innovative solutions at the forefront of emerging technologies for our clients. 
However, this requires that we invest substantial amounts of cash in human capital and the infrastructure to 
support our growth, including training, administration and facilities. Our growth strategy places significant 
demands on our management and our administrative, operational and financial infrastructure, and our growth 
strategy creates challenges, including:

• recruiting, training and retaining sufficiently skilled professionals and management personnel;
• planning our staffing needs on a consistent basis and efficiently using on-site and off-site staffing;
• maintaining close and effective relationships with a larger number of clients in a greater number of 

industries and locations;
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• controlling costs and minimizing cost overruns and project delays in delivery center and infrastructure 
expansion;

• effectively maintaining productivity levels and implementing process improvements across geographies 
and business units; and

• improving our internal administrative, operational and financial infrastructure.

We intend to continue our expansion and pursue available opportunities for the foreseeable future. As we 
introduce new services, enter into new markets, integrate corporate acquisitions, and take on increasingly 
innovative projects, often implementing or introducing new technologies to our clients, our business may face 
new risks and challenges. If our clients do not choose us for innovative projects or we do not effectively 
manage those projects, our reputation, business and financial goals may be damaged. We need to generate 
business and revenues to support new investments and infrastructure projects. The challenges associated 
with expansion could negatively impact our anticipated growth and margins. As a result, our business, 
prospects, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Our ability to generate and retain business depends on our reputation in the marketplace.

Our services are marketed to clients and prospective clients based on a number of factors, including 
reputation. Our corporate reputation is a significant factor in our potential clients’ evaluation of whether to 
engage our services. Our clients’ perception of our ability to add value through our services is critical to the 
profitability of our engagements. We believe that the Thoughtworks brand name and our reputation are 
important corporate assets that help distinguish our services from those of our competitors and contribute to 
our efforts to recruit and retain talented employees.

Our corporate reputation is potentially susceptible to damage by actions or statements made by current or 
former clients and employees, competitors, vendors, adversaries in legal proceedings, government 
regulators, as well as members of the investment community and the media. We and our officers and 
directors are and may from time to time be subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business or 
otherwise, which could adversely affect our reputation even if we or they ultimately prevail. There is a risk 
that negative information about us, even if untrue, could adversely affect our business, could cause damage 
to our reputation and be challenging to repair, could make potential or existing clients reluctant to select us 
for new engagements, could lead to a loss of revenue or litigation, and could adversely affect our recruitment 
and retention efforts. Damage to our reputation could also reduce the value and effectiveness of the 
Thoughtworks brand name and could reduce investor confidence in us.

We must successfully attract, hire, train and retain qualified professionals to service our clients’ projects 
and we must productively deploy our professionals to remain profitable.

Identifying, recruiting, hiring and retaining professionals with specialized and diverse skill sets across our 
broad geography of operations and consistent with our evolving client delivery model is critical to maintaining 
existing engagements and obtaining new business. If we are unable to recruit skilled professionals and if we 
do not deploy those professionals productively, our profitability will be significantly impacted. We must 
manage our professionals well and by planning and training for future needs effectively and staffing projects 
appropriately while accurately predicting the general economy and our clients’ need for our services. 
Increased hiring by technology companies, and increasing worldwide competition for skilled technology 
professionals may lead to a shortage in the availability of skilled professionals in the locations where we 
operate and hire. If we are unable to attract, hire, train and retain highly skilled professionals and productively 
deploy them on client projects, we will jeopardize our ability to meet our clients’ expectations and develop 
ongoing and future business, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Competition for highly skilled professionals is intense in the markets where we operate, and we may 
experience significant employee turnover rates due to such competition. If we are unable to retain 
professionals with specialized skills, our revenues, operating efficiency and profitability will decrease. Cost 
reductions, such as reducing headcount, or voluntary departures that result from our failure to retain the 
professionals we hire, could negatively affect our reputation as an employer and our ability to hire skilled 
professionals to meet our business requirements in the future. Inability to attract or retain professionals with 
specialized skill sets may disrupt our ability to provide certain client services and impact our reputation for 
innovation on our industry. Increased compensation to retain skilled professionals could lead to lower margins 
or to price increases that may in turn lead to a decline in demand for our services.
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Any significant growth in the market for our services or solutions or our entry into new markets may require 
an expansion of our employee base for managerial, operational, financial and other purposes. During any 
period of growth, we may face problems related to our operational and financial systems and controls, 
including quality control and delivery and service capacities. We would also need to continue to expand, train 
and manage our employee base. Continued future growth will impose significant added responsibilities upon 
the members of management to identify, recruit, maintain, integrate and motivate new employees.

Increases in wages, equity compensation and other compensation expenses could prevent us from 
sustaining our competitive advantage and increase our costs.

In all countries in which we operate, wage inflation, whether driven by competition for talent, macroeconomic 
pressures, or ordinary course pay increases, may also increase our cost of providing services and reduce our 
profitability if we are not able to pass those costs on to our clients or charge premium prices when justified by 
market demand. If we do not keep up with wage inflation in the markets in which we operate, we could 
reduce our ability to attract and retain talent. As a corollary, if we increase operations and hiring to a 
significant degree in developed countries above the hiring rate in emerging countries, our compensation 
expenses may increase at a faster rate because of the higher wages for technology professionals in those 
developed markets. In addition, if we are unable to maintain our premium pricing model, we may see reduced 
profitability or be unable to pay wages consistent with market practices, which may result in higher attrition.

If we cannot positively evolve our Thoughtworks culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, 
teamwork, passion and execution that we believe contribute to our success, and our business may be 
harmed.

We believe a critical component to our success has been our corporate culture. We have invested substantial 
time and resources in building our team and developing our leaders. Our culture has evolved over time, 
including in ways that may be unforeseeable or unfavorable to us. As we develop the infrastructure of a 
public company, our operations may need to change to support that infrastructure. In particular, we are 
committed to a business culture that promotes intentional sharing of business information and decision-
making processes so that our team members are engaged and invested in our mission and operational 
success. Due to certain operational changes needed to become a public company, we may find it difficult to 
maintain important aspects of our corporate culture. Further, we may have difficulties maintaining our culture 
in an environment where employees are working remotely. 

If we fail to integrate or manage acquired companies successfully, or if acquisitions do not perform to our 
expectations, our overall profitability, our culture and growth plans could be materially adversely affected.

As part of our growth strategy, we expect to acquire businesses that we believe are a strategic fit with ours, 
both culturally and operationally, to augment our organic growth or to keep us at the forefront of emerging 
technologies. However, we may not be able to find acquisition targets that meet our criteria, and there may 
be intense competition for acquisition targets that are attractive to us. In addition, we do not have extensive 
experience integrating and managing acquired businesses or assets. Such acquired businesses or assets may 
not advance our business strategy or achieve a satisfactory return on our investment; we may not be able to 
successfully integrate acquired employees into our culture, client relationships or operations; and acquisitions 
divert significant management attention and financial resources from our ongoing business. Historical 
practices, policies and controls of acquired companies may present reputation and business risks to us. 
Furthermore, contracts between our acquisition targets and their clients may lack terms and conditions that 
adequately protect us against the risks associated with the services we provide, which may increase our 
potential exposure to damages. If not effectively managed, the disruption of our ongoing business, increases 
in our expenses (including significant one-time expenses and write-offs) and the difficulty and complexity of 
effectively integrating acquired operations may adversely affect our overall growth and profitability.

Risks Related to Our Global Operations

Our global business exposes us to operational, geopolitical, regulatory, legal and economic risks.

Our operations and our clients are located throughout the world, and a significant part of our revenue comes 
from international sales. The global nature of our business creates operational and economic risks. Our results 
of operations may be affected by global, regional, and local economic developments, monetary policy, 
inflation, and recession, as well as political, trade and military disputes. War, terrorism, riot, civil insurrection 
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or social unrest; and natural or man-made disasters, including famine, flood, fire, earthquake, pandemics and 
other regional or global health crises, storm or disease may cause difficulties in staffing and managing foreign 
operations, cause clients to delay their decisions on spending for the services we provide, give rise to sudden 
significant changes in regional and global economic conditions and cycles and may create unanticipated 
challenges for our growth strategy. Further escalation or expansion of the war between Russia and Ukraine 
could impact our European business operations including disrupting our client service delivery and negatively 
impacting the demand for our services. Emerging nationalist trends in specific countries may significantly 
alter the trade environment. Changes to trade policy or agreements as a result of populism, protectionism, or 
economic nationalism may result in higher tariffs, local sourcing initiatives, or other developments that make it 
more difficult to sell our services and solutions internationally. Travel restrictions resulting from natural or 
man-made disruptions and political or social conflict increase the difficulty of obtaining and retaining highly-
skilled and qualified professionals and could unexpectedly increase our labor costs and expenses, both of 
which could also adversely affect our ability to serve our clients.

Operational, geopolitical and economic events may pose significant security risks to our employees, the 
facilities where they work, our operations, electricity and other utilities, communications, travel and network 
services, and the disruption of any or all of them could materially adversely affect our financial results. Our 
crisis management procedures, business continuity plans and disaster recovery capabilities may not be 
effective at preventing or mitigating the effects of a disaster. 

Certain legal systems or policy decisions may make it more difficult to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce 
intellectual property, contractual or corporate rights. Disruptions of these kinds in developed or emerging 
markets could negatively impact demand for our services and solutions or increase our operating costs.

We have significant operations in China. While we believe that our unique position in the Chinese market 
presents long-term opportunities, doing business in China has increased risks given the uncertainties around 
domestic legislation, foreign policy, trade policy and international relations. Our reliance on our employees in 
China to help deliver our services to clients world-wide presents the risk that clients may refuse to accept, or 
may be prohibited from accepting, services originating from China. Furthermore, we face the risk that our 
business operations in China will be impacted by government regulations and/or foreign sanctions. Escalation 
of current  geopolitical tensions may implicate China and could increase the risk of government regulations 
and/or foreign sanctions. In addition, our information technology systems may be at risk of being blocked 
from our world-wide operations. Ongoing human rights concerns in China may result in boycotts of our 
services or client requests not to use Chinese operations to support their projects. 

Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by fluctuations in 
foreign currency exchange rates.

Our functional currency is the U.S. dollar. However, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange 
transactions related to our non-U.S. operations. Our profit margins are subject to volatility as a result of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. Any significant fluctuations in currency exchange rates may have a 
material impact on our business and results of operations. In some countries, we may be subject to regulatory 
or practical restrictions on the movement of cash and the exchange of foreign currencies, which would limit 
our ability to use cash across our global operations and increase our exposure to currency fluctuations. This 
risk could increase as we continue expanding our global operations, which may include entering emerging 
markets that may be more likely to impose these types of restrictions. Currency exchange volatility caused by 
political or economic instability or other factors could also materially impact our results. See “Item 7A. 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Quantitative and 
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk—Foreign Currency Risk.”

Our effective tax rate could be materially adversely affected by several factors.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in multiple jurisdictions. Our effective tax rate could 
be materially adversely affected by several factors, including changes in the amount of income taxed by or 
allocated to the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have differing statutory tax rates; changing tax 
laws, regulations and interpretations of such tax laws in one or more jurisdictions; and the resolution of issues 
arising from tax audits or examinations and any related interest or penalties. The determination of our income 
tax expense and other tax liabilities requires estimation, judgment and calculations where the ultimate tax 
determination may not be certain. Our determination of tax liability is always subject to review or examination 
by authorities in various jurisdictions. If a tax authority in any jurisdiction reviews any of our tax returns and 
proposes an adjustment, including, but not limited to, a determination that the transfer prices and terms we 
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have applied are not appropriate, such an adjustment could have a negative impact on our results of 
operations, business and profitability. In addition, any significant changes to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“U.S. 
Tax Act”) enacted in 2017, or to regulatory guidance associated with the U.S. Tax Act, could materially 
adversely affect our effective tax rate.

Risks Related to Our Industry

If we are unable to adapt to rapidly changing technologies, methodologies and evolving industry 
standards, we may lose clients and our business could be materially adversely affected.

Rapidly changing technologies, methodologies and evolving industry standards are inherent in the market for 
our services and solutions. Our ability to anticipate developments in our industry, enhance our existing 
services, develop and introduce new services or tools, provide enhancements and new features for our 
solutions and tools, and keep pace with changes and developments are critical to meeting changing client 
needs. Our ability to keep pace with, anticipate or respond to changes and developments is subject to a 
number of risks, including that:

• we may not be able to develop new, or update existing, services, applications, tools and software 
quickly or inexpensively enough to meet our clients’ needs;

• we may find it difficult or costly to make existing software and tools work effectively and securely over 
the internet or with new or changed operating systems;

• we may find that operating in a rapidly evolving industry, it is difficult to evaluate future prospective 
clients;

• we may find it challenging to develop new, or update existing, software, services and tools to keep pace 
with evolving industry standards, methodologies and regulatory developments in the industries where 
our clients operate at a pace and cost that is acceptable to our clients;

• we may find that the services, tools, technologies or methodologies we develop or implement may not 
be successful in the marketplace; and

• we may find it difficult to maintain high quality levels of performance with new technologies and 
methodologies.

Further, services, tools, technologies or methodologies that our competitors develop may render our services 
or tools non-competitive or obsolete. Our failure to enhance our existing services and tools and to develop 
and introduce new services and tools to promptly address the needs of our clients could have a material 
adverse effect on our business.

We face intense competition from a range of technology and software services providers, and an increase 
in competition or our inability to compete successfully could materially adversely affect our business.

The market for technology services and solutions is intensely competitive, highly fragmented and subject to 
rapid change and evolving industry standards and we expect competition to intensify. Our success depends 
on creating software services and solutions that deeply connect our clients with consumers and employees. 
For example, if we are unable to anticipate technology developments, enhance our existing services or 
develop and introduce new services to keep pace with such changes and meet changing client needs, we 
may lose clients and our revenues and results of operations could suffer. Our results of operations would also 
suffer if our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our clients, are not appropriately timed with 
market opportunities, are not effectively brought to market or are commoditized. Our competitors may be 
able to offer engineering, design and innovation services that are, or that are perceived to be, substantially 
similar or better than those we offer, or they may offer such services at a discounted rate. In addition, our 
competitors may have greater financial, technical and other resources and greater name recognition than we 
do. Certain competitors may also have, or over time will have, a stronger presence in certain geographic 
markets. We may also face competition from in-house development by our clients, academic and government 
institutions, and the open-source community who may offer similar solutions or an adequate substitute for our 
services and solutions. These factors may force us to compete on other fronts in addition to the quality of our 
services and to expend significant resources in order to remain competitive, which we may be unable to do.
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Risks Related to Our Client Relationships

We are dependent on our existing client base and our ability to retain and expand our relationships with 
such clients.

Historically, a significant percentage of our revenues has come from our existing client base. For example, 
during the fiscal year ended December  31, 2021, 86.5% of our revenues came from recurring clients (as 
defined elsewhere in this Annual Report). However, the volume of work performed for a specific client is likely 
to vary from year to year, especially since we generally do not have long-term commitments from our clients 
and are often not our clients’ exclusive technology services provider. A client in one year may not provide the 
same level of revenue for us in any subsequent year. Further, one or more of our significant clients could be 
acquired, and there can be no assurance that the acquirer would choose to use our services in respect of 
such clients to the same degree as previously, if at all. In particular, some of our clients are owned by private 
equity firms and are therefore inherently more likely to be sold at some point in the future.

In addition, the services we provide to our clients, and the revenues and income from those services, may 
decline or vary as the type and quantity of services we provide changes over time. In addition, our reliance on 
any individual client for a significant portion of our revenues may give that client a certain degree of pricing 
leverage against us when negotiating contracts and terms of service.

Our business model depends on relationships our teams develop with our clients so that we can understand 
our clients’ needs and deliver solutions and services that are tailored to those needs. If a client is not satisfied 
with the quality of work performed by us, or with the type of services or solutions delivered, we could incur 
additional costs to address the situation, the profitability of that work might be impaired, and the client’s 
dissatisfaction with our services could damage our ability to obtain additional work from that client. In 
particular, clients that are not satisfied might seek to terminate existing contracts, which could mean that we 
could incur costs for the services performed with no associated revenue. This could also direct future 
business to our competitors.

We generally do not have long-term commitments from our clients, our clients may terminate contracts 
before completion or choose not to renew contracts, and we are not guaranteed payment for services 
performed under contract. A loss of business, non-payment or a decrease in the scope of business from 
significant clients could materially affect our results of operations.

We are generally not our clients’ exclusive IT services provider and we generally do not have long-term 
commitments from clients to purchase our services. Our clients’ ability to terminate engagements with or 
without cause and our clients’ inability or unwillingness to pay for services we performed makes our future 
revenues and profitability uncertain. Although a substantial majority of our revenues are typically generated 
from clients who also contributed to our revenues during the prior year, our engagements with our clients are 
typically for projects that are singular in nature. Therefore, we must seek to obtain new engagements when 
our current engagements end.

There are a number of factors relating to our clients that are outside of our control, which might lead them to 
terminate or decline to renew a contract or project with us, or be unable to pay us, including:

• financial difficulties;
• corporate restructuring, or mergers and acquisitions activity;
• our inability to complete our contractual commitments and bill and collect our contracted revenues;
• change in strategic or operational priorities or economic conditions, resulting in elimination of the project 

or a reduced level of technology-related spending;
• change in outsourcing strategy resulting in moving more work to the client’s in-house technology 

departments or to our competitors;
• replacement of existing software with packaged software supported by licensors; and
• uncertainty and disruption to the global markets including due to public health pandemics, such as the 

ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

Termination or non-renewal of a client contract could cause us to experience a higher-than-expected number 
of unassigned employees and thus compress our margins until we are able to reallocate our headcount. 
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Clients that delay payment, request modifications to their payment arrangements, or fail to meet their 
payment obligations to us could increase our cash collection time, cause us to incur bad debt expense, or 
cause us to incur expenses in collections actions. The loss of clients, a significant decrease in the volume of 
work our clients outsource to us or the price they are willing or able to pay us, if not replaced by new service 
engagements and revenue, could materially adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.

We face risks associated with having a long selling and implementation cycle for our services that require 
us to make significant resource commitments prior to realizing revenues for those services.

We have experienced, and may in the future experience, a long selling cycle for our services. Our sales cycle 
is defined as the elapsed time between the date of opening a qualified client opportunity and to the date the 
opportunity is closed with an agreement to provide services to the client, and is on average 71 days. Before 
potential clients commit to use our services, they require us to expend substantial time and resources 
educating them on the value of our services and our ability to meet their requirements. Therefore, our selling 
cycle is subject to many risks and delays over which we have little or no control, including our clients’ decision 
to select another service provider or in-house resources to perform the services, the timing of our clients’ 
budget cycles, and client procurement and approval processes. If our sales cycle unexpectedly lengthens for 
one or more large projects, it could negatively affect the timing of our revenues and our revenue growth. In 
certain cases, we may begin work and incur costs prior to executing a contract, which may cause fluctuations 
in recognizing revenues between periods or jeopardize our ability to collect payment from clients.

Implementing our services also involves a significant commitment of resources over an extended period of 
time from both our clients and us. Our current and future clients may not be willing or able to invest the time 
and resources necessary to implement our services, and we may fail to close sales with potential clients 
despite devoting significant time and resources to them. Any significant failure to generate revenues or 
delays in recognizing revenues after incurring costs related to our sales or services processes could have a 
material adverse effect on our business.

Our cash flows and results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to collect on billed 
and unbilled receivables from clients.

Our business depends on our ability to successfully obtain payment from our clients of the amounts they owe 
us for work performed. We maintain provisions against receivables. Actual losses on client balances could 
differ from those that we currently anticipate and, as a result, we may need to adjust our provisions. We may 
not accurately assess the creditworthiness of our clients. Macroeconomic conditions, such as a potential 
credit crisis in the global financial system, could also result in financial difficulties for our clients, including 
limited access to the credit markets, insolvency or bankruptcy. Such conditions could cause clients to delay 
payment, request modifications of their payment terms, or default on their payment obligations to us, all of 
which could increase our receivables balance. Timely collection of fees for client services also depends on 
our ability to complete our contractual commitments and subsequently bill for and collect our contractual 
service fees. If we are unable to meet our contractual obligations, we might experience delays in the 
collection of or be unable to collect our client balances, which would adversely affect our results of 
operations and could adversely affect our cash flows. In addition, if we experience an increase in the time 
required to bill and collect for our services, our cash flows could be adversely affected, which in turn could 
adversely affect our ability to make necessary investments and, therefore, our results of operations.

If our pricing structures are based on inaccurate expectations and assumptions regarding the cost of 
performing our work, or if we are not able to maintain favorable pricing for our services, then our contracts 
could be unprofitable.

We face a number of risks when pricing our contracts and setting terms with our clients. Our pricing is highly 
dependent on our internal forecasts, assumptions and predictions about our projects, the marketplace, global 
economic conditions (including foreign exchange volatility) and the coordination of operations and our people 
in multiple locations with different skill sets and competencies. If our pricing for a project includes dedicated 
professionals or facilities and the client were to slow or stop that project, we may not be able to reallocate 
resources to other clients. Our pricing and cost estimates for the work that we perform may include 
anticipated long-term cost savings that we expect to achieve and sustain over the life of the contract. 
Because of such inherent uncertainties, we may underprice our services, fail to accurately estimate the costs 
of performing the work, or fail to accurately assess the risks associated with potential contracts, such as 
defined performance goals, service levels and completion schedules. The risk of underpricing our services or 
underestimating the costs of performing the work is heightened in fixed-price contracts and other similar 

Table of Contents

23



commercial contracting arrangements, which may become a larger portion of our revenues if our pricing 
structures change. If we fail to accurately estimate the resources, time or quality levels required to complete 
such engagements, or if the cost to us of employees, facilities, or technology unexpectedly increases, we 
could be exposed to cost overruns. Any increased or unexpected costs, delays or failures to achieve 
anticipated cost savings, or unexpected risks we encounter in connection with the performance of the 
services, including those caused by factors outside our control, could make these contracts less profitable or 
unprofitable. In addition, our industry is sensitive to the economic environment and the industry tends to 
decline during general economic downturns.

Risks Related to Our Services and Solutions

If we cause disruptions to our clients’ businesses, provide inadequate service, or breach contractual 
obligations, our clients may have claims for substantial damages against us and our reputation may be 
damaged. Our insurance coverage may be inadequate to protect us against such claims.

If our professionals make errors in the course of delivering services or we fail to meet contractual obligations 
to a client, these errors or failures could disrupt the client’s business or expose confidential or personally 
identifiable information. Any of these events could result in a reduction in our revenues, damage to our 
reputation, and could also result in a client terminating our engagement and making claims for substantial 
damages against us. Some of our client agreements do not limit our potential liability for occurrences such as 
breaches of confidentiality and indemnification relating to intellectual property infringement, misappropriation 
or other violations, and we cannot generally limit liability to third parties with which we do not have a 
contractual relationship. In some cases, breaches of confidentiality obligations, including obligations to 
protect personally identifiable information, may entitle the aggrieved party to equitable remedies, including 
injunctive relief.

Although we maintain professional liability insurance, product liability insurance, commercial general and 
property insurance, business interruption insurance, workers’ compensation coverage, cyber insurance and 
umbrella insurance for certain of our operations, our insurance coverage does not insure against all risks in 
our operations or all claims we may receive. Damage claims from clients or third parties brought against us or 
claims that we initiate due to the disruption of our business, litigation or natural disasters, may not be covered 
by our insurance, may exceed the limits of our insurance coverage, and may result in substantial costs and 
diversion of resources even if insured. Some types of insurance are not available on reasonable terms or at all 
in some countries in which we operate, and we cannot insure against damage to our reputation. The assertion 
of one or more large claims against us, whether or not successful and whether or not insured, could materially 
adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Security breaches, cyber-attacks, employee and other internal misconduct, computer viruses, the 
mishandling of personal data and other disruptions to network security could compromise our information 
and expose us to liability, which would cause our business and reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of business, we collect, use, store, process, transmit and view sensitive or confidential 
data, including intellectual property, proprietary business information or personally identifiable information 
belonging to us, our clients, respective employees and other end users. This information is stored on our 
networks or in the data centers and networks of third-party providers. Physical security and the secure 
processing, maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations and business 
strategy. Some of our clients have sought, and may continue to seek, additional assurances for the protection 
of their sensitive information, including personally identifiable information, and attach greater liability in the 
event that their sensitive information is disclosed.

Despite security measures, information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by 
hackers, computer malware, viruses, social engineering (including phishing and ransomware attacks), or 
breached due to software bugs, human error, employee theft, misuse, misconduct or malfeasance, system 
failure or other disruptions. Any such breach could compromise our networks, or the networks of our third-
party providers, and the information stored there could be accessed, held for ransom, publicly disclosed, 
misappropriated, lost or stolen. Some of our systems will not be fully redundant and any problems at our 
third-party providers’ data centers could result in lengthy interruptions in service. Such a breach, 
misappropriation or disruption could also disrupt our operations and the services we provide to clients, 
damage our reputation, and cause a loss of confidence in our tools and services, as well as require us to 
expend significant resources to protect against further breaches and to rectify problems caused by these 
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events. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, 
liability under applicable laws, and regulatory penalties and could adversely affect our business, revenues and 
competitive position.

The techniques utilized and planned by hackers, bad actors, and other unauthorized entrants are varied and 
constantly evolving and may not be detected until a breach has occurred. As a result, despite our efforts, it 
may be difficult or impossible for us to implement measures that fully prevent such attacks or react in a timely 
manner. Unauthorized parties may in the future attempt to gain access to our systems or facilities through 
various means, including, among others, hacking into our or our clients’ systems or facilities, or attempting to 
fraudulently induce our employees, clients or others into disclosing usernames, passwords, or other sensitive 
information, which may, in turn, be used to access our information technology systems and gain access to our 
data or other confidential, proprietary, or sensitive information. Such efforts may be state-sponsored and 
supported by significant financial and technological resources, making them even more difficult to detect and 
prevent. There can be no assurance that any security or other operational measures that we or our third-
party providers have implemented will be effective against any of the foregoing threats or issues.

In addition, certain of our third-party providers may also be subject to such attempts, which then can be used 
to attempt to infiltrate our systems or to access our data or other confidential, proprietary, or sensitive 
information. Because we do not control our third-party service providers or the processing of data by such 
providers, other than through our contractual relationships, our ability to monitor our third-party providers’ 
data security may be very limited such that we cannot ensure the integrity or security of measures they take 
to protect and prevent the loss of our or our clients’ data. As a result, we are subject to the risk that cyber-
attacks on, or other security incidents affecting, our third-party providers may adversely affect our business 
even if an attack or breach does not directly impact our systems. It is also possible that security breaches 
sustained by, or other security incidents affecting, our competitors could result in negative publicity for our 
entire industry that indirectly harms our reputation and diminishes demand for our services and solutions.

Furthermore, federal and state regulators and many federal and state laws and regulations require notice of 
certain data security breaches that involve personal information, which, if applicable, could lead to 
widespread negative publicity, which may cause our clients to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our 
data security measures. In addition, we may incur significant costs and operational consequences in 
connection with investigating, mitigating, remediating, eliminating, and putting in place additional measures 
designed to prevent future actual or perceived security incidents, as well as in connection with complying 
with any notification or other obligations resulting from any security incidents.

Our insurance policies may not be adequate to reimburse us for losses caused by security breaches, and we 
may not be able to collect fully, if at all, under these insurance policies. The successful assertion of one or 
more large claims against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our 
insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance 
requirements, could adversely affect our business. Furthermore, we cannot be certain that insurance 
coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or at all, or that the insurer will not deny coverage 
as to any future claim.

If we are unable to fully protect the security and privacy of our data, or if we or our third-party service 
providers are unable to prevent any data security breach, incident, unauthorized access, and/or misuse of our 
information by our clients, employees, service providers, or hackers, it could result in significant liability 
(including litigation and regulatory actions and fines), cause lasting harm to our brand and reputation and 
cause us to lose existing clients and fail to win new clients.

A significant failure in our systems, telecommunications or IT infrastructure could harm our service model, 
which could result in a reduction of our revenues and otherwise disrupt our business.

Our service model relies on maintaining well-functioning voice and data communications, online resource 
management, financial and operational record management, client service and data processing systems 
between our client sites and our client management locations. Our business activities may be materially 
disrupted in the event of a partial or complete failure of any of these technologies, which could be due to 
software malfunction, computer virus attacks, conversion errors due to system upgrades, damage from fire, 
earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failure, unauthorized entry, demands placed on internet 
infrastructure by growing numbers of users and time spent online, increased bandwidth requirements or other 
events beyond our control. Such events could result in interruptions in service to our clients, damage to our 
reputation, harm to our client relationships, and reduced revenues and profitability. Further, because we rely 
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on third-party service providers, we may be affected by security incidents that we can neither control nor 
mitigate, including their vulnerability to damage or interruption from physical theft, fire, natural disasters, acts 
of terrorism, power loss, war, telecommunications and other service failures, computer viruses, degradation 
of service attacks, ransomware, insider theft or misuse, break-ins, software bugs, human error, technical 
malfunctions and similar events.

Our crisis management procedures, business continuity plans and disaster recovery capabilities may not be 
effective at preventing or mitigating the effects of such disruptions, particularly in the case of a catastrophic 
event. Loss of all or part of the infrastructure or systems for a period of time could hinder our performance or 
our ability to complete client projects on time which, in turn, could lead to a reduction of our revenues or 
otherwise materially adversely affect our business and business reputation.

Risks Related to Regulation, Legislation and Legal Proceedings

Changes in privacy and data protection regulations could expose us to risks of noncompliance and costs 
associated with compliance.

We are subject to federal, state and international data privacy and data security regimes due to our global 
business. For example, among others, we are subject to the European Union’s General Data Protection 
Regulation (the “GDPR”), California’s Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”), China’s PRC Cybersecurity Law and 
Brazil’s General Protection Data Law. Each regulatory regime imposes significant restrictions and 
requirements relating to the processing of personal data. These and other national and international data 
protection laws are more burdensome than historical privacy standards. Each regime has established 
complex legal obligations that organizations must follow with respect to the processing of personal data, 
including a limitation on the transfer of personal information to third parties or to other countries, and the 
imposition of additional notification, security and other control measures. Compliance with such regimes, 
including U.S. and foreign data protection laws and regulations, could require us to take on more onerous 
obligations in our contracts, restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our 
ability to operate.

In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including state data breach notification 
laws and state consumer protection laws, which govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of 
personal information could apply to our operations. Many state legislatures have adopted legislation that 
regulates how businesses operate online, including measures relating to privacy, data security and data 
breaches. Laws in all 50 states require businesses to provide notice to clients whose personally identifiable 
information has been disclosed as a result of a data breach. The laws are not consistent, and compliance in 
the event of a widespread data breach is costly. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well 
as a private right of action for data breaches. Additionally, a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act 
(the “CPRA”), was approved by California voters in the November 2020 election. The CPRA, which will take 
effect in most material respects in January 2023, modifies the CCPA significantly, potentially resulting in 
further uncertainty and requiring us to incur additional costs and expenses in an effort to comply.

Foreign data protection laws, including the GDPR, may also apply to other personal information obtained 
outside of the United States. The GDPR introduced new data protection requirements in the European Union 
(the “EU”), as well as potential fines for noncompliant companies of up to the greater of €20 million or 4% of 
annual global revenue. Among other requirements, the GDPR regulates transfers of personal data subject to 
the GDPR to third countries that have not been found to provide adequate protection to such personal data, 
including the United States, and the efficacy and longevity of current transfer mechanisms between the EU 
and the United States remains uncertain. For example, in 2016, the EU and United States agreed to a transfer 
framework for data transferred from the EU to the United States, called the Privacy Shield, but the Privacy 
Shield was invalidated in July 2020 by the Court of Justice of the European Union.

Enforcement actions and decision notices taken by the European Union data protection authorities, in the 
case of GDPR, by individuals or the California regulatory authorities, in the case of the CCPA, or by other 
relevant supervisory bodies as well as audits or investigations by one or more individuals, organizations, or 
foreign government agencies could result in civil or criminal penalties and fines for non-compliance or direct 
claims against us in the event of any loss or damage as a result of a breach of these regulations. The burden 
of compliance with additional data protection requirements may result in significant additional costs, 
complexity and risk in our services. Clients may seek to shift the potential risks resulting from the 
implementation of data privacy legislation to us. We are required to establish processes and change certain 

Table of Contents

26



operations in relation to the processing of personal data as a result of these many regulatory regimes, which 
may involve substantial expense and distraction from other aspects of our business. The rate of change in the 
privacy and data protection landscape compounds these risks. Claims that we have violated individuals’ 
privacy rights, failed to comply with data protection laws or breached our contractual obligations, even if we 
are not found liable, could be expensive and time consuming to defend, could result in adverse publicity and 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We are subject to laws and regulations in the U.S. and other countries in which we operate, including 
export restrictions, economic sanctions, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) and similar anti-
corruption laws. Compliance with these laws requires significant resources and non-compliance may 
result in civil or criminal penalties and other remedial measures.

We are subject to many laws and regulations that restrict our international operations, including laws that 
prohibit activities involving restricted countries, organizations, entities and persons that have been identified 
as unlawful actors or that are subject to U.S. sanctions. The U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC, 
and other international bodies have imposed sanctions that prohibit us from engaging in trade or financial 
transactions with certain countries, businesses, organizations and individuals. We are also subject to the 
FCPA and anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws in other countries, all of which prohibit companies and their 
intermediaries from bribing government officials for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business or 
otherwise obtaining favorable treatment. We operate in many parts of the world that have experienced 
government corruption to some degree, and, in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery 
laws may conflict with local customs and practices, although adherence to local customs and practices is 
generally not a defense under U.S. and other anti-bribery laws.

Our compliance program contains controls and procedures designed to ensure our compliance with the FCPA, 
OFAC and other sanctions, and laws and regulations. The continuing implementation and ongoing 
development and monitoring of our compliance program may be time consuming, expensive, and could result 
in the discovery of compliance issues or violations by us or our employees, independent contractors, 
subcontractors or agents of which we were previously unaware.

Any violations of these or other laws, regulations and procedures by our employees or agents, including third 
parties with whom we associate or companies we acquire, could expose us to administrative, civil or criminal 
penalties, fines or business restrictions, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations and financial condition and would adversely affect our reputation and the market for shares of our 
common stock and may require certain of our investors to disclose their investment in us under certain state 
laws.

We may become subject to disputes or legal or other proceedings that could involve significant 
expenditures by us, which could have a material adverse effect on us, including our financial results.

The nature of our business exposes us to the potential for disputes or legal or other proceedings from time to 
time relating to product liability, tax matters, personal injury, labor and employment matters, contract 
disputes, intellectual property, data privacy and data security, and other issues. These disputes, individually 
or collectively, could affect our business by distracting our management from the operation of our business or 
impacting our market reputation with our clients. If these disputes develop into proceedings or judgments, 
these proceedings or judgments, individually or collectively, could involve significant expenditures and any 
reserves relating thereto may ultimately prove to be inadequate.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

Our existing indebtedness could adversely affect our business and growth prospects.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $509.6 million outstanding under our Term Loan (as defined below) and 
$165.0 million of availability under our Revolver (as defined below). We expect our total debt service 
obligation for 2022 to be approximately $25.6 million (inclusive of interest). See “Item 7. Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—
Our Credit Facilities.” Our indebtedness, and any future indebtedness we may incur, could require us to divert 
funds identified for other purposes for debt service, which could adversely affect our business and growth 
prospects.
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Our level of indebtedness may place us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors that are not as 
highly leveraged. Fluctuations in interest rates can increase borrowing costs. Increases in interest rates may 
directly impact the amount of interest we are required to pay and reduce earnings accordingly. In addition, 
developments in tax policy, such as the disallowance of tax deductions for interest paid on outstanding 
indebtedness, could have an adverse effect on our liquidity and our business, financial conditions and results 
of operations.

The Credit Agreement governing our Term Loan and Revolver contains a number of restrictive covenants that 
impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us and may limit our ability to engage in acts that 
may be in our long-term best interests, including our ability to incur additional debt, create or incur liens, 
engage in mergers or consolidations, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of assets, make voluntary 
prepayments to subordinated debt, pay dividends or distributions, make investments, and enter into certain 
transactions with affiliates. In addition, the restrictive covenants in the Credit Agreement require us to satisfy 
a financial condition test for the benefit of our Revolver in the event our Revolver usage exceeds 35% of our 
available Revolver (subject to certain exclusions for letters of credit). Our ability to satisfy those tests can be 
affected by events beyond our control.

A breach of the covenants or restrictions under the Credit Agreement could result in an event of default, 
which could permit our creditors to accelerate our debt and terminate commitments to extend credit to us. In 
addition, if we cannot generate sufficient cash flow from operations to service our debt, we may need to 
refinance our debt, dispose of assets or issue equity to obtain necessary funds, which we may not be able to 
do on favorable terms, or at all.

In addition, the Credit Agreement currently uses LIBOR as a reference rate for the Term Loan and Revolver. It 
is expected that US banks will phase LIBOR out as a benchmark for loans by mid-2023. The Credit Agreement 
allows us to continue to use LIBOR until that time with the option to switch to Secured Overnight Financing 
Rates (SOFR) prior to the LIBOR phase out. While the Credit Agreement includes LIBOR replacement 
provisions, it is impossible to predict the effect of LIBOR being phased out on our interest expense or financial 
condition generally.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we cannot protect our brand through our intellectual property rights, our business may be harmed.

We believe that developing and maintaining our brand is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our 
services and solutions and is an important element in attracting new clients and retaining existing clients. We 
rely on our brand names, trademarks, trade names and service marks to distinguish our services and solutions 
from the services of our competitors. If we are unable to adequately protect our brand, trademarks and other 
intellectual property rights, third parties may use brand names or trademarks similar to ours in a manner that 
may cause confusion or dilute our brand or trademarks, which could decrease the value of our brand. From 
time to time, third parties may challenge our use of our trademarks. If we do enforce our trademarks and our 
other intellectual property rights through litigation, we may not be successful and the litigation may result in 
substantial costs and diversion of resources and management attention. In the event that our trademarks are 
successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand the affected services and solutions, which could 
result in loss of brand recognition and could have a material adverse impact on our business.

We may not be able to prevent unauthorized use of our or our clients’ intellectual property, and our 
business and competitive position may be damaged as a result.

We rely on a combination of copyright, trademark, patent and unfair competition laws, as well as intellectual 
property assignment and confidentiality agreements and other methods to protect our intellectual property 
rights. Protection of intellectual property rights and confidentiality in some countries, including China, India 
and Brazil, in which we operate may not be as effective as in other countries with more developed intellectual 
property protections.

We require our employees and independent contractors to assign to us all intellectual property and work 
product they create in connection with their employment or engagement. These assignment agreements also 
obligate our people to keep proprietary information confidential. While it is our policy to require our employees 
and independent contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property 
to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such 
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an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives or develops intellectual property that we regard as our 
own. The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, or the assignment agreements 
may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may 
bring against us, to determine the ownership of what we regard as our intellectual property. If these 
agreements are not enforceable in any of the jurisdictions in which we operate, we cannot ensure that we will 
own the intellectual property they create or that our clients’ proprietary information will not be disclosed. 
Reverse engineering, unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our clients’ proprietary technologies, 
tools and applications could enable unauthorized parties to benefit from our clients’ technologies, tools and 
applications without payment and may make us liable to our clients for damages and compensation, which 
could harm our business and competitive position.

We may face intellectual property infringement, misappropriations or other violation claims that could be 
time-consuming and costly to defend. If we fail to defend ourselves against such claims, we may lose 
significant intellectual property rights, our reputation may be damaged, we may lose clients and our 
business could be materially adversely affected.

Our success largely depends on our ability to use and develop our technology, tools, code, methodologies, 
solutions and services for our clients without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating third parties’ 
intellectual property rights, including patents, copyrights, trade secrets and trademarks. We may be unaware 
of intellectual property rights relating to our solutions or services that could give rise to potential 
infringement, misappropriation or violation claims against us or our clients. If those intellectual property rights 
are potentially relevant to our service offerings, we may need to license those rights in order to continue to 
use the applicable technology, but the holders of those intellectual property rights may be unwilling to license 
those rights to us on commercially acceptable terms, if at all.

We typically indemnify clients who purchase our services and solutions against potential infringement of 
third-party intellectual property rights, which subjects us to the risk and cost of defending the underlying 
infringement claims. These claims may require us to initiate or defend protracted and costly litigation on 
behalf of our clients, regardless of the merits of these claims, and our indemnification obligations are often 
not subject to liability limits or exclusion of consequential, indirect or punitive damages. Intellectual property 
litigation could also divert our management’s attention from our business and existing or potential clients 
could defer or limit their purchase or use of our software product development services or solutions until we 
resolve such litigation. If any of these claims succeed, we may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our 
clients, redesign or cease offering our allegedly infringing tools, services or solutions to that client, or obtain a 
license for the intellectual property that such services or solutions allegedly infringe. If we cannot obtain all 
necessary licenses on commercially reasonable terms, the affected client may be forced to stop using our 
services or solutions.

Any of these actions, regardless of the outcome of litigation or merits of the claim, could damage our 
reputation and materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile, and the value of our common stock may decline. 

The market price of our common stock may be highly volatile and may fluctuate or decline substantially as a 
result of a variety of factors, some of which are beyond our control, including without limitation:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition or results of operations; 
• variance in our financial performance from expectations of securities analysts; 
• changes in our projected operating and financial results; 
• announcements by us or our competitors of significant business developments, acquisitions, or new 

offerings; 
• significant data breaches, disruptions to, or other incidents involving our services; 
• our involvement in litigation; 
• future sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders, including as a result of our contractual and 

other Company-imposed equity plan lock-up releases, beginning in March 2022 or the perception that 
such sales may occur; 
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• changes in senior management or key personnel; 
• the trading volume of our common stock; 
• changes in the anticipated future size and growth rate of our market; and 
• general macroeconomic, geopolitical and market conditions beyond our control. 

Broad market and industry fluctuations, as well as general economic, political, regulatory, and market 
conditions, such as recessions, interest rate changes, or international currency fluctuations, may also 
negatively impact the market price of our common stock. In addition, technology stocks have historically 
experienced high levels of volatility. In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market 
price of their securities have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this 
type of litigation in the future, which could result in substantial expenses and divert our management’s 
attention.

Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our 
equity incentive plans, or otherwise will dilute all other stockholders. 

We expect to issue additional capital stock in the future that will result in dilution to all other stockholders. We 
expect to grant equity awards to employees, directors, and consultants under our equity incentive plans. We 
may also raise capital through equity financings in the future. As part of our business strategy, we may 
acquire or make investments in companies, products, or technologies and issue equity securities to pay for 
any such acquisition or investment. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to 
experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per share value of our common stock to 
decline. 

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable or inaccurate research 
about our business, the market price and trading volume of our common stock could decline. 

The market price and trading volume of our common stock is heavily influenced by the way analysts interpret 
our financial information and other disclosures. We do not have control over these analysts. If securities 
analysts or industry analysts cease coverage of us, our stock price would be negatively affected. If securities 
or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, downgrade our common stock, or 
publish negative reports about our business, our stock price would likely decline. 

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future and, as a result, the ability of the holders of 
our common stock to achieve a return on their investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our 
common stock. 

We do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in 
the future will be at the discretion of our Board. Accordingly, holders of our common stock may need to rely 
on sales of our common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any 
future gains on their investment.

The Apax Funds control us, and their interests may conflict with ours or yours in the future.

The Apax Funds indirectly beneficially own approximately 64.8% as of March 4, 2022, of our common stock. 
As a result, the Apax Funds are able to control the election and removal of directors on the Board and thereby 
determine our corporate and management policies, including potential mergers or acquisitions, payment of 
dividends, asset sales, amendment of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, and other significant 
corporate transactions for so long as the Apax Funds and their affiliates retain significant ownership of us. 
This concentration of our ownership may delay or deter possible changes in control of the Company, which 
may reduce the value of an investment in our common stock. Even when the Apax Funds cease to own shares 
of our stock representing a majority of the total voting power, for so long as the Apax Funds continue to own 
a significant portion of our stock, the Apax Funds will still be able to significantly influence the composition of 
our Board and the approval of actions requiring shareholder approval. Accordingly, for such period of time, 
the Apax Funds will have significant influence with respect to our management, business plans and policies, 
including the appointment and removal of our officers, decisions on whether to raise future capital, and 
amending our charter and bylaws, which govern the rights attached to our common stock. In particular, for so 
long as the Apax Funds continue to beneficially own a significant percentage of our stock, the Apax Funds 
could cause or prevent a change of control of the Company or a change in the composition of our Board and 
could preclude any unsolicited acquisition of us. The concentration of ownership could deprive you of an 
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opportunity to receive a premium for your shares of common stock as part of a sale of us and ultimately might 
affect the market price of our common stock.

On September 17, 2021, we entered into a director nomination agreement (the "Director Nomination 
Agreement") with the Apax Funds through their control of Turing EquityCo. II L.P. that provides the Apax 
Funds the right, but not the obligation, to nominate a number of individuals designated for election as our 
Board at any meeting of our stockholders (the “Apax Directors”), such that, upon the election of each such 
individual, and each other individual nominated by or at the direction of our Board or a duly-authorized 
committee of the board, as a director of our company, the number of Apax Directors serving as directors of 
our company will be equal to: (i) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at 
least 50% of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number 
that is greater than 50% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; (ii) if the Apax Funds and their 
affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 40% (but less than 50%) of the total voting power of 
the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number that is at least 40% of the total 
number of directors comprising our Board; (iii) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to 
beneficially own at least 30% (but less than 40%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our 
common stock, the lowest whole number that is at least 30% of the total number of directors comprising our 
Board; (iv) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 20% (but less 
than 30%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number 
that is at least 20% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; and (v) if the Apax Funds and their 
affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 10% (but less than 20%) of the total voting power of 
the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number that is at least 10% of the total 
number of directors comprising our Board. The Apax Funds may also assign such rights to their affiliates. The 
Director Nomination Agreement also provides for certain consent rights for the Apax Funds so long as they 
own at least 50% of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Additionally, the 
Director Nomination Agreement also prohibits us from increasing or decreasing the size of our Board without 
the prior written consent of the Apax Funds for so long as the Apax Funds hold at least 40% of the total 
voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock. 

Apax Partners, the Apax Funds and their affiliates engage in a broad spectrum of activities, including 
investments in the software industry and technology industry generally. In the ordinary course of their 
business activities, Apax Partners, the Apax Funds and their affiliates may engage in activities where their 
interests conflict with our interests or those of our other shareholders, such as investing in or advising 
businesses that directly or indirectly compete with certain portions of our business or are suppliers or clients 
of ours. Our certificate of incorporation provides that none of Apax Partners, the Apax Funds, any of their 
affiliates, or any director who is not employed by us (including any non-employee director who serves as one 
of our officers in both his or her director and officer capacities) will have any duty to refrain from engaging, 
directly or indirectly, in the same business activities or similar business activities or lines of business in which 
we operate. Apax Partners and the Apax Funds also may pursue acquisition opportunities that may be 
complementary to our business, and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us. In 
addition, Apax Partners and the Apax Funds may have an interest in pursuing acquisitions, divestitures and 
other transactions that, in their judgment, could enhance their investment, even though such transactions 
might involve risks to you.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of Nasdaq rules and, as a result, we will qualify for, and 
intend to rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. You will not have the same 
protections as those afforded to stockholders of companies that are subject to such governance 
requirements.

The Apax Funds continue to indirectly control a majority of the voting power of our outstanding common 
stock. As a result, we are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the corporate governance standards 
of Nasdaq. Under these rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power for the election of 
directors is held by an individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and may elect not to 
comply with certain corporate governance requirements, including:

• the requirement that a majority of our Board consist of independent directors;
• the requirement that we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed 

entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and 
responsibilities; and
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• the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent 
directors with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities.

In the future, we may not have a majority of independent directors on our Board, our Compensation and 
Talent Committee and our Nominating and Governance Committee may not consist entirely of independent 
directors, and our Compensation and Talent and Nominating and Governance Committees may not be subject 
to annual performance evaluations. Accordingly, you will not have the same protections afforded to 
stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of other 
companies listed on Nasdaq.

We are an “emerging growth company” and we expect to elect to comply with reduced public company 
reporting requirements, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as we continue to be an 
emerging growth company, we are eligible for certain exemptions from various public company reporting 
requirements. These exemptions include, but are not limited to, (i) not being required to comply with the 
auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley, (ii) reduced disclosure obligations 
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, proxy statements and registration statements, and 
(iii) exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and 
shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved, We could be an emerging 
growth company for up to five years after the first sale of our common stock pursuant to an effective 
registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), which fifth 
anniversary will occur in 2026. However, if certain events occur prior to the end of such five-year period, 
including if we become a “large accelerated filer,” our annual gross revenues equal to or greater than $1.07 
billion, or we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt securities in any three-year period, we 
would cease to be an emerging growth company prior to the end of such five-year period. We have made 
certain elections with regard to the reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in this 
annual report and may elect to take advantage of other reduced disclosure obligations in future filings. As a 
result, the information that we provide to holders of our common stock may be different than you might 
receive from other public reporting companies in which you hold equity interests. We cannot predict if 
investors will find our common stock less attractive as a result of our reliance on these exemptions. If some 
investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any choice we make to reduce disclosure, there 
may be a less active trading market for our common stock and the market price for our common stock may be 
more volatile.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can use the extended 
transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act to delay adoption of new or revised 
accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to 
“opt-in” to this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards and, 
therefore, we will not be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies 
that comply with such new or revised accounting standards on a non-delayed basis. As a result of this 
election, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company 
effective dates.

We will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be 
required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices. We 
may fail to comply with the rules that apply to public companies, including Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, which could result in sanctions or other penalties that would harm our business.

As a public company, and particularly after we are no longer an "emerging growth company", we will incur 
significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company, including costs 
resulting from public company reporting obligations under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or the 
regulations regarding corporate governance practices. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the rules of the SEC, the listing requirements of Nasdaq, and other 
applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies, including 
establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance 
practices. These requirements will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some 
activities more time-consuming and costly. These costs are difficult to predict or estimate.

Pursuant to Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 404, we will be required to furnish a report by our management on 
our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our second filing of an Annual Report on Form 10-K 
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with the SEC after we become a public company. To achieve compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 
404 within the prescribed period, we will be engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal 
control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. There is a risk that we will not be able to 
conclude, within the prescribed timeframe or at all, that our internal control over financial reporting is 
effective as required by Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 404. If we identify one or more material weaknesses, it 
could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our 
financial statements.

Provisions of our corporate governance documents could make an acquisition of us more difficult and may 
prevent attempts by our shareholders to replace or remove our current management, even if beneficial to 
our shareholders.

In addition to the Apax Funds’ beneficial ownership of 64.8% as of March 4, 2022, of our common stock, our 
certificate of incorporation and bylaws and the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) contain 
provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so might be beneficial 
to our shareholders. Among other things:

• these provisions allow us to authorize the issuance of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which 
may be established and the shares of which may be issued without shareholder approval, and which 
may include supermajority voting, special approval, dividend or other rights or preferences superior to 
the rights of shareholders;

• these provisions provide for a classified Board with staggered three-year terms;
• these provisions provide that, at any time when the Apax Funds beneficially own, in the aggregate, less 

than 50% in voting power of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, directors 
may only be removed for cause, and only by the affirmative vote of holders of at least 662⁄3% in voting 
power of all the then-outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a 
single class;

• these provisions prohibit shareholder action by written consent from and after the date on which the 
Apax Funds beneficially own, in the aggregate, less than 50% in voting power of our stock entitled to 
vote generally in the election of directors;

• these provisions provide that, for as long as the Apax Funds beneficially own, in the aggregate, at least 
50% in voting power of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, any amendment, 
alteration, rescission or repeal of our bylaws by our shareholders will require the affirmative vote of a 
majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of our stock and at any time when the Apax Funds 
beneficially own, in the aggregate, less than 50% in voting power of all outstanding shares of our stock 
entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, any amendment, alteration, rescission or repeal of 
our bylaws by our shareholders will require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 662⁄3% in voting 
power of all the then-outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a 
single class; and

• these provisions establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our Board or for 
proposing matters that can be acted upon by shareholders at shareholder meetings.

Our certificate of incorporation contains a provision that provides us with protections similar to Section 203 of 
the DGCL and will prevent us from engaging in a business combination with a person (excluding the Apax 
Funds and any of their direct or indirect transferees and any group as to which such persons are a party) who 
acquires at least 15% of our common stock for a period of three years from the date such person acquired 
such common stock, unless board or shareholder approval is obtained prior to the acquisition. These 
provisions could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of us. These 
provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other shareholders to 
elect directors of your choosing and cause us to take other corporate actions you desire, including actions 
that you may deem advantageous, or negatively affect the trading price of our common stock. In addition, 
because our Board is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions 
could in turn affect any attempt by our shareholders to replace current members of our management team.

These and other provisions in our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could make it more 
difficult for shareholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our Board or initiate actions that are 
opposed by our then-current Board, including delay or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contest 
involving our company. The existence of these provisions could negatively affect the price of our common 
stock and limit opportunities for you to realize value in a corporate transaction. 
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Our certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the 
exclusive forum for certain litigation that may be initiated by our shareholders and the federal district 
courts of the United States as the exclusive forum for litigation arising under the Securities Act, which 
could limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative 
forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any 
derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary 
duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our shareholders, (iii) any action 
asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or 
our bylaws, or (iv) any other action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs 
doctrine; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the forum selection provision that identifies the Court of 
Chancery of the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain litigation, including any “derivative 
action,” will not apply to suits to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or 
any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Our certificate of incorporation 
provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts 
of the U.S. shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising 
under the Securities Act. However, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal 
and state courts over all suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules 
and regulations thereunder; accordingly, we cannot be certain that a court would enforce such a provision. 
Our certificate of incorporation further provides that any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring 
any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of our 
certificate of incorporation described above; however, our shareholders will not be deemed to have waived 
(and cannot waive) compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. The 
forum selection clause in our certificate of incorporation may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against 
us or our directors and officers and may limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for 
disputes with us. If the enforceability of our forum selection provision were to be challenged, we may incur 
additional costs associated with resolving such a challenge. While we currently have no basis to expect that 
any such challenge would be successful, if a court were to find our forum selection provision to be 
inapplicable or unenforceable, we may incur additional costs associated with having to litigate in other 
jurisdictions, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations 
and result in a diversion of the time and resources of our employees, management and Board.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares are restricted from immediate resale but may be sold 
into the market in the near future. This could cause the market price of our common stock to drop 
significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. 
These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, 
could reduce the market price of our common stock. We had 305,132,181 shares of common stock 
outstanding based on the number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2021. Approximately 87% of our 
outstanding shares (the "Lock-Up Shares") are subject to a 180-day lock-up period provided under lock-up 
agreements executed in connection with our initial public offering ("IPO") and restricted from immediate 
resale under the federal securities laws. This lock up period will end on March 14, 2022. In addition, we have 
agreed with the underwriters to (i) prohibit the transfer of all outstanding shares of common stock, options to 
acquire common stock and any similar securities held by our employees who are not subject to lock-up 
agreements, subject to certain exceptions, and (ii) not to modify or waive that restriction, in each for the same 
180-day period. All of the Lock-Up Shares (including shares issuable upon the exercise of options) will, 
however, be able to be resold after the expiration of the lock-up period, as well as pursuant to customary 
exceptions thereto or upon the waiver of the lock-up agreement by on behalf of the underwriters, in each 
case, subject to the additional lock-up restrictions imposed under our 2017 Stock Option Plan, if applicable to 
such securities. If registered, the Lock-Up Shares can be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, 
subject to the lock-up agreements and the additional lock-up restrictions imposed under our 2017 Stock 
Option Plan, if applicable to such shares. As restrictions on resale end, the market price of our stock could 
decline if the holders of currently-restricted Lock-Up Shares sell them or are perceived by the market as 
intending to sell them.

In addition, pursuant to a Registration Rights Agreement, certain holders of shares of our common stock, 
including the Apax Funds, have the right, in certain circumstances, to require us to register shares of our 
common stock under the Securities Act for sale into the public markets. Upon the effectiveness of such a 
registration statement, all shares covered by the registration statement will be freely transferable. 
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are leased and located at 200 E. Randolph Street, in Chicago, Illinois. We also 
lease additional office space domestically in Atlanta, Georgia; Chicago, Illinois; Dallas, Texas; Denver, 
Colorado; New York, New York; and San Francisco, California. In addition, we lease office space in various 
international locations, including offices in Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, Ecuador, Finland, Germany, 
India, Italy, Netherlands, Romania, Singapore, Spain, Thailand and the United Kingdom.

We may procure additional space as we add employees and expand geographically. We believe that our 
facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future and that suitable additional space will be 
available to accommodate any expansion of our operations as needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations and 
businesses that cover a wide range of matters, including, among others, intellectual property, data privacy 
and cybersecurity, contract and employment, personal injury, product liability and warranty. Currently, there 
are no claims or proceedings against us that we believe will have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. However, the results of any current or future litigation 
cannot be predicted with certainty and, regardless of the outcome, we may incur significant costs and 
experience a diversion of management resources as a result of litigation.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder 
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “TWKS” on 
September 15, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common stock.

Holders of Record

As of March 4, 2022, there were 66 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares of 
common stock are held in street name by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are 
unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these holders of record.

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth 
of our business and to repay indebtedness and, therefore, we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in 
the foreseeable future. Additionally, our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is limited by restrictions 
on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions to us, including as a result of the 
restrictions in our credit agreement. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our 
Board, subject to compliance with covenants in current and future agreements governing our and our 
subsidiaries’ indebtedness and requirements under Delaware law, and will depend on our results of 
operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other factors that our Board may deem relevant.

Because we are a holding company and have no direct operations, we will only be able to pay dividends from 
our available cash on hand and any funds we received from our subsidiaries.

Under Delaware law, dividends may be payable only out of surplus, which is calculated as our net assets less 
our liabilities and our capital, or, if we have no surplus, out of our net profits for the fiscal year in which the 
dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year.

See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Common Stock—We do not intend to pay dividends for the 
foreseeable future and, as a result, the ability of the holders of our common stock to achieve a return on their 
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.”

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item will be filed (and is hereby incorporated by reference) by an amendment 
hereto or pursuant to a definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A that will contain such 
information.

Stock Performance Graph 

The performance graph shall not be deemed "soliciting material" or to be "filed" with the SEC for purposes of 
Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be 
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

The following graph and related information shows a comparison of the change in the cumulative total return 
for our common stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index and the S&P 500 Information Technology Index, between 
September 15, 2021 (the date our common stock commenced trading on Nasdaq) and December 31, 2021. All 
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values assume an initial investment of $100 and reinvestment of any dividends. The comparisons are based 
on historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, the future performance of our common 
stock.

TWKS S&P IT Index Nasdaq Composite Index
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Use of Proceeds 

Our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-258985) for our IPO was declared effective by the SEC 
on September 14, 2021. On September 17, 2021, we closed our IPO pursuant to which we received net 
proceeds of $314.7 million.

As previously reported, we used $100.0 million of the net proceeds from the IPO to repay outstanding 
amounts owed under the Term Loan. We used the balance of the net proceeds from the IPO consistent with 
our intended use thereof as described in our final prospectus dated September 14, 2021 and filed with the 
SEC pursuant to 424(b) under the Securities Act, on September 16, 2021.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the year ended December 31, 2021, except as 
previously reported.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in 
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis, including information 
with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve 
risks and uncertainties. You should read the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking Statements 
and Risk Factor Summary” herein for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the 
following discussion and analysis.

A discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 
compared to the fiscal year ended December  31, 2020 is presented below. A discussion of our financial 
condition and results of operations for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2019 is included under "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations" in our prospectus for our initial public offering (the "IPO"), dated September 14, 
2021, and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on 
September 16, 2021 (the “IPO Prospectus”).

Overview

We are a global technology consultancy that integrates strategy, design and engineering to drive digital 
innovation. We are 10,600+ Thoughtworkers strong across 49 offices in 17 countries. Over the last 25+ years, 
we’ve delivered extraordinary impact together with our clients by helping them solve complex business 
problems with technology as the differentiator.

Our revenues are generated from providing professional services based on the mix and locations of delivery 
professionals involved, the pricing structure, which is predominantly time-and-materials, and the type of 
services, including: enterprise modernization, platforms & cloud; customer experience, product & design; data 
& artificial intelligence; and digital transformation & operations. 

Initial Public Offering

On September 17, 2021, we successfully completed and closed our IPO, in which 42,368,421 shares of our 
common stock were sold at $21.00 per share, including 5,526,315 shares sold upon the exercise of the 
underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares from certain of the selling stockholders. The Company 
received net proceeds of $314.7 million, net of the underwriting discounts and commissions and other 
offering expenses of approximately $30.3 million. Prior to the completion of the IPO, all shares of the 
Company's common stock then outstanding were converted into 5,259,163 shares before the Stock Split (as 
defined below) of common stock on a 1-for-1 basis, and upon the completion of the IPO, all 1,365,058 shares 
before the Stock Split of the Company’s outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock converted into 
an equivalent number of shares of common stock on a 1-for-1 basis.

Additionally, prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company effected an approximately 43.6-for-1 split of 
each outstanding share of common stock (the “Stock Split”). All share and per share information has been 
retroactively adjusted to effect the Stock Split for all periods presented, except as otherwise noted.
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Key Operational and Business Metrics

In addition to the measures presented in our consolidated financial statements, we use the following key 
operational and business metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, develop financial 
forecasts and make strategic decisions (in thousands, except percentages): 

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Revenues $ 1,069,945 $ 803,375 $ 772,191 
Revenue Growth Rate as reported (1)  33.2 %  4.0 %  19.3 %
Revenue Growth Rate at constant currency (1)  29.3 %  5.1 %  22.7 %
Net (loss) income $ (23,623) $ 79,283 $ 28,420 
Net (loss) income margin  (2.2) %  9.9 %  3.7 %
Adjusted Net Income (2) $ 125,400 $ 86,383 $ 40,507 
Adjusted EBITDA (3) $ 223,247 $ 153,193 $ 107,129 
Adjusted EBITDA Margin (3)  20.9 %  19.1 %  13.9 %

(1) Certain of our subsidiaries use functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar and the translation of these 
foreign currency amounts into the U.S. dollar can impact the comparability of our revenues between 
periods. Accordingly, we use Revenue Growth Rate at constant currency as an important indicator of our 
underlying performance. Revenue Growth Rate at constant currency is calculated by applying the 
average exchange rates in effect during the earlier comparative fiscal period to the later fiscal period.

(2) We use Adjusted Net Income as an important indicator of our performance. See “—Non-GAAP Financial 
Measures” below for a definition of and reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income to net (loss) income, the 
most directly comparable GAAP measure, how we use this measure and an explanation of why we 
consider this non-GAAP measure to be helpful for investors. 

(3) We also use Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin as important indicators of our performance. 
See “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for a definition of and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA 
to net (loss) income, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, how we use Adjusted EBITDA and 
Adjusted EBITDA Margin and an explanation of why we consider these non-GAAP measures to be helpful 
for investors. 

Revenue Growth Rate and Revenue Growth Rate at constant currency 

The initial impact of COVID-19 in early 2020 negatively impacted our revenues, however, we returned to pre-
COVID revenue growth by the fourth quarter of 2020 and continued to have positive revenue growth trends in 
2021. For the year ended December 31, 2021, we reported revenue growth of 33.2% over the prior year. Had 
our consolidated revenues been expressed in constant currency terms using the exchange rates in effect for 
the year ended December 31, 2020, we would have reported revenue growth of 29.3%. The positive impact 
to revenues, from foreign currencies, was as a result of the depreciation of the U.S. dollar relative to certain 
principal functional currencies of our subsidiaries. 

For more detail regarding our exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations, see Note 2, Revenue 
Recognition, to our consolidated financial statements and “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
About Market Risk.” 

Net (Loss) Income, Net (Loss) Income Margin and Adjusted Net Income 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we reported positive revenue growth of 33.2% over the prior year 
(discussed above), reflecting strong demand for our services and our continued focus on obtaining new 
clients and growing our existing client relationships. During 2021, cost of revenues and operating expenses 
were impacted by an increase in stock-based compensation expense compared to the prior year. Selling, 
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general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues were 32.1%, compared to 23.6%, and 
included increased payroll expenses (excluding stock-based compensation) of $172.9 million for 2021 as we 
invested in additional headcount to support revenue growth. Income taxes decreased compared to 2020, 
primarily due to our pre-tax loss as a result of stock-based compensation expense. For more information, see 
“—Results of Operations.” 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we reported a net loss of $23.6 million, a decrease of $102.9 million, 
or approximately 129.8%, compared to net income of $79.3 million in 2020, and we reported a net loss margin 
of 2.2%, a decrease of approximately 12.1%, compared to a net income margin of 9.9% in 2020. The decrease 
in net income and net income margin was driven by increased stock-based compensation expense of $156.3 
million, which includes (a) $61.0 million related to the accelerated vesting of certain employee stock options; 
(b) $83.4 million related to the new RSU grants issued in connection with the IPO; (c) $6.0 million related to 
RSU grants awarded in the fourth quarter; and (d) $5.9 million related to options granted earlier in the year. 
We consider net income margin as the most directly comparable GAAP measure to Adjusted EBITDA Margin.

For the year ended December  31, 2021, we reported Adjusted Net Income of $125.4 million, compared to 
$86.4 million for the corresponding period in 2020, an increase of $39.0 million, or approximately 45.2%. The 
increase was primarily due to higher revenues as a result of strong demand for our services, improved 
staffing leverage alongside our differentiated value proposition and premium services driving a higher bill 
rate, improved efficiencies in the cost of delivering the general and administrative activities of our business, 
and lower income tax expense. This was partially offset by increased payroll expenses (excluding stock-
based compensation) to support revenue growth.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we reported Adjusted EBITDA of $223.2 million, compared to $153.2 
million in 2020, an increase of $70.1 million, or approximately 45.7%, and we reported an Adjusted EBITDA 
Margin of 20.9%, an increase of approximately 1.8%, compared to 19.1% in 2020. The increase in Adjusted 
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin was due to higher revenues as demand for our services increased, 
improved staffing leverage and efficiencies in our general and administrative expenses, partially offset by 
operating expenses such as increased payroll expenses (excluding stock-based compensation) to support 
revenue growth and an increase in professional fees.

Business Update Regarding COVID-19

Since early 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused general business disruption worldwide. As a result of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, we took precautionary measures to minimize the risk of the virus to our personnel, 
our clients and the communities in which we operate, including the temporary suspension of all non-essential 
business travel of personnel and the temporary closure of all of our major offices. Although a significant 
portion of our workforce has worked remotely through the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been minimal 
disruption in our ability to effectively provide our service offerings, as our employees are accustomed to 
operating in remote and distributed environments. Going forward, we will continue to monitor working 
conditions and adapt as needed.

We may continue to experience a modest adverse impact on certain parts of our business, including a 
lengthening of the sales cycle for some prospective clients and delays in the delivery of professional services 
and trainings to our clients. In addition, the continuing pandemic or potential recovery may impact our ability 
to retain our workforce, integrate new employees, preserve our culture and attract skilled talent. We also 
experienced, and we may continue to experience, a modest positive impact on other aspects of our business, 
such as slower growth in certain operating expenses due to reduced business travel and the virtualization or 
cancellation of in-person client and workforce events. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused substantial global 
public health and economic challenges. Our employees, communities and business operations and the global 
economy and financial markets continue to be affected. We cannot accurately predict the extent to which the 
COVID-19 pandemic will continue to directly and indirectly impact our business, results of operations and 
financial condition. Future developments and actions to contain the public health and economic impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic in the markets we serve are rapidly evolving and highly uncertain.
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Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

Our long-term financial trend is characterized by strong organic growth, strong client retention, a significant 
amount of revenues from recurring clients and substantial margin optimization with the support of onshore, 
nearshore and offshore delivery centers. Our performance for historical periods and future periods is driven 
by numerous factors discussed, including the following key factors.

Ability to retain and expand existing client relationships 

In 2021, we served more than 370 clients, many of whom we work with across multiple geographies. We 
actively manage our client portfolio and target clients where we believe there is opportunity to develop long-
term relationships and drive significant growth. Accordingly, for the years ended December  31, 2021 and 
2020, 86.5% and 91.9%, respectively, of our revenues were derived from recurring clients, which we define as 
clients for whom we have done work and generated revenues in excess of $25,000 within the preceding 
fiscal year. For the year ended December 31, 2021, 30 clients generated greater than $10 million in revenues, 
a 30.4% increase compared to 23 clients in the prior year.

While we continue to derive a substantial part of our overall revenues from recurring clients, we maintain 
relatively low client concentration among our largest clients. For the year ended December 31, 2021, revenues 
from our top five and ten clients as a percentage of total revenues were 16.8% and 27.3%, respectively, 
compared to 19.8% and 32.0%, respectively in 2020. The overall decrease is a result of a higher contribution 
of revenues from our top 20 and top 50 clients growing at a faster pace than our top five and top 10 clients in 
2021 as compared to 2020.

Net Dollar Retention Rate

We also utilize the net dollar retention ratio to measure revenue growth from our clients. Net dollar retention 
rate provides visibility into the risks associated with our revenues and expected growth, and it measures our 
ability to continually offer and deliver innovative services to our clients. We use this metric to appropriately 
manage resources and client retention and growth, such as account management and capability development 
of our account leadership teams. The net dollar retention ratio is calculated by dividing (a) the current period 
revenue from recurring clients by (b) the prior comparative period revenue from recurring clients.

The net dollar retention ratio was approximately 125.6% and 102.4% for the years ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, respectively. Fiscal year 2020 was largely driven by the impact of COVID-19. Starting in the second 
quarter of 2020, we experienced pauses in ongoing engagements and select project cancellations as certain 
of our clients focused on the immediate challenges linked to the COVID-19 pandemic. We believe that the 
financial challenges caused by COVID-19 contributed to lower technology spending by our existing customers 
concentrated in certain verticals, such as automotive, travel and transportation and retail and consumer. To 
partially offset the impact on revenue from the affected verticals, we pivoted our focus to companies that 
were increasing their spending on digital transformation in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. During this 
period, sector diversification enabled us to re-balance sales exposure to verticals that were spending 
incrementally through the pandemic, such as technology and business services and energy, public and health 
services. As a result of our continued experience of positive growth trends in 2021, the net dollar retention 
rate increased for the year ended December 31, 2021. 

Ability to acquire new clients 

We intend to continue to acquire new clients through programs designed to generate new business demand 
and position us as a trusted partner. Winning new business in existing and new geographies and industry 
verticals is a critical component of our growth strategy. Dedicated new business teams work with marketing 
using data-driven approaches to focus on client acquisition efforts. Commensurately, our total number of 
clients, which we define as clients with annual spend in excess of $25,000 in the relevant year, increased to 
371 as of December 31, 2021 from 320 as of December 31, 2020, as we saw increased demand for our global 
services, including in North America, Europe, APAC and LATAM. Going forward, we may also add new clients, 
including in new geographies and industry verticals, through selective strategic acquisitions.
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Expanding our technical capabilities and client solutions

We combine strategy, design and software engineering expertise to offer premium, end-to-end solutions to 
our clients. Our value proposition is based on our thought leadership and expertise across innovative new 
technologies, differentiated client solutions across our service lines and local and nearshore capabilities (i.e., 
those delivered from nearby countries in similar time zones) and offshore capabilities (i.e., those delivered 
from distant countries in different time zones). Our premium position enabled us to drive average revenue per 
employee of approximately $116,000 for 2021, compared to approximately $108,000 for 2020. We believe our 
average revenue per employee is meaningfully higher than all our pure-play competitors. We define average 
revenue per employee as total revenues for the period divided by the average number of employees in such 
period. The year-over-year increase reflected the increase in demand for our services driven by economic 
recovery from the pandemic where we have seen continued revenue growth and the overall ramp up in hiring 
to meet the anticipated increase in demand for our services. Our ability to continue delivering premium and 
innovative services to our clients depends on evolving our technical and engineering capabilities. 

Ability to recruit and retain talent 

To provide services to our clients, we must efficiently hire, train and retain skilled professionals without 
compromising on the high standards we set for our people. We believe our ability to attract and retain top 
talent drives high client satisfaction and enables us to deliver on strong client demand to generate growth. 
Apart from driving high client satisfaction, lower attrition leads to lower hiring and training costs and 
increased productivity. For 2021, our voluntary attrition rate was 15.1%, up from 11.5% for 2020 driven by 
strong market demand for digital talent. Meanwhile, we increased our total number of employees to 10,642 as 
of December 31, 2021 from 7,976 as of December 31, 2020, a 33.4% increase as we continued to invest in 
additional headcount to meet demand. 

Ability to optimize our global delivery 

We have a global footprint with the ability to deliver services from multiple geographic regions. As of 
December 31, 2021, 9 out of our top 10 clients relied on Thoughtworks’ delivery from more than one region. 
We utilize a blended delivery model, which means we are able to offer a combination of local talent with 
nearshore/offshore talent, allowing us to maintain close proximity to our clients for context and local market 
knowledge, while driving rapid and high-quality delivery at scale. 

Components of Our Operating Results

We operate and manage our business as one reportable segment. While the Company has offerings in 
multiple market segments and operates in multiple countries, the Company’s business operates as one 
operating segment. Almost all of the Company’s service offerings are delivered and supported on a global 
basis. Additionally, most of the Company’s service offerings are deployed in a nearly identical way and the 
Company’s chief operating decision maker, who is the Company's Chief Executive Officer, evaluates the 
Company’s financial information and resources and assesses the performance of these resources on a 
consolidated basis.

Revenues

Time-and-Materials Revenues. We generate the majority of our revenues under time-and-materials contracts, 
which are billed using hourly, daily or monthly rates to determine the amounts to be charged to the client. 
Revenue from time-and-material contracts is based on the number of hours worked and at contractually 
agreed-upon hourly rates and is recognized as those services are rendered as control of the services passes 
to the customer over time. 

Fixed-Price Revenues. Fixed-price contracts include application development arrangements, where progress 
towards satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured using input methods as there is a direct 
correlation between hours incurred and the end product delivered to the client. Assumptions, risks and 
uncertainties inherent in the estimates used to measure progress could affect the amount of revenues, 
receivables and deferred revenues at each reporting period. Revenues under these contracts are recognized 
using costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward 
satisfying performance obligations. 

Table of Contents

42



For a detailed discussion of our revenue recognition policy, refer to Note 2, Revenue Recognition.

Cost of Revenues 

Cost of revenues consists primarily of personnel and related costs directly associated with the professional 
services, including salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits, share-based compensation, project related travel costs; 
and costs of contracted third-party vendors. Also included in cost of revenues is depreciation attributable to 
the portion of our property and equipment utilized in the delivery of services to our clients.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross profit represents revenues less cost of revenues. Gross margin represents gross profit as a percentage 
of revenues.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses represent expenses associated with promoting and selling our 
services and general and administrative functions of our business. These expenses include the costs of 
salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits, stock-based compensation, severance, bad debt, travel, legal and 
accounting services, insurance, facilities (including operating leases), advertising and other promotional 
activities.

Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation and amortization consist primarily of depreciation of fixed assets, amortization of capitalized 
software development costs (internal-use software) and amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets. 

Other (Expense) Income 

Other (expense) income consists of interest expense, impacts from foreign exchange transactions, gains 
(losses) on the sale of assets and the write-off of deferred financing fees.

Income Tax Expense 

Determining the consolidated income tax expense, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and any potential 
related valuation allowances involves judgment. We consider factors that may contribute, favorably or 
unfavorably, to the overall annual effective tax rate in the current year as well as the future. These factors 
include statutory tax rates and tax law changes in the countries where we operate as well as consideration of 
any significant or unusual items. Our income tax expense includes the impact of provisions established for 
uncertain income tax positions, as well as any related interest and penalties. These reserves are adjusted 
given changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit, statute of limitation lapse or the 
refinement of an estimate. To the extent the final outcome of an uncertain income tax position differs from 
the amounts recorded, such differences will impact our income tax expense in the period in which such 
determination is made.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated 
(in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Revenues $ 1,069,945 $ 803,375 $ 772,191 
Operating expenses:

Cost of revenues (1)  689,443  475,560  476,631 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (1)  343,786  189,497  203,886 
Depreciation and amortization  17,599  17,479  15,776 

Income from operations  19,117  120,839  75,898 
Other (expense) income:

Interest expense  (25,456)  (25,767)  (26,428) 
Net realized and unrealized foreign currency (loss) gain  (5,465)  7,190  (1,750) 
Other (expense) income, net  (1,671)  185  117 

Total other expense  (32,592)  (18,392)  (28,061) 
(Loss) income before income taxes  (13,475)  102,447  47,837 
Income tax expense  10,148  23,164  19,417 
Net (loss) income $ (23,623) $ 79,283 $ 28,420 
Effective tax rate  (75.3) %  22.6 %  40.6 %

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Cost of revenues $ 80,440 $ — $ — 
Selling, general and administrative expenses  77,506  1,667  1,949 
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 157,946 $ 1,667 $ 1,949 

Summary Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2021 with the Year Ended 
December 31, 2020 

Revenues for the year ended December  31, 2021 increased $266.6 million, or 33.2%, to $1,069.9 million, 
compared to $803.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The increase in revenues was driven by 
higher demand for services as certain clients accelerated their digital transformation projects. The majority of 
our revenues are generated from recurring clients or those expanding their usage of our services. Revenue 
recognized from our recurring client base was approximately 86.5% for the year ended December 31, 2021 
and approximately 91.9% for the year ended December  31, 2020, with the remainder of our revenue 
attributable to new clients.

Our revenue growth primarily depends on our ability to retain and drive growth from existing clients. Our net 
dollar retention ratio was approximately 125.6% for the year ended December  31, 2021 and approximately 
102.4% for the year ended December  31, 2020. For a discussion of the factors impacting our net dollar 
retention ratio, see "—Key Factors Affecting Our Performance—Net Dollar Retention Rate."

Income from operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased $101.7 million, or 84.2%, to $19.1 
million compared to $120.8 million for the year ended December  31, 2020. Income from operations as a 
percentage of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 was 1.8%, compared to 15.0% for the year 
ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was primarily driven by costs incurred in conjunction with the IPO, 
specifically additional stock-based compensation expense of $156.3 million, as previously discussed.

Table of Contents

44



Our effective tax rates for the years ended December  31, 2021 and 2020 were (75.3)% and 22.6%, 
respectively. The effective tax rate in each period differed from the U.S. statutory tax rate of 21% principally 
due to U.S. corporate state income taxation and the effect of foreign operations which reflects the impact of 
different income tax rates in locations outside the United States. The decrease in the effective tax rate for the 
year ended December 31, 2021 over the prior year was primarily due to the unfavorable impact of establishing 
valuation allowances on deferred tax assets of select foreign operations and the non-deductibility of 
executive compensation expense in compliance with §162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, offset by excess 
tax benefits on stock-based compensation. The negative effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 
2021 is a result of the aforementioned unique net unfavorable items when compared to the pre-tax loss 
recorded for the year.

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased $102.9 million to a loss position of $23.6 million 
compared to net income of $79.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decrease was driven by 
costs incurred in conjunction with the IPO, specifically additional stock-based compensation.

Revenues 

We continue to expand our international presence and nearshore capabilities in different geographies. For the 
year ended December 31, 2021, total revenues grew 33.2%, to $1,069.9 million compared to $803.4 million 
over the prior year. The increase in revenues was attributable to strong demand for our services, including 
strong growth across geographies and verticals, expansion in our top 20 and top 50 clients, and revenues 
from new clients growing from 8.1% to 13.5%, a 5.4% increase from 2020.

Revenues by Industry Vertical

The following table presents our revenues by industry vertical and revenues as a percentage of total 
revenues by industry vertical for the periods indicated (in thousands, except percentages): 

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Technology and business services $288,709 27.0% $228,514 28.6%
Energy, public and health services 275,279 25.7% 200,785 25.0%
Retail and consumer 203,193 19.0% 141,729 17.6%
Financial services and insurance 170,492 15.9% 123,291 15.3%
Automotive, travel and transportation 132,272 12.4% 108,656 13.5%
Other — —% 400 —%
Total revenues $1,069,945 100% $803,375 100%

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we continued to see a strong demand environment and sustained 
revenue growth in the retail and consumer, financial services and insurance and energy, public and health 
services verticals which grew by 43.4%, 38.3%, and 37.1%, respectively. We also continued to leverage 
market tailwinds in our technology and business services vertical compared to 2020, as companies focus on 
digital transformation. In addition, we experienced a recovery in the automotive, travel and transportation 
vertical compared to 2020.

Revenues by Customer Location 

Our revenues are sourced from four geographic markets: North America, APAC, Europe and LATAM. We 
present and discuss our revenues by the geographic location where the revenues are under client contract; 
however, the delivery of those client contracts could be supported by offshore delivery locations. 
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The following table presents our revenues by customer location and revenues as a percentage of total 
revenues by customer location for the periods indicated (in thousands, except percentages): 

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Customer Location:
North America $396,491 37.1% $321,237 40.0%
APAC 358,596 33.5% 248,776 31.0%
Europe 267,121 25.0% 195,372 24.3%
LATAM 47,737 4.4% 37,990 4.7%
Total revenues $1,069,945 100.0% $803,375 100.0%

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we had revenue growth of 23.4% in North America, with the United 
States contributing $372.8 million of our North America revenues, compared to $307.2 million for the same 
period in 2020. The largest client demand came from the energy, public and health services and technology 
and business services industry verticals which was primarily driven by our clients' increased focus on digital 
transformation in the technology and business services vertical and increased demand to modernize 
operations and accelerate digital innovation in the energy, public and health services vertical. Further, our 
ability to retain existing clients and increase the level of services we provide resulted in incremental revenue 
expansion from 2020 to 2021 where our technology and business services industry vertical remained as our 
top revenue contributor.

For the year ended December  31, 2021, we had revenue growth of 44.1% in APAC where the top three 
revenue contributing customer location countries were Australia, China and Singapore generating revenues of 
$116.5 million, $96.2 million and $59.3 million, respectively, compared to $65.2 million, $83.5 million and 
$39.1 million, respectively, for the same period in 2020. The increase in revenues for APAC was driven by 
increased client demand on digital transformation projects in the retail and consumer vertical as well as the 
technology and business services industry vertical.

For the year ended December  31, 2021, we had revenue growth of 36.7% in Europe where the top two 
revenue contributing customer location countries were the United Kingdom and Germany generating 
revenues of $115.2 million and $113.8 million, respectively, compared to $89.2 million and $81.5 million, 
respectively, for the same period in 2020, with the largest driver of client demand coming from our 
automotive, travel and transportation industry vertical where certain automotive manufacturers and service 
providers continued to focus on digital transformation.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we had revenue growth of 25.7% in LATAM, with Brazil being our 
largest customer location in LATAM contributing revenues of $28.8 million compared to $16.4 million for the 
same period in 2020. The largest driver of client demand came from our retail and consumer vertical where 
our clients continue to focus on digital transformation.

Revenues by Client Concentration

We have long-standing relationships with many of our clients. We seek to grow revenues from our existing 
clients by continually increasing the value we provide and expanding the scope and size of our engagements. 
Revenues derived from these clients may fluctuate as these accounts mature or upon beginning or 
completion of multi-year projects. We believe there is a significant potential for future growth as we expand 
our capabilities and offerings within existing clients. In addition, we remain committed to diversifying our 
client base and adding new clients to our client mix. 

The following table presents revenues contributed by our largest clients by amount and as a percentage of 
total revenues for the periods indicated (in thousands, except percentages): 

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Top five clients $179,755 16.8% $158,679 19.8%
Top ten clients $291,787 27.3% $256,825 32.0%
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During the year ended December 31, 2021, revenues from our top five and top 10 existing clients experienced 
strong but slower growth compared to our year-over-year growth rate of 33.2% as we saw a higher 
contribution of revenues from our top twenty and top fifty clients growing at a faster pace in 2021 as 
compared to 2020. Additionally, we continued to focus on opportunities with new and existing clients, with 
13.5% of revenues from new clients and 86.5% of revenues from existing clients, representing increases of 
120.8% and 25.3% in revenues from new and existing clients, respectively, from the prior year.

Bookings

We use Bookings ("Bookings") as a forward-looking metric that measures the value of new contracts, 
renewals, extensions and changes to existing contracts during the fiscal period. We believe Bookings 
provides a broad measure of useful trend information regarding changes in the volume of our business. We 
use Bookings to evaluate the results of our operations, generate future operating plans and assess the 
performance of our company. However, Bookings can vary significantly quarter to quarter due to both timing 
and demand from our clients and thus the conversion of Bookings to revenues is uncertain. The amount of 
Bookings involves estimates and judgments and is not a reliable predictor of revenues over time. There is no 
standard definition or measurement of Bookings thus our methodology may not be comparable to other 
companies. Bookings were $1,531 million and $952 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively.

Cost of Revenues

Year Ended 
December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 Change % Change
Cost of revenues $689,443 $475,560 $213,883 45.0%

For the year ended December 31, 2021, cost of revenues (including stock-based compensation) increased by 
$213.9 million, or 45.0%, compared to 2020. This increase was primarily driven by an increase in payroll and 
benefit expenses of $122.5 million due to higher headcount as we invested in additional talent to support 
growth, cumulative stock-based compensation expense of $80.4 million ($15.0  million related to the 
accelerated vesting of certain employee stock options in conjunction with the IPO and $65.4 million primarily 
related to the new RSU grants issued at the time of IPO) and an increase of $13.4 million related to third-party 
contract labor.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Year Ended 
December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 Change % Change
Gross profit $380,502 $327,815 $52,687 16.1%
Gross margin 35.6% 40.8%

Our gross margin decreased by 5.2% for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due 
to costs incurred in conjunction with our successful IPO, specifically additional stock-based compensation of 
$80.4 million. This was partially offset by our revenue growth from the increased demand for our services 
along with our ability to execute certain strategic operational efficiency initiatives.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended 
December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 Change % Change
Selling, general and administrative expenses $343,786 $189,497 $154,289 81.4%

For the year ended December  31, 2021, selling, general and administrative expenses were $343.8 million, 
representing an increase of approximately 81.4% as compared to $189.5 million in 2020. Our selling, general 
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and administrative expenses increased due to an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $75.8 
million, which includes $45.9 million due to the accelerated vesting of certain employee stock options in 
conjunction with the IPO and $29.9 million primarily related to the new RSU grants issued at the time of IPO. 
Further, payroll expenses (excluding stock-based compensation) increased by $50.4 million, acquisition-
related retention payments by $7.9 million, facility expenses by $7.7 million and professional fees by $13.2 
million, partially offset by a decrease in bad debt expense of $8.3 million. 

Depreciation and Amortization

Year Ended 
December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 Change % Change
Depreciation and amortization $17,599 $17,479 $120 0.7%

Depreciation and amortization relate to depreciation charges on our fixed assets, capitalized software 
amortization expense and intangible asset amortization expense. There were no material changes in 
depreciation and amortization in the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to 2020.

Interest Expense

Year Ended 
December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 Change % Change
Interest expense $(25,456) $(25,767) $311 (1.2)%

Interest expense is primarily related to our term loan and revolving credit facilities. There were no material 
changes in interest expense in the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to 2020.

Other (expense) income, net

Year Ended 
December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 Change % Change
Other (expense) income, net $(1,671) $185 $(1,856) (1003.2)%

Other (expense) income, net is primarily related to the write-off of deferred financing fees and gains (losses) 
on the sale of assets. The increase in the expense in the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to 2020 
was due to the write off of $2.1 million of deferred financing fees as a result of debt prepayments.

Income Tax Expense 

Year Ended 
December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2021 2020 Change % Change
Income tax expense $10,148 $23,164 $(13,016) (56.2)%

The Company’s income tax expense decreased by $13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 as 
compared to 2020 primarily due to the pre-tax loss recorded for the period from IPO related stock-based 
compensation and related excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation, offset by the unfavorable 
impact of establishing valuation allowances on deferred tax assets of select foreign operations and the non-
deductibility of executive compensation expense in compliance with §162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Gains and Losses

See “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” as well as “Item 1A. Risk Factors—
Risks Related to Our Global Operations—Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be 
adversely affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates."

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We define Adjusted Net Income as net (loss) income adjusted for unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency 
exchange, stock-based compensation expense, employer payroll tax on employee equity incentive plan, 
amortization of acquisition-related intangibles, acquisition costs, certain professional fees that are considered 
unrelated to our ongoing revenue-generating operations, tender offer compensation expense that is 
considered one-time in nature, certain costs related to business rationalization, IPO-related costs, executive 
compensation expense that is considered one-time in nature and income tax effects of adjustments.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net (loss) income adjusted to exclude income tax expense, interest expense, 
other expense (income), net, unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency exchange, stock-based compensation 
expense, employer payroll tax on employee equity incentive plan, depreciation and amortization expense, 
acquisition costs, certain professional fees that are considered unrelated to our ongoing revenue-generating 
operations, tender offer compensation expense that is considered one-time in nature, certain costs related to 
business rationalization, IPO-related costs and executive compensation expense that is considered one-time 
in nature. Adjusted EBITDA Margin is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by total revenues.

We use Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin and Adjusted Net Income as measures of operating 
performance and the operating leverage in our business. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures 
are useful to investors for supplemental period-to-period comparisons of our business and in understanding 
and evaluating our operating results for the following reasons: 

• Our management uses Adjusted Net Income to assess our overall performance, without regard to items 
that are considered to be unique or non-recurring in nature or otherwise unrelated to our ongoing 
revenue-generating operations, net of the income tax effect of the adjustments; 

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are widely used by investors and securities analysts to 
measure a company’s operating performance without regard to items such as stock-based 
compensation expense, employer payroll tax on employee equity incentive plan, depreciation and 
amortization expense, interest expense, other expense (income), net, and income tax expense which 
can vary substantially from company to company depending upon their financing, capital structures, and 
the method by which assets were acquired or costs that are unique or non-recurring in nature or 
otherwise unrelated to our ongoing revenue-generating operations; 

• Our management uses Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin in 
conjunction with financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP for planning purposes, including 
the preparation of our annual operating budget, as a measure of our core operating results and the 
effectiveness of our business strategy, and in evaluating our financial performance; and 

• Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin provide consistency and 
comparability with our past financial performance, facilitate period-to-period comparisons of our core 
operating results, and also facilitate comparisons with other peer companies, many of which use similar 
non-GAAP financial measures to supplement their GAAP results. 

Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin have limitations as analytical tools, and 
you should not consider these measures in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our financial results as 
reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are, or may in the future be, as follows: 

• Although depreciation and amortization expense is a non-cash charge, the assets being depreciated and 
amortized may have to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do 
not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure 
requirements; 

• Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin exclude stock-based 
compensation expense, which has recently been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a 
significant recurring expense for our business and an important part of our compensation strategy; 
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• Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect changes in, or cash 
requirements for, our working capital needs; 

• Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect (i) interest expense, or the cash 
requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt, which reduces cash 
available to us; or (ii) accruals or tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us; 

• Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect transaction costs 
related to acquisitions; and 

• The expenses and other items that we exclude in our calculations of Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted 
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin may differ from the expenses and other items, if any, that other 
companies may exclude from similarly-titled non-GAAP measures when they report their operating 
results, and we may, in the future, exclude other significant, unusual or non-recurring expenses or other 
items from these financial measures. 

Because of these limitations, Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin should be 
considered along with other financial performance measures presented in accordance with GAAP. 

The following tables present a reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 
Margin to their most directly comparable financial measure prepared in accordance with GAAP for the periods 
indicated (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Net (loss) income $ (23,623) $ 79,283 $ 28,420 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains)  5,024  (5,351)  703 
Stock-based compensation  157,946  1,667  1,949 
Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles  12,046  10,537  10,635 
Acquisition costs (a)  8,524  633  158 
Certain professional fees (b)  1,991  56  1,512 
Non-recurring tender offer compensation expense (c)  2,715  —  — 
Business rationalization (d)  —  1,316  4,589 
IPO-related costs (e)  2,713  315  — 
Non-recurring executive compensation expense (f)  —  —  802 
Employer payroll tax on employee equity incentive plans (g)  1,154  —  — 
Income tax effects of adjustments (h)  (43,090)  (2,073)  (8,261) 
Adjusted Net Income $ 125,400 $ 86,383 $ 40,507 
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Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Net (loss) income $ (23,623) $ 79,283 $ 28,420 
Income tax expense  10,148  23,164  19,417 
Interest expense  25,456  25,767  26,428 
Other expense (income), net  1,671  (185)  (117) 
Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains)  5,024  (5,351)  703 
Stock-based compensation  157,946  1,667  1,949 
Depreciation and amortization  29,528  26,528  23,268 
Acquisition costs (a)  8,524  633  158 
Certain professional fees (b)  1,991  56  1,512 
Non-recurring tender offer compensation expense (c)  2,715  —  — 
Business rationalization (d)  —  1,316  4,589 
IPO-related costs (e)  2,713  315  — 
Non-recurring executive compensation expense (f)  —  —  802 
Employer payroll tax on employee equity incentive plans (g)  1,154  —  — 
Adjusted EBITDA $ 223,247 $ 153,193 $ 107,129 
Net (loss) income margin  (2.2) %  9.9 %  3.7 %
Adjusted EBITDA Margin  20.9 %  19.1 %  13.9 %

(a) Reflects costs for certain professional fees and retention wage expenses related to certain acquisitions. 
(b) Adjusts for certain transaction expenses, non-recurring legal expenses, and one-time professional fees. 
(c) Adjusts for the additional compensation expense related to the tender offer completed in the first quarter 

of 2021. 
(d) Adjusts for business rationalization revenues and costs related to closing Thoughtworks Studios, which 

was completely shut down as of December 31, 2020. Thoughtworkers previously associated with 
Thoughtworks Studios have been transitioned to other revenue generating functions. 

(e) Adjusts for IPO-readiness costs and expenses that do not qualify as equity issuance costs. 
(f) Reflects executive compensation expenses for certain roles that were eliminated in connection with our 

acquisition by the Apax Funds.
(g) We exclude employer payroll tax expense on equity incentive plans as these expenses are tied to the 

exercise or vesting of underlying equity awards and the price of our common stock at the time of vesting 
or exercise. As a result, these taxes may vary in any particular period independent of the financial and 
operating performance of our business.

(h) Adjusts for the income tax effects of the foregoing adjusted items. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes certain key measures of our liquidity and capital resources (in thousands): 
As of December 31,

2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 368,209 $ 490,841 
Availability under revolving credit facility  165,000  85,000 
Borrowings under revolving credit facility  —  — 
Long-term debt, including current portion (1)  504,530  439,757 

(1) The balance includes deferred financing fees. A reconciliation of gross to net amounts is presented in 
Note 14, Credit Agreements.

Our cash generated from operations and financing activities has been our primary source of liquidity to fund 
operations and investments. Our capital investments focus on our technology solutions, corporate 
infrastructure and strategic acquisitions to further expand into new business sectors and/or expand sales in 
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existing sectors. The Company generates sufficient cash flows for working capital and expects to do so for 
the foreseeable future.

On September 17, 2021 we completed our IPO, in which an aggregate of 42,368,421 shares of the Company's 
common stock were sold at $21.00 per share, including 5,526,315 shares sold upon the exercise of the 
underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares by certain of the selling stockholders. In connection with 
the IPO, the Company issued and sold 16,429,964 shares and received net proceeds of $314.7 million, after 
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses of approximately $30.3 million. 
See Note 1, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial 
statements.

As of December 31, 2021, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents of $368.2 million 
and $165.0 million of available borrowings under our revolving credit facility. Cash and cash equivalents as of 
December 31, 2021 included (a) proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock in the first and second quarter 
of $322.8 million, net of equity issuance costs of $7.2 million, which proceeds were subsequently used to 
repurchase equity from existing shareholders; and (b) proceeds from the completion of our IPO in the third 
quarter of $314.7 million, net of the underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses of 
approximately $30.3 million. Refer to the notes to our consolidated financial statements for more information.

In the future, we may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services and 
technologies, or intellectual property rights. To fund these acquisitions or investments, we may seek to 
access the debt or capital markets. Our ability to obtain additional funding will be subject to various factors, 
including general market conditions, our operating performance, the market’s perception of our growth 
potential, lender sentiment and our ability to incur additional debt in compliance with our contractual 
restrictions, including those in our Credit Agreement (as defined below). 

Our Credit Facilities 

Our subsidiaries are party to an amended and restated credit agreement, dated as of March 26, 2021 (as 
amended, the “Credit Agreement”), among Thoughtworks, Inc., Turing Acquisition LLC and Turing Midco LLC 
(collectively, the “Borrowers”), Turing Topco LLC (“Holdings”), Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as 
administrative agent, the lenders party thereto and the other parties from time-to-time party thereto. The 
Credit Agreement provides for a senior secured term loan of $715.0 million (the “Term Loan”) and a senior 
secured revolving credit facility of up to $165.0 million (the “Revolver”). As of December 31, 2021, we had 
$509.6 million outstanding under our Term Loan with an interest rate of 3.50% and no borrowings outstanding 
under the Revolver. 

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by substantially all the Borrowers’ direct and indirect 
wholly owned material domestic subsidiaries subject to customary exceptions (the “Guarantors” and together 
with the Borrowers and Holdings, the “Loan Parties”). The obligations under the Credit Agreement and the 
guarantees of the Guarantors are secured by substantially all of the Loan Parties’ assets, subject to 
customary exceptions and thresholds. 

Borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin plus either 
(a) a base rate or (b) a LIBOR rate, at our option, subject to interest rate floors. Borrowings under the Revolver 
bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin plus either (x) a base rate or (y) a LIBOR rate 
at our option. In addition to paying interest on outstanding borrowings under the Revolver, we are required to 
pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the Revolver in respect of unutilized commitments thereunder and 
customary letter of credit fees. The applicable margins in respect of both the Term Loan and the Revolver are 
subject to adjustments based on our first lien leverage ratios and corporate family ratings plus a permanent 
reduction by 25 basis points of the interest rate applicable to our Term Loan and our Revolver upon the 
completion of the IPO. 

The Credit Agreement requires compliance with certain covenants customary for agreements of this type. As 
of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with our debt covenants.
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Cash Flows

The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 118,304 $ 125,296 $ 29,271 
Investing activities  (70,309)  (14,993)  (18,597) 
Financing activities  (140,630)  318,197  (6,564) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (4,622)  6,543  944 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (97,257) $ 435,043 $ 5,054 

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2021 decreased $7.0 million compared to 2020. Non-cash 
charges primarily consisted of amortization of intangible assets, depreciation of property and equipment, and 
stock-based compensation. The decrease in 2021 was primarily driven by a $36.1 million increase in trade 
receivables as a result of increased revenue in 2021 compared to 2020 partially offset by a $30.1 million 
increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities in 2021 was $70.3 million compared to $15.0 million used in 2020. The 
change was primarily attributable to the acquisition of Gemini and Fourkind and purchases of property and 
equipment.

Financing Activities 

Net cash used in financing activities in 2021 was $140.6 million, primarily attributable to the repurchase of 
shares and vested options from our securityholders using the proceeds from the issuance of $720.0 million of 
preferred stock, partially offset by proceeds from an increase in our term loan (which were subsequently used 
to pay a dividend to our securityholders in April 2021). In addition, our net financing activities were driven by 
the repayment of long-term debt of $336.7 million, offset by $314.7 million of net proceeds received from our 
IPO. 

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2020 of $318.2 million was driven by $322.8 million of proceeds 
from the issuance of preferred stock (net of issuance costs).

Contractual Obligations and Future Capital Requirements

Contractual Obligations

See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies for information regarding contractual obligations and 
commitments. Except as disclosed in “—Our Credit Facilities” and those mentioned within Note 10, 
Commitments and Contingencies, we did not have other material contractual obligations for cash 
expenditures. 

Future Capital Requirements 

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents combined with our expected cash flow from 
operations will be sufficient to meet our projected operating and capital expenditure requirements for at least 
the next twelve months and that we possess the financial flexibility to execute our strategic objectives, 
including the ability to make acquisitions and strategic investments in the foreseeable future. However, our 
ability to generate cash is subject to our performance, general economic conditions, industry trends and other 
factors. To the extent that existing cash and cash equivalents and operating cash flow are insufficient to fund 
our future activities and requirements, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private equity 
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or debt financing. If we incur new debt, the debt holders would have rights senior to common stockholders to 
make claims on our assets, and the terms of any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay 
dividends on our common stock. If we issue additional equity or convertible debt securities, existing 
stockholders may experience dilution, and such new securities could have rights senior to those of our 
common stock. These factors may make the timing, amount, terms and conditions of additional financings 
unattractive. Our inability to raise capital could impede our growth or otherwise require us to forego growth 
opportunities and could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
There is no assurance that we would be able to raise additional funds on favorable terms or at all. 

Commitments and Contingencies 

Certain conditions may exist as of the date of the consolidated financial statements which may result in a loss 
to the Company but will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Such 
liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties and other sources, 
are recorded when the Company assesses that it is probable that a future liability has been incurred and the 
amount can be reasonably estimated. Recoveries of costs from third parties, which the Company assesses as 
being probable of realization, are recorded to the extent of related contingent liabilities accrued. Legal costs 
incurred in connection with matters relating to contingencies are expensed in the period incurred. The 
Company records gain contingencies when realized. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during any of the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet 
financing arrangements or any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, including 
entities sometimes referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, that were established for the 
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the notes to our consolidated 
financial statements for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements. 

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report 
are prepared in accordance with GAAP. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, we make 
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, stockholders’ equity, 
revenues, expenses and related disclosures. We re-evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis. Our 
estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Because of the uncertainty inherent in these matters, actual results may 
differ from these estimates and could differ based upon other assumptions or conditions. The critical 
accounting policies that reflect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our 
consolidated financial statements include those noted below.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenues by providing professional services in software development and consulting services to 
companies across the globe.

We determine revenue recognition through the following steps in accordance with Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) 606:

• identification of the contract, or contracts, with a client;
• identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
• determination of the transaction price;
• allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
• recognition of revenues when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.
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Revenue is recognized when control of services is passed to a client in an amount of revenue that reflects the 
consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services. Such control may be 
transferred over time or at a point in time, depending on satisfaction of obligations stipulated by the contract. 
The Company records sales and other taxes collected from clients and remitted to governmental authorities 
on a net basis.

The Company generates revenues from a variety of professional service arrangements. Fees for these 
contracts may be in the form of time-and-materials and fixed price. The Company also reports gross 
reimbursable expenses incurred as both revenues and cost of revenues in the consolidated statements of 
(loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.

Revenues are measured based on consideration specified in a contract with a client, which may consist of 
both fixed and variable components, and the consideration expected to be received is allocated to each 
separately identifiable performance obligation based on the performance obligation’s relative stand-alone 
selling price. The standalone selling prices are generally determined based on the prices at which the 
Company separately sells the services.

Stock-Based Compensation

We grant equity incentive awards to certain of our employees and directors. These compensation 
arrangements are settled in equity, or in certain cases at our discretion, in cash, at a predetermined price. The 
equity incentive awards generally vest over a period of one to four years and, in certain cases, vest in full on a 
liquidity event involving the Company. The options have a contractual term of 10 years from the grant date. 
We measure share-based awards at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and we recognize 
such fair value as compensation expense over the vesting period using the accelerated amortization method. 

Performance Vesting and Time Vesting Options

Through September 17, 2021 (the "IPO Closing Date"), the Company estimated grant date fair value for stock 
option awards using a hybrid of the Probability-Weighted Expected Return Method (“PWERM”) and the 
Option-Pricing Model (“OPM”) that used assumptions including expected volatility, expected term, and the 
expected risk-free rate of return. Prior to the completion of our IPO, we relied, in part, on valuation reports 
prepared by unrelated third-party valuation firms to assist us in valuing our share-based awards.

On September 9, 2021, the Board, through unanimous written consent, approved a modification to the 
Company's 2017 Stock Option Plan which, upon completion of the IPO, a sponsor return of 2.8x times sponsor 
investment was achieved, and the service condition under the Plan that participants must provide at least 18 
months of continuous service following the grant date in order for performance vesting options to vest was 
waived. Additionally, the Board also approved accelerated vesting of all remaining, unvested former Class C 
performance vesting options, after the achievement of such sponsor return, which resulted in all performance 
vesting options becoming fully vested upon pricing of the IPO. Unless otherwise prohibited by law in local 
jurisdictions, time vesting options will continue to vest according to the Plan. No stock option awards were 
granted during the third or fourth quarters of 2021. For more information regarding the stock option awards, 
see Note 12, Stock-Based Compensation, to our consolidated financial statements.

Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) Conversion

On September 9, 2021, the Board, through unanimous written consent, approved a modification to the 
Company's Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (the “SARs Plan”) which, upon completion of the IPO, was 
discontinued and all outstanding stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) converted to restricted stock units 
(“RSUs”). RSUs granted in connection with the SARs conversion will vest after six months and twelve months 
after the IPO closing date with 50% at each vesting date, such that 100% of RSUs related to the SARs 
conversion will be fully vested on September 17, 2020, twelve months after the completion of the IPO. See 
Note 12, Stock-Based Compensation, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)

In September 2021, the Board approved the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”). Under the 
Omnibus Plan, RSUs are awarded to eligible employees and entitle the grantee to receive shares of common 
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stock at the end of a vesting period. The fair value of the RSUs is determined based on the market price of 
our common stock on the date of grant.

All RSUs granted as a result of the IPO, including the RSUs granted in connection with the SARs conversion, 
include a lock-up period of 6 months before the participants may redeem the shares. Throughout the vesting 
period and the lock-up period, shareholders are subject to the market risk on the value of their shares.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily result 
from changes in concentration of credit, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, our 
international operations are subject to risks related to differing economic conditions, civil unrest, political 
instability or uncertainty, military activities, broad-based sanctions, differing tax structures, and other 
regulations and restrictions. Refer to Note 1, Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for 
discussion related to concentration of credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk

We are primarily exposed to changes in interest rates with respect to our cost of borrowing under our Credit 
Agreement. We monitor our cost of borrowing under our credit facilities, taking into account our funding 
requirements and our expectations for interest rates in the future. In 2021, a hypothetical 100 basis point 
increase in the average LIBOR/base rate applicable to our borrowings would have resulted in a $5.3 million 
increase in our interest expense, while a hypothetical 100 basis point decrease in the average LIBOR/base 
rate would have resulted in a $6.2 million decrease in our interest expense reflecting a LIBOR/base rate floor 
under our credit facilities of 0.5%.

Foreign Currency Risk

We operate in several countries across the world. Our international sales are primarily denominated in foreign 
currencies, and any unfavorable movement in the exchange rate between U.S. dollars and the currencies in 
which we conduct sales in foreign countries could have an adverse impact on our revenues. A portion of our 
operating expenses are incurred outside the United States and are denominated in foreign currencies, which 
are also subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, our suppliers 
incur many costs, including labor and supply costs, in other currencies. While we are not currently 
contractually obligated to pay increased costs due to changes in exchange rates, to the extent that exchange 
rates move unfavorably for our suppliers, they may seek to pass these additional costs on to us, which could 
have a material impact on our gross margins. Our operating results and cash flows are, therefore, subject to 
fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. However, we believe that the exposure to 
foreign currency fluctuation from operating expenses is relatively small at this time as the related costs do not 
constitute a significant portion of our total expenses. We have generally not entered into derivatives or 
hedging transactions, as our exposure to foreign currency exchange rates has historically been partially 
hedged as our foreign currency denominated inflows have covered our foreign currency denominated 
expenses. However, we may enter into derivative or hedging transactions in the future if our exposure to 
foreign currency should become more significant.

In 2021, our revenues denominated and recorded in currencies other than U.S. dollars amounted to 65% of 
our total revenues. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the value of the U.S. dollar against the 
principal foreign currencies in which our revenues are measured (namely, the Australian dollar, Chilean Peso, 
Chinese Yuan, British Pound, Euro, Indian Rupee and Brazilian Real) would have caused our revenues to 
decrease or increase, respectively, by approximately $59.5 million.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of 
operations. If our costs become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset 
such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial 
condition and operating results.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of (loss) income, 
comprehensive (loss) income, changes in redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity 
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 
and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting 
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws 
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we 
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are 
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such 
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.

Chicago, Illinois

March 8, 2022
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Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 368,209 $ 490,841 
Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of 
$8,916 and $10,385, respectively  145,874  113,183 

Unbilled receivables  104,057  88,340 
Prepaid expenses  15,994  9,442 
Other current assets  44,805  9,960 

Total current assets  678,939  711,766 
Property and equipment, net  34,500  26,347 
Intangibles and other assets:

Goodwill 346,719 318,151
Trademark 273,000 273,000
Customer relationships, net 125,867 129,055
Other non-current assets  25,125  16,904 

Total assets $ 1,484,150 $ 1,475,223 
Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and 
stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 4,773 $ 4,349 
Long-term debt - current  7,150  4,565 
Income taxes payable  15,693  11,032 
Accrued compensation  79,460  49,896 
Deferred revenue  13,807  11,720 
Value-added tax and sales tax payable  7,954  6,846 
Accrued expenses  51,693  29,749 

Total current liabilities  180,530  118,157 
Long-term debt, less current portion  497,380  435,192 
Deferred tax liabilities  78,944  98,310 
Other long-term liabilities  18,805  16,052 
Total liabilities  775,659  667,711 

THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020
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Commitments and contingencies (See Note 10)
Redeemable, convertible preferred stock:

Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par 
value; zero and 217,902,632 shares authorized, zero and 
23,493,546 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 
December 31, 2020, respectively  —  322,800 
Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par 
value; zero shares authorized, zero issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively  —  — 

Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 and 
zero shares authorized, zero issued and outstanding at 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively

 —  — 

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 1,000,000,000 and zero 
shares authorized, 356,117,752 and zero issued, 305,132,181 
and zero outstanding at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 
2020, respectively  356  — 
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value; zero and 416,194,027 
shares authorized, zero and 272,054,182 issued and outstanding 
at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively  —  272 
Class B common stock, $0.001 par value; zero and 116,577,908 
shares authorized, zero and 5,002,488 issued, zero and 
4,474,514 outstanding at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 
2020, respectively  —  5 
Class C common stock, $0.001 par value; zero and 55,565,172 
shares authorized, zero and 1,838,757 issued, zero and 
1,794,020 outstanding at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 
2020, respectively  —  2 
Treasury stock, 50,985,571 and 572,711 shares at December 31, 
2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively  (629,424)  (1,608) 

Additional paid-in capital  1,390,630  381,172 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (10,863)  (1,589) 
Retained (deficit) earnings  (42,208)  106,458 

Total stockholders' equity  708,491  484,712 
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and 
stockholders' equity $ 1,484,150 $ 1,475,223 

THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31, 
2021

December 31, 
2020

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF (LOSS) INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
Revenues $ 1,069,945 $ 803,375 $ 772,191 
Operating expenses:

Cost of revenues  689,443  475,560  476,631 
Selling, general and administrative expenses  343,786  189,497  203,886 
Depreciation and amortization  17,599  17,479  15,776 

Total operating expenses  1,050,828  682,536  696,293 
Income from operations  19,117  120,839  75,898 
Other (expense) income:

Interest expense  (25,456)  (25,767)  (26,428) 
Net realized and unrealized foreign currency (loss) gain  (5,465)  7,190  (1,750) 
Other (expense) income, net  (1,671)  185  117 

Total other expense  (32,592)  (18,392)  (28,061) 
(Loss) income before income taxes  (13,475)  102,447  47,837 
Income tax expense  10,148  23,164  19,417 
Net (loss) income $ (23,623) $ 79,283 $ 28,420 

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments  (9,274)  8,478  2,894 

Comprehensive (loss) income $ (32,897) $ 87,761 $ 31,314 

Net (loss) earnings per common share:
Basic (loss) earnings per common share $ (0.33) $ 0.26 $ 0.10 
Diluted (loss) earnings per common share $ (0.33) $ 0.26 $ 0.10 

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic  254,271,997  278,225,009  277,762,271 
Diluted  254,271,997  284,582,536  281,495,640 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In thousands, except share data)

Redeemable, Convertible 
Preferred Stock Common Stock Treasury

Additional
Paid-In 
Capital

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss

Retained 
(Deficit)
EarningsShares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Total

Balance as of December 31, 2018  —  —  276,826,982 $ 277  229,689 $ (565) $ 562,326 $ (12,961) $ (1,245) $ 547,832 
Net income  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  28,420  28,420 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  2,894  —  2,894 

Issuance of common stock on exercise of 
options, net of withholding taxes  —  —  1,709,751  2  —  —  3,934  —  —  3,936 
Repurchase of common stock  —  —  (343,022)  —  343,022  (1,043)  —  —  —  (1,043) 
Dividends paid  —  —  —  —  —  —  (189,000)  —  —  (189,000) 
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  1,949  —  —  1,949 
Balance as of December 31, 2019  — $ —  278,193,711 $ 279  572,711 $ (1,608) $ 379,209 $ (10,067) $ 27,175 $ 394,988 
Net income  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  79,283  79,283 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  8,478  —  8,478 

Issuance of common stock on exercise of 
options, net of withholding taxes  —  —  129,005  —  —  —  296  —  —  296 

Issuance of Series A Redeemable Convertible 
Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs of 
$7.2 million  23,493,546  322,800  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  1,667  —  —  1,667 
Balance as of December 31, 2020  23,493,546 $ 322,800  278,322,716 $ 279  572,711 $ (1,608) $ 381,172 $ (1,589) $ 106,458 $ 484,712 
Net loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (23,623)  (23,623) 
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (9,274)  —  (9,274) 
Issuance of common stock upon initial public 
offering, net of issuance costs of $30.3 million  —  —  16,429,964  16  —  —  314,700  —  —  314,716 
Issuance of Redeemable Convertible Preferred 
Stock, net of issuance costs of $11.8 million  35,996,412  503,222  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Conversion of redeemable convertible 
preferred stock to common stock  (59,489,958)  (826,022)  59,489,958  60  —  —  825,962  —  —  826,022 
Issuance of common stock on exercise of 
options, net of withholding taxes  —  —  1,169,090  1  —  —  (852)  —  —  (851) 
Issuance of common stock  —  —  133,313  —  —  —  1,873  —  —  1,873 
Dividends  —  —  —  —  —  —  (279,191)  —  (45,821)  (325,012) 
Tender Offer  —  —  (50,412,860)  —  50,412,860  (627,816)  (10,391)  —  (79,222)  (717,429) 
Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  —  —  —  —  157,357  —  —  157,357 
Balance as of December 31, 2021  — $ —  305,132,181 $ 356  50,985,571 $ (629,424) $ 1,390,630 $ (10,863) $ (42,208) $ 708,491 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income $ (23,623) $ 79,283 $ 28,420 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash 
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense  29,528  26,528  23,268 
Bad debt provision  (601)  7,685  3,762 
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense  (25,827)  3,709  4,165 
Stock-based compensation expense  157,357  1,667  1,949 
Unrealized foreign currency exchange loss (gain)  5,024  (5,351)  703 
Other operating activities, net  3,642  1,831  1,863 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade receivables  (32,139)  3,977  (26,240) 
Unbilled receivables  (16,733)  (16,794)  (19,437) 
Prepaid expenses  (6,542)  308  (1,457) 
Other assets  (31,111)  (5,742)  (347) 
Accounts payable  309  (700)  (27) 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities  59,020  28,895  12,649 

Net cash provided by operating activities  118,304  125,296  29,271 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment  (26,068)  (15,125)  (18,696) 
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets  518  132  99 
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired  (44,759)  —  — 

Net cash used in investing activities  (70,309)  (14,993)  (18,597) 

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from initial public offering, net of issuance costs 
and underwriting discounts  314,716  —  — 

Proceeds from issuance of Series A Redeemable 
Convertible Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs  380,994  322,800  — 

Proceeds from issuance of Series B Redeemable 
Convertible Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs  122,228  —  — 
Payments of obligations of long-term debt  (336,709)  (4,565)  (4,099) 
Payments of debt issuance costs  (7,098)  (111)  (1,606) 
Proceeds from borrowings on revolving credit facility  —  29,000  — 
Payments on revolving credit facility  —  (29,000)  — 
Proceeds from borrowings on long-term debt  401,285  —  185,000 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock on exercise of 
options, net of employee tax withholding  (851)  296  3,936 

Shares and options purchased under Tender offer  (701,960)  —  — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock  1,873  —  — 
Repurchases of common stock  —  —  (1,043) 
Dividends paid  (315,003)  —  (189,000) 
Other financing activities, net  (105)  (223)  248 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  (140,630)  318,197  (6,564) 

THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
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Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents 
and restricted cash  (4,622)  6,543  944 

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and 
restricted cash  (97,257)  435,043  5,054 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of 
the period  492,199  57,156  52,102 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the 
period $ 394,942 $ 492,199 $ 57,156 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 23,611 $ 23,861 $ 24,626 
Income taxes paid $ 33,344 $ 13,909 $ 8,198 
Withholding taxes payable $ 25,956 $ — $ — 

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and 
financing activities:

Conversion of convertible preferred stock to common 
stock $ 826,022 $ — $ — 
Net settlement on exercise of shares $ 3,611 $ — $ — 

THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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 THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 – Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Thoughtworks Holding, Inc., formerly known as Turing Holding Corp., (together with its subsidiaries, the 
“Company”) develops, implements, and services complex enterprise application software and provides 
business technology consulting. The Company conducts business in Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, 
Ecuador, Finland, Germany, Hong Kong, India, Italy, the Netherlands, Romania, Singapore, Spain, Thailand, the 
United Kingdom and the United States. Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. is the ultimate parent holding company of 
Thoughtworks, Inc. among other subsidiaries.

Initial Public Offering

The Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 related to its initial public offering (“IPO”) was declared 
effective on September 14, 2021 and the Company’s common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global 
Select Market on September 15, 2021. The Company's final prospectus (the “IPO Prospectus”) was filed with 
the SEC on September 16, 2021. On September 17, 2021 (the “IPO Closing Date”), the Company closed its IPO 
pursuant to which an aggregate of 42,368,421 shares of its common stock were sold, which includes the 
issuance and sale of 16,429,964 shares of the Company's common stock, the sale by selling stockholders of 
20,412,142 shares of the Company's common stock, and the full exercise of the underwriters' option to 
purchase 5,526,315 additional shares of common stock from certain of the selling stockholders, at the IPO 
price of $21.00 per share. The Company received net proceeds of $314.7 million, after deducting the 
underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses of approximately $30.3 million. Prior to 
the completion of the IPO, all shares of the Company's Class A, Class B and Class C common stock then 
outstanding were converted into 5,259,163 shares of common stock on a 1-for-1 basis, and upon the 
completion of the IPO, all 1,365,058 shares of the Company’s outstanding Series A and B redeemable 
convertible preferred stock converted into an equivalent number of shares of common stock on a 1-for-1 
basis. 

Additionally, after the conversion described above and prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company 
effected an approximate 43.6-for-1 split of each outstanding share of common stock (the "Stock Split"). All 
share and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to effect the Stock Split for all periods 
presented, except where otherwise noted.

Post-IPO, offering expenses, which consist of direct incremental legal, accounting, and consulting fees 
relating to the IPO, were recorded as equity issuance costs as a reduction to additional paid-in capital on the 
consolidated statement of stockholders' equity. These offering expenses, net of reimbursement received 
from the underwriters upon completion of the IPO, totaled approximately $30.3 million, of which $19.0 million 
related to underwriting discounts and commissions and $11.3 million related to offering expenses.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. and 
its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain amounts in the prior period consolidated financial statements and notes have been reclassified to 
conform to the 2021 presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on results of operations previously 
reported.

Preparation of Financial Statements and Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements is in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, the Company 
evaluates its estimates, including those related to allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation and impairment 
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of goodwill and long-lived assets, income taxes, accrued bonus, contingencies, stock-based compensation, 
including the underlying deemed fair value of common stock (prior to the completion of the IPO), and litigation 
costs. The Company bases its estimates on current expectations and historical experience and on other 
assumptions that its management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates form 
the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities when those values are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results can differ from those estimates, and such differences may 
be material to the consolidated financial statements in the future. In management’s opinion, all adjustments 
considered necessary for a fair presentation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements have 
been included, and all adjustments are of a normal and recurring nature.

Segments

The Company operates as one operating segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an 
enterprise for which separate financial information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision 
maker (“CODM”), in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance.

While the Company has offerings in multiple modern digital businesses and operates in multiple countries, the 
Company’s business operates in one operating segment because most of the Company's service offerings are 
delivered and supported on a global basis and are deployed in a nearly identical way. The Company’s CODM 
evaluates the Company’s financial information, allocates resources and assesses the performance of these 
resources on a consolidated basis.

Long-Lived Assets 

The North America geographic region encompasses the Company’s country of domicile (United States) and 
Canada, of which long-lived assets including property and equipment, net of depreciation, are principally held 
within the United States. The United States comprised $7.9 million, or 23.0%, and $4.6 million, or 17.4%, of 
the Company’s long-lived assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Canadian long-lived assets 
were determined to be immaterial given property, and equipment was less than 10% of the Company's long-
lived assets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

The Company holds material long-lived assets in the foreign geographic locations of Brazil, China, and India 
of $5.1 million, $7.3 million, and $7.5 million as of December 31, 2021, respectively, compared to $2.8 million, 
$7.6 million, and $5.3 million as of December  31, 2020, respectively. Long-lived assets in all other foreign 
geographic locations, including Canada, totaled $6.6 million and $6.0 million as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when control of services is passed to a customer in an amount that 
reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services. Such control 
may be transferred over time or at a point in time, depending on satisfaction of obligations stipulated by the 
contract. The Company records sales and other taxes collected from customers and remitted to 
governmental authorities on a net basis.

The Company generates revenue from a variety of professional service arrangements. Fees for these 
contracts may be in the form of time-and-materials and fixed price. The Company also reports gross 
reimbursable expenses incurred as both revenue and cost of revenues in the consolidated statements of 
(loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.

Revenue is measured based on consideration specified in a contract with a customer, which may consist of 
both fixed and variable components, and the consideration expected to be received is allocated to each 
separately identifiable performance obligation based on the performance obligation’s relative stand-alone 
selling price. The standalone selling prices are generally determined based on the prices at which the 
Company separately sells the services.

Contracts may include variable consideration, which usually takes the form of volume-based discounts, 
service level credits, price concessions, or incentives. To the extent that variable consideration is not 
constrained, the Company includes the expected amount within the total transaction price and updates its 
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assumptions over the duration of the contract. Determining the estimated amount of such variable 
consideration involves assumptions and judgment that can have an impact on the amount of revenues 
reported. The amount of variable consideration is estimated utilizing the expected value or most likely amount 
method, depending on the facts and circumstances relative to the contract.

Time-and-Material Revenue

The Company generates the majority of its revenues under time-and-material contracts, which are billed 
using hourly, daily, or monthly rates to determine the amounts to be charged directly to the customer. 
Revenue from time-and-material contracts is based on the number of hours worked and at contractually 
agreed-upon hourly rates and is recognized as those services are rendered as control of the services passes 
to the customer over time.

Fixed-Price Revenue

Fixed-price contracts include application development arrangements, where progress towards satisfaction of 
the performance obligation is measured using input methods as there is a direct correlation between hours 
incurred and the end product delivered to the customer. Assumptions, risks, and uncertainties inherent in the 
estimates used to measure progress could affect the amount of revenues, receivables, and deferred 
revenues at each reporting period. Revenues under these contracts are recognized using costs incurred to 
date relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward satisfying performance 
obligations.

Principal vs Agent Consideration

From time to time, the Company may enter into arrangements with third-party suppliers to sell services. In 
such cases, the Company evaluates whether it is the principal (i.e., reports revenues on a gross basis) or the 
agent (i.e., reports revenues on a net basis). In doing so, the Company first evaluates whether it has control of 
the service before it is transferred to the customer. If the Company controls the service before it is 
transferred to the customer, the Company is the principal; if not, the Company is the agent. Determining 
whether the Company controls the service before it is transferred to the customer may require judgment.

Contract Balances

A contract asset is a right to consideration that is conditional upon factors other than the passage of time. 
Contract assets primarily relate to unbilled amounts on fixed-price contracts. Contract assets are recorded 
when services have been provided but the Company does not have an unconditional right to receive 
consideration. Professional services performed on or prior to the balance sheet date, but invoiced thereafter, 
are reflected in unbilled receivables.

Contract liabilities, or deferred revenue, consist of advance payments from clients and billings in excess of 
revenues recognized. The Company classifies deferred revenue as current on the consolidated balance sheet 
and is recognized as revenue as the Company performs under the contract. These balances are generally 
short-term in nature and are recognized as revenue within one year.

Costs to Obtain a Customer Contract

The Company incurs certain incremental costs to obtain a contract that the Company expects to recover. The 
Company applies a practical expedient and recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining contracts as an 
expense when incurred if the amortization period of the assets that the Company otherwise would have 
recognized is one year or less. The Company capitalizes incremental costs of obtaining contracts where the 
contract term is greater than one year. These costs primarily relate to commissions paid to the account 
executives and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of 
(loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income for contracts one year or less and other current assets and 
other non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheets for contracts greater than one year.

Costs capitalized are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of benefit. The Company determined 
the period of benefit by taking into consideration standard contract terms, renewals and amendments, if 
applicable. The capitalized amounts are recoverable through future revenue streams under all non-cancelable 
customer contracts. The Company periodically evaluates whether there have been any changes in its 
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business, the market conditions in which it operates or other events which would indicate that its amortization 
period should be changed or if there are potential indicators of impairment.

Amortization of capitalized costs to obtain contracts is included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income. For the year 
ended December 31, 2021, the Company capitalized $2.3 million of costs to obtain contracts and recorded 
amortization expense of $0.3 million. There were no impairments of costs to obtain contracts for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not capitalize 
any costs to obtain contracts and did not recognize any amortization expense. The balance of the capitalized 
costs was $2.0 million as of December 31, 2021.

Cost of Revenues

Consists primarily of personnel and related costs directly associated with the professional services, including 
salaries, bonuses, fringe benefits, share-based compensation, project related travel costs; and costs of 
contracted third-party vendors. Also included in cost of revenues is depreciation attributable to the portion of 
our property and equipment utilized in the delivery of services to our clients.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Consists of expenses associated with promoting and selling the Company’s services and general and 
administrative functions of the business. These expenses include the costs of salaries, bonuses, fringe 
benefits, commissions, stock-based compensation, severance, bad debt, travel, legal and accounting 
services, insurance, facilities including operating leases, advertising and other promotional activities.

Advertising costs consist of marketing, advertising through print and other media, professional event 
sponsorship, and public relations. These costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs totaled $2.3 
million, $0.9 million and $1.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and 
are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of (loss) income 
and comprehensive (loss) income.

Other (Expense) Income

Other (expense) income consists of interest expense, impacts from foreign exchange transactions, gains 
(losses) on the sale of assets and the write-off of deferred financing fees.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments and deposits that are readily converted into cash, 
with maturities of three months or less.

Restricted Cash 

Restricted cash is included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and 
end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. Restricted cash is restricted as to 
withdrawal or use. The Company has restricted cash held on deposit at various financial institutions. The 
amounts are held in escrow for income tax withholdings, to secure bank guarantees of amounts related to 
government requirements, and collateral for a corporate credit card. 
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A reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash to the consolidated balance sheet is as follows 
(in thousands):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ 368,209 $ 490,841 

Restricted cash included in other current assets  25,478  — 

Restricted cash included in other non-current assets  1,254  1,358 

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 394,942 $ 492,199 

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms. Payment terms 
with customers are generally 30 to 90 days from the invoice date. Accounts receivable are recorded at the 
invoiced amount net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on 
our assessment of the collectability of customer accounts. Interest is not generally accrued on outstanding 
balances as the balances are considered short-term in nature.

The carrying amount of accounts receivable is reduced by an allowance that reflects management’s best 
estimate of the amounts that will not be collected. The Company estimates the collectability of its accounts 
receivable based on a combination of factors including, but not limited to, customer credit ratings, age of the 
accounts receivable balances, and current and historical experience. In circumstances where the Company is 
aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to the Company (e.g., bankruptcy 
filings or substantial downgrading of credit ratings), the Company provides allowances for doubtful accounts 
against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount it reasonably believes will be 
collected. Accounts receivable deemed uncollectible are charged against the allowance once collection 
efforts have been exhausted.

Activity related to the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Balance, beginning of year $ (10,385) $ (2,733) $ (1,278) 
Charged to expense  (281)  (8,305)  (5,891) 
Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries  882  620  2,129 
Changes due to exchange rates  868  33  2,307 
Balance, end of year $ (8,916) $ (10,385) $ (2,733) 

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is 
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. The 
estimated useful lives, by asset class, are as follows:

Office furniture and equipment 3 to 7 years
Computer equipment 2 to 3 years
Software, including internal-use software 3 to 5 years 
Automobiles 4 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their estimated 
useful lives or the terms of the related leases.
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The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets, 
for realizability on an ongoing basis. Changes in depreciation, generally accelerated depreciation, are 
determined and recorded when estimates of the remaining useful lives or residual values of long-term assets 
change. The Company also reviews for impairment when conditions exist that indicate the carrying amount of 
the asset group may not be fully recoverable. In those circumstances, the Company performs undiscounted 
operating cash flow analyses to determine if an impairment exists. When testing for asset impairment, the 
Company groups assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which cash flows are separately identifiable. Any 
impairment loss is calculated as the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its estimated fair value. Fair 
value is estimated based on the discounted cash flows for the asset group over the remaining useful life or 
based on the expected cash proceeds for the asset less costs of disposal.

Internal-Use Software

In accordance with ASC 350-40, Internal-Use Software, certain costs incurred in the planning and evaluation 
stage of internal-use computer software are expensed as incurred. Certain costs incurred during the 
application development stage are capitalized and included in property and equipment. Capitalized costs are 
depreciated over the expected economic useful life of three to five years using the straight-line method.

Capitalized internal-use software asset depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 
and 2019 was $2.2 million, $3.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively, and is included in depreciation and 
amortization in the consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income. As of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the net book value of internal-use software was $5.6 million and $2.0 million, 
respectively.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the net assets acquired in a business 
combination. When the Company acquires a business, the purchase price is allocated to the assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. During the 
measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, adjustments to the fair value of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed may be recorded, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the 
conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the consolidated statement of 
operations.

The Company performs an annual impairment review of goodwill in its fiscal fourth quarter and additional 
impairment reviews when events and circumstances indicate it is more likely than not that an impairment may 
have occurred. The Company assesses goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level.

In evaluating goodwill for impairment, the Company has the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to 
determine whether further impairment testing is necessary or to perform a quantitative assessment by 
comparing the fair value of the reporting units to their carrying amount, including goodwill. Under the 
qualitative assessment, an entity is not required to calculate the fair value of a reporting unit unless the entity 
determines that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount. Qualitative factors 
include macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, and overall financial 
performance, among others.

Under a quantitative assessment, fair value of the Company’s reporting units are estimated using a weighted 
methodology considering the output from both the income and market approaches. The income approach 
incorporates the use of a discounted cash flow (DCF) analysis. A number of judgments are involved in the 
application of the DCF model, including projections of business performance, weighted average cost of 
capital, and terminal values. The market approach is performed using the Guideline Public Companies method 
which is based on earnings multiple data derived from publicly traded peer group companies. The Company 
elected to perform a qualitative assessment during fiscal 2021 and a quantitative assessment during fiscal 
2020 and determined for both periods that the fair value of the Company’s respective reporting units 
exceeded their carrying amounts.
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Intangible Assets, net

In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, the Company amortizes its finite-lived 
intangible assets over their respective estimated useful lives. The Company reviews both indefinite-lived 
intangibles and finite-lived intangibles for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that they may be impaired. Impairment indicators could include significant 
under-performance relative to the historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the 
manner of use of assets, significant negative industry or economic trends or significant changes in the 
Company’s market capitalization relative to net book value. Any changes in key assumptions used by the 
Company, including those set forth above, could result in an impairment charge and such a charge could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive 
(loss) income. The Company’s intangible assets consist of indefinite-lived trademarks and finite-lived 
customer relationships. Customer relationships have an estimated useful life of 15 years and are being 
amortized using the straight-line method.

Income Taxes

The Company is subject to both the United States of America (U.S.) and foreign income taxes. A current tax 
asset or liability is recognized for the estimated taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the year.

Deferred income taxes are recorded to reflect the tax consequences on future years of the difference 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities for income taxes and for financial reporting purposes using 
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which differences are expected to reverse. The Company nets the 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities from temporary differences arising within the same tax 
jurisdiction and presents the net asset or liability as long term.

The Company assesses the need to account for deferred taxes on unremitted earnings of its foreign 
subsidiaries on an individual country basis according to management’s assertions regarding repatriation or 
permanent investment of each country’s accumulated earnings.

A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amounts 
expected to be realized.

The Company classifies interest and penalties associated with tax liabilities as income tax expense in the 
consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income.

The Company provides for tax expense related to Global Intangible Low-Tax Income ("GILTI") in the year the 
tax is incurred.

The Company’s provision for income taxes includes the impact of provisions established for uncertain income 
tax positions, as well as any related interest and penalties. These reserves are adjusted given changing facts 
and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit, statute of limitation lapse or the refinement of an 
estimate. To the extent the final outcome of an uncertain income tax position differs from the amounts 
recorded, such differences will impact the provision for income taxes in the period in which such 
determination is made.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Accumulated other comprehensive income consists solely of foreign currency translation adjustments.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of consolidated foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are 
translated into U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates and revenues and expenses are translated into U.S. 
dollars at average exchange rates for the applicable period. The adjustment resulting from translating the 
financial statements of such foreign subsidiaries into U.S. dollars is reflected as a cumulative translation 
adjustment and reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income.
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For consolidated foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar, transactions and balances 
denominated in the local currency are foreign currency transactions. Foreign currency transactions and 
balances related to non-monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to the functional currency of the 
subsidiary at historical exchange rates while monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to the functional 
currency of the subsidiary at period-end exchange rates. Foreign currency exchange gains or losses from 
remeasurement are included in income in the period in which they occur.

Commitments and Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist as of the date of the consolidated financial statements which may result in a loss 
to the Company but will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Such 
liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, penalties, and other 
sources, are recorded when the Company assesses that it is probable that a future liability has been incurred 
and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Recoveries of costs from third parties, which the Company 
assesses as being probable of realization, are recorded to the extent of related contingent liabilities accrued. 
Legal costs incurred in connection with matters relating to contingencies are expensed in the period incurred. 
The Company records gain contingencies when realized.

Deferred Financing Fees

Deferred financing fees represent third-party debt issuance costs associated with the related debt facility. 
Deferred financing fees associated with the Company’s debt agreements are treated as a discount on the 
outstanding debt balance and amortized over the term of the respective debt facility, using the effective 
interest rate method and reported as a component of interest expense. Debt discounts on the Company’s 
debt are reflected as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the long-term portion of the related debt 
liability.

The Company recorded interest expense as it relates to deferred financing fees of $1.6 million, $1.8 million 
and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair values of its financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy. ASC 
820, Fair Value Measurement, includes a fair value hierarchy that is intended to increase consistency and 
comparability in fair value measurements and related disclosures. The fair value hierarchy is based on 
observable or unobservable inputs to valuation techniques that are used to measure fair value. Observable 
inputs reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on market data 
obtained from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect a reporting entity’s pricing based upon 
its own market assumptions.

The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels:

• Level 1: Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market, quoted prices for 

identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active and inputs other than quoted prices 
that are observable and market-corroborated inputs, which are derived principally from or corroborated 
by observable market data.

• Level 3: Inputs that are derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or 
value drivers are unobservable.

The fair value of certain assets, such as nonfinancial assets, primarily long-lived assets, goodwill, intangible 
assets and certain other assets, are recognized or disclosed in connection with impairment evaluations. All 
non-recurring valuations use significant unobservable inputs and therefore fall under Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy.

The carrying amounts of financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and 
accounts payable approximated fair value as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, because of the relatively short 
maturity of these instruments. Additionally, the Company estimates the fair value of the Term Loan, discussed 
in Note 14, Credit Agreements, using current market yields. These current market yields are considered Level 
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2 inputs. The fair value of the Term Loan was $485.0 million and $468.0 million at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for employee and Director equity-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, 
Compensation – Stock Compensation. Accordingly, compensation expense is based on the grant date fair 
value of those awards and is recognized over the requisite service period for the respective award. The 
Company’s equity-based awards issued to employees include stock option awards, which vest based on 
either time or the achievement of certain performance and market conditions, as well as restricted stock units 
("RSUs"). The RSUs are granted to both employees and directors. The fair value of the options and RSUs is 
determined using the grant date stock price of the Company’s common stock. 

At the time of grant, the Company takes into consideration the timing of the equity award and evaluates for 
conditions that could result in the award to be considered spring loaded. The Company did not grant equity 
awards that would be considered spring loaded in 2021.

Compensation expense resulting from time vesting based awards will be recognized in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income, over the requisite service period 
(typically one to four years on an accelerated basis for time vested awards). Compensation expense resulting 
from performance awards will be recognized over the requisite service period when it is probable that the 
performance condition will be met. The calculated compensation expense for performance awards is adjusted 
based on an estimate of awards ultimately expected to vest. The Company records forfeitures as they occur.

Common Stock Valuation Prior to the IPO Closing Date

Prior to the IPO Closing Date, due to the absence of an active market for the Company’s common stock, the 
Company utilized methodologies in accordance with the framework of the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants’ Technical Practice Aid, Valuation of Privately-Held Company Equity Securities Issued as 
Compensation, to estimate the fair value of common stock. The valuation methodology included estimates 
and assumptions that required the Company’s judgment. These estimates and assumptions included a 
number of objective and subjective factors, including external market conditions affecting the industry sector, 
and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an IPO, reverse merger or sale.

Refer to Note 12, Stock-Based Compensation, for more information on equity-based awards and the related 
activity that occurred in connection with the IPO as well as post IPO.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 
("ASU") No. 2018-13, Disclosure Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value 
Measurement, which amends ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. This ASU modifies the disclosure 
requirements for fair value measurements by removing, modifying, or adding certain disclosures. The 
effective date is the first quarter of fiscal year 2020, with early adoption permitted for the removed 
disclosures and delayed adoption until fiscal year 2020 permitted for the new disclosures. The removed and 
modified disclosures were adopted on a retrospective basis and the new disclosures will be adopted on a 
prospective basis. The adoption of ASU 2018-13 did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software 
(Subtopic 350-40): Customers Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing 
Arrangement That is a Service Contract. ASU 2018-15 is intended to help entities evaluate the accounting for 
fees paid by a customer in a cloud computing arrangement (hosting arrangement) by providing guidance for 
determining when the arrangement includes a software license. The ASU is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. In the third quarter of 2021, the Company early adopted ASU 2018-15 
and this adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting 
for Income Taxes, as part of its simplification initiative to reduce the cost and complexity in accounting for 
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income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions related to the approach for intra-period tax 
allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period and the recognition of deferred 
tax liabilities for outside basis differences. ASU 2019-12 also amends other aspects of the guidance to help 
simplify and promote consistent application of GAAP. The guidance became effective for interim and annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 
2019-12 on a prospective basis. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which amends existing accounting 
standards for lease accounting and requires lessees to recognize virtually all their leases on the balance 
sheet by recording a right-of-use asset and a lease liability (for other than short term leases). The Company 
anticipates that the adoption of this standard will materially affect the consolidated balance sheet and may 
require changes to processes used to account for leases. The Company will adopt this new standard in the 
fiscal year beginning January 1, 2022, based on its status as an emerging growth company. The Company is 
electing the modified retrospective transition method, and as a result, the Company will not adjust its 
comparative period financial information or make the new required lease disclosures for periods before the 
date of adoption. 

The Company has evaluated to use the package of practical expedients, which permits the Company to not 
reassess: (i) whether a contract is or contains a lease, (ii) lease classification, and (iii) initial direct costs 
resulting from the lease. The Company has not elected the hindsight practical expedient, which permits the 
use of hindsight when determining lease term and impairment of operating lease assets. The Company has 
evaluated the short-term lease exception, which allows the Company to keep leases with terms of 12 months 
or less off the balance sheet. The Company has also evaluated the option to combine lease and non-lease 
components as a single component for the Company's entire population of lease assets. The Company 
continues to finalize its implementation efforts, and under the transition method, may record an adjustment to 
retained earnings as a cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2022.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement 
of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which amends the current accounting guidance and requires the 
measurement of all expected losses based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts, or a current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model. For trade receivables, loans, and 
other financial instruments, companies will be required to use a forward-looking expected loss model rather 
than the incurred loss model for recognizing credit losses which reflects losses that are probable. In 
November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10 which delayed the effective date for the CECL standard. This 
guidance and related amendments is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. This guidance also 
expands the required credit loss disclosures and will be applied using a modified retrospective approach by 
recording a cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year of 
adoption. The Company is planning to adopt ASU 2016-13 in 2022 and anticipates that it will mainly impact 
accounts receivable and unbilled revenue. The Company has analyzed its historical credit loss experience and 
considered current conditions and reasonable forecasts in developing the expected credit loss rates. The 
Company is currently finalizing the CECL methodology and is assessing the impact to the applicable 
outstanding balances. Once the Company's CECL methodology is finalized, the Company intends to record an 
adjustment to retained earnings as a cumulative-effect adjustment.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects 
of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting, which provides temporary optional expedients and 
exceptions for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contracts, hedging relationships, and 
other transactions to ease the financial reporting burdens related to the expected market transition from 
LIBOR and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates. The optional amendments are 
effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The Company is currently assessing the impact 
of this ASU on the consolidated financial statements and will adopt this new standard in the fiscal year 
beginning January 1, 2023 based on its status as an emerging growth company.

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Disclosures by Business Entities About Government 
Assistance (Topic 832), which requires business entities to provide certain disclosures when they (1) have 
received government assistance and (2) use a grant or contribution accounting model by analogy to other 
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accounting guidance. The guidance is effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2021. Entities may apply the ASU’s provisions either (1) prospectively to all transactions within the scope of 
ASC 832 that are reflected in the financial statements as of the adoption date and all new transactions 
entered into after the date of adoption or (2) retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is 
currently assessing the impact of this ASU on the consolidated financial statements and will adopt this new 
standard in the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2022 based on its status as an emerging growth company.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

Revenue generated from the Company's operations outside of the United States for the years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was 65%, 61% and 64%, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, approximately 73% and 74%, respectively, of trade accounts receivable 
and unbilled accounts receivable was due from customers located outside the United States. At 
December  31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had net fixed assets of $26.6  million and $21.8 million, 
respectively, outside the United States.

Note 2 – Revenue Recognition

The Company disaggregates revenues from contracts with customers by geographic customer location, 
industry vertical and revenue contract types. Geographic customer location is pertinent to understanding the 
Company's revenues, as the Company generates its revenues from providing professional services to 
customers in various regions across the world. The Company groups customers into one of five industry 
verticals. Revenue contract types are differentiated by the type of pricing structure for customer contracts, 
which is predominantly time-and-materials, but also includes fixed price contracts. 

Disaggregation of Revenues

The following table presents the disaggregation of the Company’s revenues by customer location (in 
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Customer Location:
North America (1) $ 396,491 $ 321,237 $ 296,534 
APAC (2)  358,596  248,776  241,765 
Europe (3)  267,121  195,372  191,237 
LATAM  47,737  37,990  42,655 

Total revenues $ 1,069,945 $ 803,375 $ 772,191 

(1) For the years ended December  31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the United States represented 34.8%, or 
$372.8  million; 38.2%, or $307.2  million; and 36.6%, or $282.5  million, respectively, of the Company’s 
total revenues. Canadian operations were determined to be immaterial given the revenues generated 
from such operations as a percentage of total North America revenues was less than 10% for each of the 
years.

(2) For the year ended December 31, 2021, Australia, which is included in the Asia-Pacific region ("APAC"), 
represented 10.9%, or $116.5 million, of the Company's total revenues. For the year ended December 31, 
2021, the revenues generated in China as a percentage of the Company’s total revenues was less than 
10.0%. For the years ended December  31, 2020 and 2019, the revenues generated in Australia as a 
percentage of the Company’s total revenues was less than 10%. For the years ended December 31, 2020 
and 2019, the revenues generated in China were 10.4%, or $83.5  million, and 11.9%, or $91.5  million, 
respectively, of the Company's total revenues.
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(3) For the year ended December  31, 2021, Germany and the United Kingdom, which are included in the 
Europe region, represented 10.6%, or $113.8 million, and 10.8%, or $115.2 million, of the Company’s total 
revenues, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the revenues generated in Germany and 
the United Kingdom represented 10.1%, or $81.5  million, and 11.1%, or $89.2  million, of the Company’s 
total revenues, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the revenues generated in Germany 
and the United Kingdom represented 10.0%, or $77.1  million, and 12.6%, or $97.2  million, of the 
Company’s total revenues, respectively. 

Other foreign countries were determined to be immaterial given the revenues generated from such operations 
as a percentage of the Company’s total revenues was less than 10% for the years ended December 31, 2021, 
2020 and 2019.

The following table presents the disaggregation of the Company’s revenues by industry vertical (in 
thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Technology and business services $ 288,709 $ 228,514 $ 174,049 
Energy, public and health services  275,279  200,785  152,238 
Retail and consumer  203,193  141,729  149,739 
Financial services and insurance  170,492  123,291  152,419 
Automotive, travel and transportation  132,272  108,656  142,061 
Other  —  400  1,685 
Total revenues $ 1,069,945 $ 803,375 $ 772,191 

The following table presents the disaggregation of the Company’s revenues by contract type (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Contract Types:
Time-and-material $ 872,271 $ 675,715 $ 662,710 
Fixed-price  197,674  127,313  107,862 
Licensing  —  347  1,619 

Total revenues $ 1,069,945 $ 803,375 $ 772,191 

Contract Balances 

The following table is a summary of the Company’s contract assets and contract liabilities (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Contract assets included in unbilled receivables $ 25,408 $ 19,790 
Contract liabilities included in deferred revenue $ 13,807 $ 11,720 

Contract liabilities represent amounts collected from the Company’s customers for revenues not yet earned. 
Such amounts are anticipated to be recorded as revenues when services are performed in subsequent 
periods. For the years ended December  31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $11.4  million and 
$9.0 million, respectively, of revenues that were included in current liabilities at the prior year end.
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Transaction Price Allocated to Remaining Performance Obligations

The Company does not have material future performance obligations that extend beyond one year. 
Accordingly, the Company has applied the optional exemption for contracts that have an original expected 
duration of one year or less.

Note 3 – Acquisitions

On January 12, 2021, the Company entered into an equity purchase agreement (the “Gemini Purchase 
Agreement”) with Gemini Solutions, LLC, ("Gemini") a California limited liability company (previously Gemini 
Solutions, Inc., a California corporation), LTN Ventures, Inc. (“LTN”), a California corporation, Theodor Nissim 
and Lisa Nissim. On January 29, 2021, the Company entered into an equity purchase agreement (the 
“Fourkind Purchase Agreement”) with the sellers of Fourkind Global Oy ("Fourkind"), a Finnish limited liability 
company.

The Company completed the acquisitions of the two businesses, Gemini, a software development and 
consulting services firm with a development center in Romania covering a broad spectrum of technologies 
across the entire software product development lifecycle, and Fourkind, a Finnish consulting services firm 
that combines machine learning and data science with strategy, design and engineering, in all cash 
transactions during the first quarter of 2021 for an aggregate gross purchase price of $46.6 million, or $44.8 
million net of cash acquired of $1.8 million.

These acquisitions were intended to complement existing operations and to expand into new geographic 
markets. The Company accounted for these acquisitions under ASC 805, Business Combinations. The 
goodwill identified by these acquisitions reflects the benefits expected to be derived from expansion, as well 
as certain operational synergies. The fair value of the net assets acquired for these businesses was 
determined using Level 3 inputs, for which little or no market data exists, requiring the Company to develop 
assumptions regarding future cash flow projections. Upon consummation of these acquisitions, each of these 
businesses is now wholly-owned by the Company. The results of operations of these acquired businesses 
have been included in the consolidated statements of (loss) income and comprehensive (loss) income from 
the acquisition date. Pro forma results of operations for these acquisitions are not presented because the pro 
forma effects, individually or in the aggregate, were not material to the Company's consolidated results of 
operations.

Aggregate acquisition-related costs of $8.5 million for the year ended December  31, 2021 were included 
within selling, general and administrative expenses within the consolidated statements of (loss) income and 
comprehensive (loss) income.

The Company's final allocation of the fair value of underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the 
acquisition date is as follows (in thousands):

Total

Customer relationship $ 11,100 

Property and equipment  259 

Other assets/liabilities, net  4,228 

Deferred taxes  (1,646) 

Goodwill  32,615 

Total gross purchase price $ 46,556 

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. For the Fourkind acquisition, the changes in fair value allocated to goodwill, tangible and intangible 
assets are not deductible for tax purposes. The Gemini acquisition was considered an asset acquisition for tax 
purposes; therefore, goodwill of $25.2 million is deductible for tax purposes.
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Note 4 – Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of the changes in the carrying value of goodwill (in thousands):

Total
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 314,037 
Changes due to exchange rates  4,114 
Balance as of December 31, 2020  318,151 
Additions due to acquisitions  32,615 
Changes due to exchange rates  (4,047) 
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 346,719 

The following is a summary of other intangible assets as of December 31, (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Customer relationships $ 177,100 $ 166,000 
Less accumulated amortization  46,184  34,122 
Customer relationships, net  130,916  131,878 
Trademark  273,000  273,000 
Total intangible assets, after amortization  403,916  404,878 
Changes due to exchange rates  (5,049)  (2,823) 
Intangible assets, net $ 398,867 $ 402,055 

Other than indefinite-lived trademarks, the Company’s intangible assets have finite lives and, as such, are 
subject to amortization. The weighted average remaining useful life of the Company’s finite-lived intangible 
assets was 10.6 years and 11.9 years as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Amortization expense 
related to these intangible assets was $12.0  million, $10.5  million and $10.6  million for the years ended 
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, estimated amortization expense for the next five years and thereafter is as follows 
(in thousands):

Total
2022 $ 12,300 

2023  12,300 

2024  12,300 

2025  12,300 

2026  12,300 

Thereafter  69,416 
$ 130,916 
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Note 5 – Income Taxes

(Loss)/Income Before Provision for Income Taxes

(Loss)/income before provision for income taxes based on geographic location is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

(Loss)/income before provision for income taxes:
United States $ (36,767) $ 45,679 $ (7,367) 
Foreign  23,292  56,768  55,204 

Total $ (13,475) $ 102,447 $ 47,837 

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision/(benefit) for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Current:
Federal $ 9,839 $ 704 $ 768 
State  5,071  2,316  1,962 
Foreign  24,199  18,001  13,310 

Total Current  39,109  21,021  16,040 

Deferred:
Federal  (10,957)  5,972  4,623 
State  (2,969)  862  1,618 
Foreign  (15,035)  (4,691)  (2,864) 

Total Deferred  (28,961)  2,143  3,377 
Total Income Tax Expense $ 10,148 $ 23,164 $ 19,417 

On June 10, 2021, the United Kingdom enacted legislation increasing its corporate income tax rate from 19% 
to 25% beginning April  1, 2023. As a change in tax law is accounted for in the period of enactment, the 
Company recorded a $0.9 million tax expense on the remeasurement of the Company’s United Kingdom net 
deferred tax liabilities.

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES”) Act was enacted and 
signed into law. The CARES Act, among other things, permits U.S. federal net operating loss (“NOL”) 
carryovers and carrybacks to offset 100% of taxable income for taxable years beginning before 2021. In 
addition, the CARES Act allows NOLs incurred in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to be carried back to each of the five 
preceding taxable years to generate a refund of previously paid income taxes. Further, the CARES Act permits 
modifications to the limitation of business interest (“Section 163(j)”) for tax years beginning in 2019 and 2020. 
The modifications to Section 163(j) increase the allowable business interest deduction from 30% of adjusted 
taxable income to 50% of adjusted taxable income. In 2020, the Company completed its analysis to determine 
the effect of the CARES Act and recorded a $4.2  million tax benefit as of December 31, 2020 from the 
carryback of 2018 U.S. federal net operating losses to the 2014 taxable year. The Company recorded the 
refund as an income tax receivable.
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Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation

A reconciliation of the Company’s provision for income taxes to income taxes computed at the U.S. federal 
statutory income tax rate of 21% is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Provision for income taxes at federal statutory rate $ (2,830) $ 21,514 $ 10,046 
Increase/(decrease) in taxes resulting from:

Non-deductible expenses  3,065  1,297  652 
Research and development and foreign tax credits  (16,311)  (13,251)  (7,255) 
Effect of foreign taxes and foreign exchange rates  4,675  4,082  1,237 
GILTI and related international adjustments  8,971  6,714  11,188 
§162(m) limitation on executive compensation  7,709  —  — 
Stock-based compensation excess tax benefits  (8,206)  (22)  (413) 
US state income taxes, net of federal tax benefit  585  2,892  2,763 
Change in deferred tax valuation allowance  11,067  4,145  (8) 
CARES Act US federal net operating loss carryback benefit  —  (4,188)  — 
U.K. rate change  855  —  — 
Adjustments of prior year estimates and other  (2,566)  (1,585)  341 
Adjustments associated with income tax uncertainties  3,134  1,566  866 

Total income tax expense $ 10,148 $ 23,164 $ 19,417 

Deferred Income Taxes

The components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities include the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Deferred income tax assets on:
Accrued expenses $ 6,650 $ 7,765 
Goodwill  1,305  47 
Net operating loss carryforwards  6,394  7,664 
Research and development and foreign tax credit carryforwards  1,505  2,896 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  2,717  3,012 
Fixed assets  1,817  732 
Stock-based compensation  38,050  1,399 
Business interest  6,727  3,586 
Other assets  2,122  1,312 

Total deferred tax assets  67,287  28,413 
Total valuation allowance  (17,703)  (6,834) 

Total deferred tax assets $ 49,584 $ 21,579 
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As of December 31,
2021 2020

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unremitted earnings of subsidiaries and unrealized translation gains $ (3,878) $ (3,987) 
Prepaid expenses  (2,597)  (1,585) 
Fixed assets  (1,071)  (783) 
Deferred revenue  —  (1,529) 
Customer relationships  (33,500)  (33,662) 
Trademark  (73,028)  (73,028) 
Internally developed software  (1,280)  (430) 
Other liabilities  (932)  (593) 

Total deferred tax liabilities  (116,286)  (115,597) 
Total deferred tax liabilities, net $ (66,702) $ (94,018) 

Management believes that it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets will not be realized. At 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company established a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in 
select non-US jurisdictions of approximately $8.1  million and $0.4  million, respectively. The Company 
established a valuation allowance of approximately $8.9 million and $4.3 million at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, respectively, for a separate company U.S. federal net operating loss carryforward and separate 
company U.S. federal limitation of business interest. The Company established a valuation allowance of 
approximately $0.8 million and $2.1 million for certain foreign tax credits at December  31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively.

At December  31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had U.S. state net operating loss carryforward benefits of 
$0.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively. The majority of U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards have 
expiration periods that range from 10 to 20 years.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately 
$15.2 million and $23.5 million, respectively. For all material jurisdictions, the net operating loss carryforward 
period is indefinite.

As of December  31, 2021 and 2020, the Company does not assert permanent reinvestment on previously 
taxed foreign earnings with the exception of India, where the Company is permanently reinvested. Deferred 
tax liabilities of $3.0 million and $2.6 million, respectively, have been accrued on the foreign withholding taxes 
due upon repatriation. At December 31, 2021 and 2020 a deferred tax asset of $0.1 million and $0.5 million, 
respectively, has been accrued and recorded to other comprehensive income for cumulative foreign currency 
translation on previously-taxed earnings and profits of the Company’s controlled foreign corporations. 
Additional tax implications of future repatriations were considered and deemed immaterial.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

As of December  31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded $11.3  million and $8.1  million, respectively, of 
unrecognized tax benefits, which if recognized, would favorably affect the Company’s effective tax rate.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in 
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Balance, beginning of year $ 8,123 $ 6,557 $ 5,768 
Additions for tax positions related to the current year  2,068  1,219  1,306 
Additions for tax positions related to prior years  1,923  706  180 
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years  (505)  (316)  (239) 
Statute of limitations expirations  —  (43)  — 
Settlements with tax authorities  —  —  (458) 

Balance, end of year $ 11,609 $ 8,123 $ 6,557 

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. 
For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the income tax expense/(benefit) recognized for 
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits was $0.3 million, $0.1 million and $(0.1) million, 
respectively. At December  31, 2021 and 2020, the Company had cumulative liabilities for penalties and 
interest related to unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $1.6 million and $1.3  million, respectively. 
There were no tax positions for which it was reasonably possible that unrecognized tax benefits will 
significantly increase or decrease within twelve months of the reporting date.

The Company files tax returns in the U.S. federal, various U.S. states, and various foreign jurisdictions. With 
few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal or state income tax examinations by tax 
authorities for years before 2018. The Company’s India subsidiary is no longer subject to income tax 
examinations by tax authorities in India for years before 2005. For the remaining foreign tax jurisdictions, with 
few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for years 
before 2016.

Note 6 – Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Automobile $ 38 $ 32 
Computer equipment  37,847  27,148 
Software, including internal-use  13,575  7,518 
Leasehold improvements  20,425  19,390 
Office furniture and equipment  7,968  7,162 

 79,853  61,250 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization  (45,353)  (34,903) 
Property and equipment, net $ 34,500 $ 26,347 

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment was $17.5 million, $16.0 million and $12.6 
million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Note 7 – Redeemable, Convertible Preferred Stock

In addition to common stock, prior to the IPO, securities of the Company were represented by shares of 
Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock, of which 2,500,000 shares of the authorized preferred 
stock were designated as Voting Series A Preferred Stock and 2,500,000 shares of the authorized and 
unissued preferred stock were designated as Non-Voting Series A Preferred Stock; shares of Series B 
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock of which 500,000 shares of the authorized preferred stock were 
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designated as Voting Series B Preferred Stock and 500,000 shares of the authorized and unissued preferred 
stock were designated as Non-Voting Series B Preferred Stock (collectively referred to as “Preferred Stock”). 

The Company recorded all shares of Preferred Stock net of offering costs at their respective fair values on 
the dates of issuance. The Preferred Stock was classified outside of stockholders’ equity in the consolidated 
financial statements, as the Preferred Stock was redeemable under circumstances that qualified as a deemed 
liquidation event, which would have been outside the control of the Company. In the event of certain deemed 
liquidation events, such as a merger, acquisition or sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, the 
holders of Preferred Stock, then outstanding, would have been paid out an amount equal to the greater of (i) 
such amount payable had all the Preferred Stock converted to common stock and (ii) the original Preferred 
Stock issuance price subject to appropriate equitable adjustment subject to any stock dividend, stock split or 
other recapitalization, or if the deemed liquidation event is consummated within two years following the 
original issuance date the amount that would result in a preferred internal rate of return of 10% per annum. 

Upon the occurrence of a liquidation event, such as a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or 
winding up of the Company; or a merger, consolidation or change in control, the holders of Preferred Stock, 
then outstanding, would have been paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to its 
shareholders before any payment is made to the holders of common stock. 

The holders of outstanding shares of Voting Preferred Stock would have been entitled to cast the number of 
votes equal to the number of whole shares of Common Stock into which the shares of Voting Preferred Stock 
were convertible. The holders of shares of Non-Voting Preferred Stock would not have had any voting rights. 
Holders of Voting Preferred Stock would have voted together with the holders of Common Stock as a single 
class and on an as-converted to Common Stock basis.

Shares of Preferred Stock were convertible at the holder’s option into shares of common stock, on a share-
for-share basis, using a conversion rate determined by dividing the original issue price by the conversion 
price. 

The holders of Preferred Stock were entitled to receive dividends on an as-converted to common stock basis 
as if all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock had been converted into Class A Common Stock or Class B 
Common Stock (with conversion to Class B applicable only as long as any shares of Non-Voting Preferred 
Stock are outstanding) on the date of such event. Dividends were discretionary and were not cumulative. On 
April 6, 2021, the Board, through unanimous written consent, approved the Company’s declaration of a 
$325.0  million dividend, including $10.0  million held for withholding tax, or $50.71 per share dividend, of 
which $59.6 million was to preferred shareholders. The record date was April 1, 2021, with payment dates to 
common shareholders on or about April 6, 2021, and on April 16, 2021 to preferred shareholders, respectively.

On December 23, 2020, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement and issued 539,084 
shares of Voting Series A Preferred Stock for $322.8 million, net of $7.2 million of issuance costs. 

In January 2021, the Company closed on security purchase agreements issuing a total of 637,098 shares of 
Voting Series A Preferred Stock for an aggregate amount of $381.0 million, net of $9.0 million of issuance 
costs.

In June 2021, the Company closed on security purchase agreements issuing a total of 188,876 shares of 
Voting Series B Preferred Stock for an aggregate amount of $125.0 million, net of $2.8 million of issuance 
costs.

The proceeds from the issuances on December 23, 2020 and in January 2021 were used to repurchase equity 
from existing shareholders. The proceeds from the issuance in June 2021 were used for general and 
corporate purposes.

Shares presented above have not been adjusted for an approximate 43.6-for-1 stock split.

Upon the completion of the IPO, all 59,489,958 shares of the Company’s outstanding redeemable convertible 
preferred stock, adjusted for an approximate 43.6-for-1 stock split, converted into an equivalent number of 
shares of common stock on a 1-for-1 basis and their carrying value of $826.0 million was reclassified into 
stockholders’ equity. Further, in connection with the IPO, the Company’s amended and restated certificate of 
incorporation became effective, which authorized the issuance of 100,000,000 shares of undesignated 
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preferred stock with a par value of $0.001 per share with rights and preferences, including voting rights, 
designated from time to time by the Board. As of December 31, 2021, there were no shares of redeemable 
convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding.

Note 8 – Tender Offer

During the first quarter of 2021, the Board approved, and the Company completed a tender offer of common 
shares which was funded from the proceeds of the redeemable, convertible preferred stock offering (Note 7, 
Redeemable, Convertible Preferred Stock). As a result, the Company acquired 1,156,775 shares of its common 
stock (1,138,537, 12,979, and 5,259 shares of the Company's former Class A, B, and C common shares, 
respectively). The Company also purchased and cancelled vested options from employees and directors 
through the tender offer. In this Note, the shares presented have not been adjusted for an approximate 43.6-
for-1 stock split.

Total purchases of shares and vested employee options under the tender offer approximated $720.0 million, 
including $19.3 million held for withholding tax. Because the price paid per share exceeded the share’s 
respective fair value, the Company recognized $2.7 million of additional compensation expense associated 
with shares and options repurchased from employees and directors, and $79.2 million as a distribution of 
retained earnings for the excess of price paid over fair value for those shares repurchased from non-
employee securityholders. 

Note 9 – (Loss) Earnings Per Common Share

Basic (loss) earnings per common share is computed by dividing the net (loss) income allocated to common 
shareholders by the weighted average of common shares outstanding for the period.

Diluted loss per common share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares of common stock of the 
Company, including outstanding stock options and unvested equity-settled RSUs, to the extent dilutive. Basic 
and diluted loss per common share is the same for the current period ended, as the inclusion of all potential 
shares of common stock of the Company outstanding would have been anti-dilutive. The dilutive effect of 
potentially dilutive securities is reflected in diluted earnings per common share by application of the treasury 
stock method. For comparability purposes, all prior period share amounts presented have been retroactively 
adjusted to give effect to an approximate 43.6-for-1 stock split, and share counts below also reflect the 
conversion of preferred stock to common stock on a 1-for-1 basis upon the occurrence of the IPO.

Table of Contents

84



The components of basic and diluted (loss) earnings per common share are as follows (in thousands, except 
share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Basic (loss) earnings per common share:
Net (loss) income $ (23,623) $ 79,283 $ 28,420 
Preferred stock dividends  (59,642)  —  — 
Earnings allocated to Preferred Stock  —  (6,171)  — 

Net (loss) income allocated to common shareholders – Basic $ (83,265) $ 73,112 $ 28,420 

Weighted average common shares outstanding – Basic  254,271,997  278,225,009  277,762,271 
Basic (loss) earnings per common share $ (0.33) $ 0.26 $ 0.10 

Diluted (loss) earnings per common share:
Net (loss) income allocated to common shareholders – Basic  (83,265)  73,112  28,420 
Weighted average shares outstanding – Basic  254,271,997  278,225,009  277,762,271 

Dilutive effect of:
Employee stock options and common shares (1)  — 6,357,527 3,733,369
Weighted average common shares outstanding – Diluted 254,271,997 284,582,536 281,495,640

Diluted (loss) earnings per common share $ (0.33) $ 0.26 $ 0.10 

(1) Reflects the dilutive effects of applying the treasury stock method to the employee stock options, after 
effects of an approximate 43.6-for-1 stock split noted above. Dilutive options include time and performance 
vesting options. Performance vesting options represent the accelerated vesting of all performance vesting 
options upon the occurrence of the IPO, and are only reflected in the denominator of pro forma earnings per 
share, diluted, as the performance vesting options are fully vested at the date of the IPO, and are not 
assumed to be exercised. For periods where the Company was in a net loss, dilutive options were excluded 
but would have been dilutive if the Company was not in a net loss.

The following potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the computation of diluted (loss) earnings per 
common share calculations because the impact of including them would have been anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Employee stock options and RSUs  23,614,364  —  — 

Note 10 – Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may become involved in legal proceedings or be subject to claims arising in 
the ordinary course of business. The Company evaluates the development of legal matters on a regular basis 
and accrues a liability when they believe a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. 
Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company currently 
believes that the final outcome of any currently pending legal proceedings to which we are a party will not 
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows. 
Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense and 
settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Commitment and contingencies primarily includes operating leases. The Company leases certain facilities and 
equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases that expire through June 2031, some of which 
include one or more options to extend the leases, generally at rates to be determined in accordance with the 
agreements. Our facility leases generally provide for periodic rent increases and may contain escalation 
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clauses and renewal options. Options to extend the lease are included in the future minimum lease payments 
schedule below if they are reasonably certain of being exercised. We do not have significant finance leases. 

As of December  31, 2021, aggregate future minimum lease payments, net of sublease income, under all 
operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Total
2022 $ 17,557 
2023  11,690 
2024  6,849 
2025  3,955 
2026  3,027 
Thereafter  6,088 
Total future minimum lease payments $ 49,166 

Total rent expense for all operating leases for the years ended December  31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were 
$19.4 million, $18.6 million and $18.0 million respectively.

Note 11 – Stockholders' Equity

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

In September 2021, upon the closing of the Company's IPO, all outstanding shares of redeemable convertible 
preferred stock were converted into an aggregate of 1,365,058 shares (pre-stock split) of common stock.

Further, in connection with the IPO, the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation became 
effective, which authorized the issuance of 100,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with a par 
value of $0.001 per share with rights and preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time 
by the Board of Directors.

Common Stock

In connection with the IPO, all classes of shares of the Company's common stock then outstanding were 
converted into 5,259,163 shares (pre-stock split) of common stock on a one-to-one basis. As a result, the 
securities of the Company are represented by shares of common stock with a par value of $0.001 per share. 
Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote. With respect to payment of dividends and distribution of 
assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, all shares 
of common stock will participate pro rata in such payment whenever funds are legally available and when 
declared by the Board, subject to the prior rights of holders of all classes of stock outstanding.

As of December  31, 2021, there were 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock authorized and 305,132,181 
shares of common stock outstanding.

Note 12 – Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

On October 12, 2017, the Company approved the 2017 Stock Option Plan (the “2017 Plan”) for the purpose of 
providing an incentive compensation structure to participants. Under the 2017 Plan, the Company may make 
awards to such present and future officers, directors, employees, consultants and advisors of the Company 
as may be selected at the sole discretion of the Board . The option awards gave the participant the right to 
purchase the Company's former Class C common stock for a prespecified exercise price. As a result of the 
IPO, the Company no longer grants awards under the 2017 Plan, and all previously awarded options can now 
be exercised for, when vested and exercisable, only the Company's current common stock. 
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In September 2021, the Board approved the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”) to assist the 
Company in attracting, retaining, motivating, and rewarding certain employees, officers, directors, and 
consultants of the Company and its Affiliates and promoting the creation of long-term value for stockholders, 
which became effective in connection with the IPO. A total of 62,048,123 shares of the Company’s common 
stock have been reserved for issuance under the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan.

The Company recorded total stock-based compensation expense of $157.9 million, $1.7 million and $1.9 
million for the years ended December  31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The income tax benefit 
recognized for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2019 was $0.5 million and $0.4 million, respectively. 
There was no income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Time and Performance Vesting Options

Under the 2017 Plan, eligible employees received non-qualified stock options as a portion of their total 
compensation. The options vest on a graded time vesting schedule (“Time Vesting Options”) over a vesting 
term of four years and a contractual term of 10 years, with 37.5% vesting on the 18-month anniversary and 
6.25% vesting every three months for the remainder of the 48-month period. 100% of the time-vesting 
options vest immediately upon a change of control. Any unvested options will be forfeited upon termination of 
employment. 

The Company's 2017 Plan permits imposing lock-up restrictions on participants in connection with the IPO. 
Pursuant to the 2017 Plan, the Company imposed a lock-up restriction, subject to limited exceptions, on 
selling, transferring or otherwise disposing of options and shares of common stock issuable pursuant to the 
exercise of options, for a period of one year following the consummation of the IPO, provided that such 
restriction will lapse as to 50% of such options and shares after six months following the consummation of the 
offering. No stock option awards were granted during the third and fourth quarters of 2021.

The following is a summary of time vesting option activity for the year ended December  31, 2021 (in 
thousands, except share and per share data):

Time Vesting 
(1)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 
Price (1)

Aggregate
Intrinsic 

Value

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (years)
Balance at December 31, 2020  10,462,531 $ 2.76 

Granted  1,068,283  14.05 
Forfeited  (153,960)  5.30 
Exercised  (966,005)  2.36 
Cancelled  (1,752,878)  2.88 
Expired  —  — 

Balance at December 31, 2021  8,657,971 $ 4.13 $ 196,362 6.8

Vested and exercisable at December 31, 
2021  6,252,120 $ 2.47 $ 152,177 6.1

Vested and expected to vest at December 
31, 2021  8,657,971 $ 4.13 $ 196,362 6.8

(1) Options presented have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to an approximate 43.6-for-1 stock 
split.

As of December 31, 2021, total compensation cost related to time vesting options not yet recognized was 
$8.3  million, which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years. Unless otherwise 
prohibited by law in local jurisdictions, time vesting options will continue to vest according to the Plan.
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The following is a summary of performance vesting option activity for the year ended December 31, 2021 (in 
thousands, except share and per share data):

Performance 
Vesting (1)

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 
Price (1)

Aggregate
Intrinsic 

Value

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (years)
Balance at December 31, 2020  15,440,716 $ 2.66 

Granted  1,397,260  14.05 
Forfeited  (185,953)  5.15 
Exercised  (203,081)  2.38 
Cancelled  (1,009,831)  3.60 
Expired  — 

Balance at December 31, 2021  15,439,111 $ 3.60 $ 358,300 6.5

Vested and exercisable at December 31, 
2021  15,439,111 $ 3.60 $ 358,300 6.5

Vested and expected to vest at December 
31, 2021  15,439,111 $ 3.60 $ 358,300 6.5

(1) Options presented have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to an approximate 43.6-for-1 stock 
split.

Under the 2017 Plan, prior to the IPO the Company granted performance vesting options subject to 
performance vesting conditions. In accordance with the 2017 Plan, 50% of the performance vesting options 
vested upon a sponsor return of at least two times the sponsor investment. An aggregate of 75% of the 
performance vesting options vested upon a sponsor return of at least two and a half times the sponsor 
investment. An aggregate of 100% of Performance Vesting Options vested upon a sponsor return of at least 
three times the sponsor investment. Vesting was prorated if a sponsor return was between these targets. In 
addition to the sponsor return targets above, participants must have had at least 18 months of continuous 
service following the grant date in order to vest. In order for vesting to be considered probable, the sponsor 
return must have been met as of the reporting date. Sponsor return, as defined in the Company’s 2017 Stock 
Option Plan, was determined based on the aggregate amount of all cash, fair market value of marketable 
securities, including proceeds from the sale of securities of the Company, provided and to the extent such 
proceeds result in cash dividends and/or cash distributions by the Company to the sponsor. 

On September 9, 2021, the Board, through unanimous written consent, approved a modification to the 
Company's 2017 Stock Option Plan which, upon completion of the IPO, a sponsor return of 2.8x times sponsor 
investment was certified as having been achieved, and the service condition under the Plan that participants 
must provide at least 18 months of continuous service following the grant date in order for performance 
vesting options to vest was waived. Additionally, the Board also approved accelerated vesting of all 
remaining, unvested former Class C performance vesting options, after the achievement of such sponsor 
return, which resulted in all performance vesting options becoming fully vested upon pricing of the IPO. 

The acceleration of vesting was accounted for as a modification of the terms of the original award that 
affected 343 employees and resulting in incremental stock-based compensation expense of $54.0 million.
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The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions used in estimating the fair value of stock 
options granted to employees:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 (1) 2020 (1) 2019 (1)

Risk-free interest rate  0.1 %  0.1 %  1.5 %
Dividend yield  — %  — %  — %
Expected volatility  55.0 %  55.0 %  40.0 %
Expected term (years) 1 2 3

(1) The risk-free interest rate is based on the rates of U.S. Treasury securities with a maturity similar to the 
term to liquidity, continuously compounded. The expected equity volatility is estimated based on an 
analysis of guideline public companies’ historical volatility. As these stock options were awarded prior to 
the IPO, the expected term was estimated based on management’s assumptions of time to a liquidity 
event.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was 
$24.9 million, $0.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The weighted-average grant date fair value of 
options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $10.32, $5.71 and $1.37, 
respectively.

Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”)

In December 2017, the Board approved a plan (the “SARs Plan”) to enable all permanent employees, current 
and future, to participate in the growth in the equity value of the Company in the event of a future liquidity 
event. A liquidity event is triggered when the sponsor sells at least 75% of its ownership. 

During the year ended December  31, 2021, the Company granted SARs to employees. Each stock 
appreciation right represents the right to receive, in cash, the excess of the fair market value over the grant 
price on the exercise date. 

On September 9, 2021, the Board, through unanimous written consent, approved a modification to the 
Company's Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (the “SARs Plan”) which, upon completion of the IPO, was 
discontinued and all outstanding stock appreciation rights ("SARs") were converted to restricted stock units 
(“RSUs”). RSUs granted in connection with the SARs conversion will vest after six months and twelve months 
after the IPO close date with 50% on each vesting date, such that 100% of RSUs related to the SARs 
conversion will be fully vested on September 17, 2022, twelve months after the closing of the IPO. A total of 
6,701,133 shares of common stock underlying RSUs were issued in connection with the conversion of SARs 
upon completion of the IPO. 

The completion of the IPO of the Company’s common stock did not meet the definition of a liquidity event, as 
defined in the SARs Plan. As a liquidity event was not triggered, the conditions associated with SARs were not 
considered probable of occurring. No SARs were granted or converted after September 9, 2021.
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The following is a summary of SARs activity, representing the conversion of SARs to RSUs, for the year ended 
December 31, 2021:

Number of Stock 
Appreciation Rights (1)

Weighted Average Grant 
Date Fair Value (1)

Balance at December 31, 2020  9,032,006 $ 3.47 
Granted  3,096,082  14.05 
Forfeited  (1,681,980)  5.77 
Intrinsic Value Adjustment (2)  (3,744,975)  12.19 
SARs Conversion  (6,701,133)  21.00 

Balance at December 31, 2021  — $ — 

(1) Shares presented have been retroactively adjusted to give effect to an approximate 43.6-for-1 stock 
split.

(2) The intrinsic value adjustment is the IPO price of $21.00 per SAR, less the original grant date fair value, 
plus an incremental value of $100.00 per SAR. 

Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)

In September 2021, the Board approved the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”). Under the 
Omnibus Plan, RSUs are awarded to eligible employees and entitle the grantee to receive shares of common 
stock at the end of a vesting period. Certain RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2021, have 
varying vesting schedules: 

(1) a 28 month cliff vest subsequent to the IPO Closing Date;
(2) a 12 month cliff vest subsequent to the IPO Closing Date;
(3) a 6 and 12 month period vest subsequent to the IPO Closing Date (with 50% vesting after 6 months and 

50% vesting at the end of the 12 month term); 
(4) immediate vesting upon the successful and active registration with the State Administration of Foreign 

Exchange of the People's Republic of China (“China SAFE”); 
(5) a 3 year ratable vesting period subsequent to IPO Closing Date (with 34% vesting during the first year, 

and 33% vesting during the second and third years); and
(6) a 4 year ratable vesting period (with 25% vesting each year).

All RSUs granted as a result of the IPO, including the RSUs granted in connection with the SARs conversion, 
include a lock-up period of 6 months before the participants may redeem the shares. Throughout the vesting 
period and the lock-up period, shareholders are subject to the market risk on the value of their shares.

The following is a summary of RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Number of 
Restricted Stock 

Units

Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair 

Value

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Unvested balance at December 31, 2020  — $ — $ — 
Granted (1)  7,980,274  25.26 
Granted - SARs conversion (2)  6,701,133  21.00 
Forfeited  (552,685)  21.38 
Vested  —  — 

Unvested balance at December 31, 2021  14,128,722 $ 23.39 $ 378,791 

(1) Includes a one-time grant awarded at IPO as well as a grant awarded in the fourth quarter. The amount of 
granted RSUs does not include 4.3  million that were contingent upon the successful and active 

Table of Contents

90



registration with the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the People's Republic of China (“China 
SAFE”), which occurred on February 25, 2022.

(2) The SARs conversion was an IPO related one-time event.

As of December 31, 2021, total compensation cost related to all RSUs not yet recognized was $241.3 million, 
of which $154.7 million is IPO related and considered nonrecurring. The remainder of $86.6 million is 
expected to be reoccurring in relation to the annual grant. The unamortized expense is anticipated to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.

Note 13 – Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan for substantially all U.S. employees. Employees are allowed to make 
contributions to the plan through withholdings of their salary. The plan provides for the Company to make a 
discretionary matching contribution. Contributions to the plan for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 
and 2019, totaled $4.5 million, $3.8 million and $3.6 million, respectively. The Company also maintains similar 
defined contribution plans in the United Kingdom, Canada, Spain, Italy, Singapore, and Thailand. Total 
employer contributions under these plans for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $8.8 
million, $7.3 million and $6.7 million, respectively.

Note 14 – Credit Agreements

The Company entered into a Senior Secured Credit Facilities (the “Term Loan”), dated October 12, 2017, 
subsequently amended most recently as of March 26, 2021, among the Company, the syndicate lenders 
thereto and Credit Suisse, AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as administrative agent, to finance, in part, the 
acquisition of all of the outstanding common stock of the Company. The Senior Secured Credit Facility 
provided senior secured financing of $200.0 million, as well as a revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”) 
which provided for additional senior secured financing of up to $35.0 million. The Term Loan and the 
Revolver, together with any subsequent amendments, are collectively referred to as the Credit Agreement.

On March 26, 2021, the Company amended and restated its credit agreement (the “Amendment and 
Restatement”) to increase the term loan facility to a total of $715.0 million. Also, as part of the facility, the 
aggregate revolving credit facility was increased to $165.0 million from $85.0 million.

Borrowings under the Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin based on the 
Company’s leverage ratio, plus either (a) a base rate or (b) a LIBOR rate, at the Company's option, subject to 
interest rate floors. For the first full quarter after the Amendment Restatement date, the interest rate per 
annum is equal to (a) 3.25% for LIBOR based borrowings and (b) 2.25% for base rate borrowings, subject to 
interest rate floors. The interest rate reduced by 0.25% upon the completion of the IPO for both LIBOR and 
base rate borrowings.

Borrowings under the Revolver bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable margin based on the 
Company’s leverage ratio, plus either (a) a base rate or (b) a LIBOR rate at the Company's option. In addition 
to paying interest on outstanding borrowings under the Revolver, the Company is required to pay a 
commitment fee to the lenders under the Revolver in respect of unutilized commitments thereunder and 
customary letter of credit fees. 

All obligations of the Company under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities provided by any lender party to the 
Senior Secured Credit Facilities or any of its affiliates and certain other persons are unconditionally 
guaranteed by a wholly owned subsidiary of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc., and each existing and subsequently 
acquired or organized direct or indirect wholly owned domestic restricted subsidiary of the Company, with 
customary exceptions including, among other things, where providing such guarantees is not permitted by 
law, regulation or contract or would result in material adverse tax consequences. All obligations under the 
Senior Secured Credit Facilities provided by any lender party to the Senior Secured Credit Facilities or any of 
its affiliates and certain other persons, and the guarantees of such obligations, are secured, subject to 
permitted liens and other exceptions, as outlined in the Senior Secured Credit Facilities.

The Term Loans and borrowings under our Revolver contain a number of financial and non-financial 
covenants that, among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the Company’s ability and the 
ability of the Company’s restricted subsidiaries to engage in certain activities, such as incur indebtedness or 
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permit to exist any lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafter acquired, as specified in the debt 
facility.

The Credit Agreement requires compliance with certain covenants customary for agreements of this type. As 
of December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with its debt covenants.

The Company incurred and capitalized deferred financing fees, or third-party debt issuance costs, of $7.1 
million related to the restated credit agreement for the year ended December 31, 2021. The debt issuance 
costs are recorded as reductions of the outstanding long-term indebtedness. The Term Loan is paid in equal 
quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1% of the original principal amount of the Term 
Loan.

On August 10, 2021, the Company made a voluntary prepayment of $100.0 million on outstanding amounts 
owed on the Term Loan. The Company made an additional $100.0 million voluntary prepayment on 
October 20, 2021. As a result of the prepayments, the Company wrote off $2.1 million of deferred financing 
fees, which is reflected in other (expense) income, net in the consolidated statements of (loss) income and 
comprehensive (loss) income for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The following table presents the Company's outstanding debt and borrowing capacity (in thousands): 
As of December 31,

2021 2020
Availability under revolving credit facility (due March 26, 2026) $ 165,000 $ 85,000 
Borrowings under revolving credit facility  —  — 
Long-term debt (due March 24, 2028), including current portion  504,530  439,757 
Interest rate  3.5 %  4.8 %

The carrying value of the Company’s credit facilities (including current maturities) was as follows (in 
thousands):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Long-term debt, less current portion $ 502,488 $ 440,497 
Capitalized deferred financing fees  (5,108)  (5,305) 
Long-term debt  497,380  435,192 
Current portion of long-term debt  7,150  4,565 
Total debt carrying value $ 504,530 $ 439,757 

As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s future principal cash payments for the Term Loan are as follows (in 
thousands):

Total
2022 $ 7,150 
2023  7,150 
2024  7,150 
2025  7,150 
2026  7,150 
2027  7,150 
2028  466,738 
Total future principal cash payments $ 509,638 
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Note 15 – Accrued Expenses

The following is a summary of the Company’s accrued expenses (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2021 2020

Accrued interest expense $ 76 $ 85 
Accrued employee expense  2,320  1,786 
Accrued travel expense  514  383 
Operating lease expenses  262  212 
Insurance charges  170  257 
Professional fees  5,188  10,320 
Withholding taxes payable  26,077  43 
Other taxes payable  9,402  8,643 
Rebates payable  943  2,307 
Other accrued expenses  6,741  5,713 
Accrued expenses $ 51,693 $ 29,749 

Note 16 – Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated balance for each component of accumulated 
other comprehensive loss (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Foreign currency translation:
Beginning balance $ (1,589) $ (10,067) $ (12,961) 

Foreign currency translation (loss)/gain  (8,225)  8,728  3,639 

Income tax expense  (1,049)  (250)  (745) 

Foreign currency translation, net of tax  (9,274)  8,478  2,894 
Ending balance  (10,863)  (1,589)  (10,067) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (10,863) $ (1,589) $ (10,067) 

Note 17 – Subsequent Events

On January  18, 2022, the Company granted 717,111 RSUs. Total stock-compensation expense to be 
recognized related to these awards is $16.5 million, over a weighted average period of 1.02 years.

In order to allow employees in China to participate in equity based award grants, the Company is required to 
obtain approval through registration per the requirements as outlined by the People's Republic of China 
Central State Administration of Foreign Exchange ("China SAFE"). The Company received approval on 
February  25, 2022. Thoughtworks has awarded its employees in China 4.4 million RSU shares to date, 
including 2021 and January 2022 grants. At the time of China SAFE approval, 1.2 million shares immediately 
vested and were eligible for release. The remaining shares will vest between 2022 and 2025. The Company 
recorded $48.9 million of stock-compensation expense upon approval of China SAFE in the first quarter of 
2022.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting 
and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has 
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this 
Annual Report.

Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as 
of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to, and are effective to, provide assurance 
at a reasonable level that the information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under 
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC 
rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including 
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (identified in management's evaluation 
pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended 
December  31, 2021 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial 
reporting, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and 
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the 
design of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact 
that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the 
benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. A control system, no matter how well 
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the 
control system are met. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a 
cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Annual Report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over 
financial reporting or an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm as permitted 
by the transition period established under the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent 
Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Below is a list of the names, ages (as of March  8, 2022), positions and a brief account of the business 
experience of the individuals who serve as (i) our executive officers and (ii) our directors.

Name Age Position
Guo Xiao 48 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Erin Cummins 43 Chief Financial Officer
Ange Ferguson 44 Chief Transformation Officer
Sai Mandapaty 55 Chief Commercial Officer
Ramona Mateiu 44 Chief Legal Officer & Chief Compliance Officer
Christopher Murphy 49 Chief Executive Officer of Thoughtworks North America
Joanna Parke 44 Chief Talent Officer
Dr. Rebecca Parsons 61 Chief Technology Officer
Chad-Affonso Wathington 43 Chief Strategy Officer
Julie Woods-Moss 57 Chief Marketing Officer
Ian Davis 70 Director, Chair
Robert Brennan 62 Director
Jane Chwick 59 Director
Rohan Haldea 43 Director
Gina Loften 56 Director
Salim Nathoo 50 Director
William Parrett 76 Director
Roxanne Taylor 65 Director

Guo Xiao has served as our Chief Executive Officer since 2013 and as a member of our Board since 2017. 
Prior to that, Mr. Guo was Managing Director of Thoughtworks China from 2007 to 2013 and served as Head 
of Technology of Thoughtworks China from 2004 to 2007. Mr. Guo worked as a Senior Agile Software 
Developer for Thoughtworks United Kingdom from 2002 to 2004. At the beginning of his career, from 1999 to 
2002, Mr. Guo worked as an Agile Software Developer for Thoughtworks US. Mr. Guo earned a Bachelor of 
Science in Chemistry from Peking University; a Master of Science in Chemistry from Northwestern University, 
where he also completed the Executive Development Program at the Kellogg School of Management; and a 
Master of Science in Computer Science from Loyola University Chicago. We believe Mr. Guo is qualified to 
serve on our Board due to his management experience, operational expertise and historical insight into our 
business.

Erin Cummins has served as our Chief Financial Officer since 2014. Prior to that, Ms. Cummins was Head of 
Operations and Finance for Thoughtworks Europe. Ms. Cummins has served in various leadership roles in the 
organization spanning across multiple countries, with both financial and operational responsibilities. Prior to 
joining Thoughtworks in 2004, Ms. Cummins was an auditor for Plante Moran from 2001 to 2004. Ms. 
Cummins earned her Bachelor of Arts and Master of Science (Professional Accounting) degrees from 
Michigan State University.

Ange Ferguson has served as our Chief Transformation Officer since 2018. Prior to that, Ms. Ferguson was 
Group Managing Director of Thoughtworks Asia Pacific from 2015 to 2018 and Managing Director of 
Thoughtworks Australia from 2013 to 2015, and she performed management roles in both Australia and India 
from 2010 to 2013. Ms. Ferguson joined Thoughtworks in 2006 as a Principal Consultant in Australia. Prior to 
joining Thoughtworks, Ms. Ferguson worked in program management and analyst roles at ColesMyer Group, 
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Tenix Toll Defence Logistics, ANZ and Sapient in Australia, and the Financial Services Authority in the United 
Kingdom. Ms. Ferguson also serves as an advisory board member for Hitnet and the Ai Group in Australia. Ms. 
Ferguson earned a Bachelor of Computing with a minor in Philosophy from Monash University.

Sai Krishna Mandapaty has served as our Chief Commercial Officer since 2017. Prior to that, Mr. Mandapaty 
was Global Head of Strategy from 2015 to 2017, Global Head of Strategic Clients from 2014 to 2015 and 
Global Head of Demand from 2010 to 2015. Prior to joining Thoughtworks in 2010, Mr. Mandapaty worked at 
Satyam Computer Services (later acquired by Tech Mahindra) in various capacities, including leading the 
Financial Services business unit. Mr. Mandapaty’s earlier employment was with Bosch India and Wipro 
Technologies. Mr. Mandapaty earned a Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical) from Visvesvaraya National 
Institute of Technology and a Post Graduate Diploma in Management from Indian Institute of Management 
Bangalore.

Ramona Mateiu has served as our Chief Legal Officer since 2017 and as our Chief Compliance Officer since 
2018. Prior to that, Ms. Mateiu served as Thoughtworks Deputy General Counsel in 2017 and as Head of Legal 
for Thoughtworks North America from 2009 to 2017. Ms. Mateiu previously served as Associate General 
Counsel at PrivateBancorp (now part of CIBC). Before joining PrivateBancorp, Ms. Mateiu served in a legal role 
at Thoughtworks from 2008 to 2009 and was a corporate associate at Schiff Hardin LLP. Ms. Mateiu earned a 
Juris Doctor from the University of California at Berkeley School of Law and a Bachelor of Arts in Economics 
from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Christopher Murphy has served as our Chief Executive Officer for Thoughtworks North America since 2018. 
Prior to that, Mr. Murphy was Group Managing Director of Europe, Middle East and South Asia from 2015 to 
2018, Chief Strategy Officer and Global Head of Marketing from 2012 to 2015, Managing Director of Asia 
Pacific from 2008 to 2012 and Associate General Counsel from 2004 to 2007. Prior to joining Thoughtworks, 
Mr. Murphy was a Senior Solicitor in the Intellectual Property and Information Technology Group at Mayer 
Brown and a Senior Associate in the Intellectual Property and Information Technology Group at Corrs 
Chambers Westgarth. Mr. Murphy earned a Bachelor of Science in computer science from the University of 
Melbourne, a Bachelor of Laws from the University of Melbourne, a Master of Laws (Intellectual Property) 
from Monash University and a Master of Information Technology from Monash University.

Joanna Parke has served as our Chief Talent Officer since 2018. Prior to that, Ms. Parke was Group Managing 
Director for North America from 2013 to 2018. Ms. Parke led the central region of North America as Market 
Principal from 2011 to 2013. From 2010 to 2011, Ms. Parke led the creation of the entry-level graduate 
development program in the United States. Ms. Parke worked as a Thoughtworks consultant in roles including 
Agile Software Developer and Project Manager from 2003 to 2010. Prior to joining Thoughtworks, Ms. Parke 
was an engineer at Epicentric and Sapient. Ms. Parke earned a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering 
with a minor in Computer Science from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Dr. Rebecca J. Parsons has served as our Chief Technology Officer since 2006. Prior to that, Dr. Parsons was 
Vice President of Innovation and also worked as a developer and architect for many of our clients. Prior to 
joining Thoughtworks in 1999, Dr. Parsons was an Assistant Professor of Computer Science at the University 
of Central Florida, a Director’s Postdoctoral Fellow at Los Alamos National Laboratory and an IBM Fellow at 
Rice University. Prior to her work as a graduate student at Rice University, Dr. Parsons held technology 
positions at Caterpillar Tractor Company, United Technologies Mostek, and Amdahl Communications. Dr. 
Parsons earned a Bachelor of Science in both Computer Science and Economics from Bradley University and 
both a Master of Science and a Ph.D. in Computer Science from Rice University.

Chad-Affonso Wathington has served as our Chief Strategy Officer since 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Wathington 
served as our Chief Capability Officer from 2015 to 2018, where he focused on scaling Thoughtworks’ service 
offerings. From 2011 to 2015, Mr. Wathington was Managing Director of ThoughtWorks Studios, a product 
division focused on tooling for agile software development and continuous delivery. Mr. Wathington assumed 
this role after being Head of Product for ThoughtWorks Studios from its inception in 2007. Prior to joining 
Thoughtworks, Mr. Wathington was a strategy consultant at the Boston Consulting Group (BCG), specializing 
in industrial goods, pharmaceutical and technology areas. Mr. Wathington held various positions in Chicago’s 
technology startup ecosystem before joining BCG. Mr. Wathington earned a Bachelor of Arts from Harvard 
University with a foreign language citation in Japanese.

Julie Woods-Moss has served as our Chief Marketing Officer since 2019. Prior to that, Ms. Woods-Moss was 
a Senior Advisor to McKinsey & Company from March 2019 to September 2019. Ms. Woods-Moss was 
President at Tata Communications from 2012 to 2018 and held the leadership positions of Chief Marketing 

Table of Contents

97



Officer, Chief Innovation Officer and CEO of Tata’s Nextgen Business. Prior to that, Ms. Woods-Moss held the 
leadership positions of President of Marketing, Strategy and Propositions at BT Group Plc (BT Global 
Services), Vice President at Liberty Global (UPC) and Director at IBM. Ms. Woods-Moss is a Non-Executive 
Director at Grosvenor Group (Liverpool One Fund) and the chair of the board of dunnhumby, a subsidiary of 
Tesco Plc. Ms. Woods-Moss earned a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Telecommunication Engineering from 
Plymouth University.

Ian Davis has served as a member of our Board since June 2021 and is currently our Board’s Chairperson. 
From 2013 to 2021, Sir Davis was the Chairman of Rolls-Royce plc. Sir Davis served as Chairman and 
Worldwide Managing Partner of McKinsey & Company from 2003 until 2009. Retiring in 2010, Sir Davis is now 
Senior Partner Emeritus of McKinsey & Company, where he was a partner and consultant for over 30 years. 
Sir Davis currently serves on the board of Johnson & Johnson as a non-executive director. From 2010 to 
2020, Sir Davis was a Non-Executive Director of BP plc, where he was also Senior Independent (Lead) 
Director. Sir Davis also acts as an adviser to several private firms and companies, including serving as Senior 
Advisor to Apax Partners. From 2011 to 2017, Sir Davis was a non-executive director of the United Kingdom 
Cabinet Office and of Teach for All, a not-for-profit educational foundation. Sir Davis earned a Bachelor of 
Arts and Master of Arts in Politics, Philosophy and Economics from Balliol College, University of Oxford. We 
believe that Sir Davis is qualified to serve on our Board due to his significant leadership experience; deep 
understanding of global business trends; and expertise in finance, strategy and business transformation. 

Robert Brennan has served as a member of our Board since July 2021. Mr. Brennan has been an advisor and 
mentor at Entrepreneurship for All Roxbury (EforAll) since 2019. Previously, Mr. Brennan served as the 
executive director of Computer Associates from 2017 to 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Brennan was chair and chief 
executive officer of Veracode from 2011 to 2018. Prior to Veracode, Mr. Brennan was a director and the 
president and chief executive officer at Iron Mountain, a publicly traded data protection and information 
management services company, from 2004 to 2011. Mr. Brennan was also previously chair and chief 
executive officer of Connected Corporation from 2000 to 2004. Mr. Brennan was also general manager for 
Network and Service Management at Cisco after being chief executive officer for American Internet. Mr. 
Brennan has also served on the boards of directors for several private technology companies. We believe that 
Mr. Brennan is qualified to serve on our Board due to his extensive executive experience, prior board service 
for emerging technology companies and leadership skills.

Jane Chwick has served as a member of our Board since December 2017. Ms. Chwick spent 30 years at 
Goldman Sachs, most recently as Partner and Co-Chief Operating Officer of its Technology Division, until her 
retirement in 2013. During her career at Goldman Sachs, Ms. Chwick held a number of senior positions, 
including Global Head of Technology of the Securities Division and Global Head of Derivatives Technology. 
Ms. Chwick was the Co-Founder and Co-Chief Executive Officer of Trewtec, a technology advisory firm, from 
2014 to 2017. Ms. Chwick currently serves on the boards of directors of MarketAxess, Voya Financial, and 
People’s United Financial. Ms. Chwick has previously served on the board of Essent Group Ltd, the Executive 
Board of Trustees of the Queens College Foundation and on the boards of directors of Girls Who Code and of 
the Berkshire School. Ms. Chwick earned a Bachelor of Arts in mathematics from Queens College and a 
Master in Business Administration from St. John’s University with a concentration in management information 
systems and quantitative analysis. We believe that Ms. Chwick is qualified to serve on our Board due to her 
extensive technology leadership experience, which brings valuable skills and strategic perspective to the 
board. 

Rohan Haldea has served as a member of our Board since October 2017. Mr. Haldea joined Apax Partners in 
2007 and is currently a Partner in the Tech & Telco team. Mr. Haldea also serves as co-Chief Executive 
Officer of the Apax Foundation, a non-profit organization affiliated with Apax Partners, and as a Trustee of 
Impetus. Prior to joining Apax Partners, Mr. Haldea worked at Bain Capital in New York, where he focused on 
the Industrial, Distribution and Retail sectors. Prior to that, Mr. Haldea was a consultant at McKinsey & 
Company. Mr. Haldea earned a Master of Business Administration from Harvard Business School and a 
Bachelor of Technology from the Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi. We believe that Mr. Haldea is qualified 
to serve on our Board due to his expertise in investment strategies, prior experience as a director for several 
technology companies and insight into the technology solutions sector.

Gina Loften has served as a member of our Board since July 2021.  Ms. Loften most recently served as chief 
technology officer for Microsoft USA, the position she has held 2019 through July 2021. Prior to Microsoft, for 
over 15 years, Ms. Loften served in roles of growing responsibility with IBM, including global consulting leader 
in cloud application innovation for IBM Global Business Services, chief innovation officer for IBM Research, 
and global public sector leader for IBM Watson Group.  Ms. Loften currently serves on the board of directors 
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of TTEC Holdings, Inc. In the not for profit space. Ms. Loften serves as a member of the board of directors for 
the Museum of Life and Science and of the board of trustees for TIAA (The Teachers Insurance and Annuity 
Association of America). Ms. Loften has previously served on the boards of George Mason Research 
Foundation, Rise Against Hunger and the advisory council for the Institute of Nuclear Power Operations. Ms. 
Loften earned a Bachelor of Science degree in electrical engineering from North Carolina Agricultural and 
Technical State University.  We believe that Ms. Loften is qualified to serve on our Board due to her extensive 
technological leadership experience and her prior service as a director on for-profit and not-for-profit boards.

Salim Nathoo has served as a member of our Board since October 2017. Mr. Nathoo joined Apax Partners in 
1999 and is currently a Partner in the Tech & Telco team. Mr. Nathoo is also a member of the Investment 
Committees for the Apax Buyout Funds, Apax Digital Fund and Apax Global Alpha. Mr. Nathoo has served as 
an advisor or board member to a number of Apax Partners portfolio companies, including Syneron Candela, 
GlobalLogic, iGATE, Orange Switzerland, Sophos, SMART Technologies, Weather Investments, Tim Hellas and 
Promethean. Prior to joining Apax Partners, Mr. Nathoo was an Engagement Manager with McKinsey & 
Company, where he specialized in advising clients in the telecom sector. Mr. Nathoo earned a Master in 
Business Administration from INSEAD and a Master of Arts in Mathematics from the University of Cambridge. 
We believe that Mr. Nathoo is qualified to serve on our Board due to his expertise in investment strategies, 
prior experience as a public company director and insight into the technology solutions sector.

William Parrett has served as a member of our Board since December 2017. Mr. Parrett joined Deloitte & 
Touche USA LLP in 1967 and served in a series of roles of increasing responsibility, including as Senior 
Partner, before retiring in 2007. From 2003 to 2007, Mr. Parrett served as the Chief Executive Officer of 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. From 1999 to 2003, Mr. Parrett was Managing Partner of Deloitte & Touche USA. 
Mr. Parrett currently serves on the boards of directors of Oracle Corporation and The Blackstone Group. Mr. 
Parrett previously served on the boards of directors of Eastman Kodak Company, Conduent, Thermo Fisher 
Scientific, UBS Group AG and iGate. Additionally, Mr. Parrett is a past Chairman of the board of trustees of 
United Way Worldwide and of the board of directors of the United States Council for International Business. 
Mr. Parrett earned a Bachelor of Arts in accounting from St. Francis College. We believe that Mr. Parrett is 
qualified to serve on our Board due to his significant corporate leadership experience, public company 
experience and accounting and financial expertise. 

Roxanne Taylor has served as a member of our Board since June 2021. Ms. Taylor has served as the Chief 
Marketing and Communications Officer of Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center since February 2020. 
From 2007 until September 2018, Ms. Taylor served as Chief Marketing and Communications Officer at 
Accenture, a global professional services company. From 1995 to 2007, Ms. Taylor served in various 
marketing positions at Accenture, including Managing Director Corporate and Financial Communications and 
Director of Marketing and Communications for the Financial Services practice. Before joining Accenture, Ms. 
Taylor served in corporate communications, investor relations and senior marketing positions at Reuters and 
Quotron (now part of Citicorp) from 1993 to 1995 and 1989 to 1993, respectively. Ms. Taylor currently serves 
on the board of directors of Pure Storage and UNISYS CORP. Ms. Taylor earned a Bachelor of Arts from the 
University of Maryland in College Park. We believe that Ms. Taylor is qualified to serve on our Board due to 
her extensive marketing experience, as well as her technology industry knowledge. 

Board Composition and Director Independence

Our business and affairs are managed under the direction of our Board. Currently, our Board is composed of 
nine directors. Our certificate of incorporation provides that the authorized number of directors may be 
changed only by resolution of our Board and with the prior written consent of the Apax Funds prior to the 
date that the Apax Funds cease to beneficially own shares of our common stock representing at least 40% of 
the total voting power of the of our outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote thereon. 

In accordance with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation our Board is divided  into three 
classes of directors, with the classes as nearly equal in number as possible. Each class will serve for three-
year periods with staggered elections. Subject to any earlier resignation or removal in accordance with the 
terms of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws:

• our Class I directors are Jane Chwick, Ian Davis and Rohan Haldea, each of whom will serve until the 
annual shareholder meeting in 2022;

• our Class II directors are Gina Loften, William Parrett and Salim Nathoo, each of whom will serve until the 
annual shareholder meeting in 2023; and
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• our Class III directors are Robert Brennan, Xiao Guo and Roxanne Taylor, each of whom will serve until 
the annual shareholder meeting in 2024. 

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our directors nominated or designated by 
the Apax Funds may be removed with or without cause by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the 
voting power of our outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class for 
so long as the Apax Funds beneficially own 50% or more of the total number of shares of our common stock 
then outstanding, and directors who are not nominated or designated by the Apax Funds can only be 
removed for cause and upon the affirmative vote of 662⁄3% of the voting power of our outstanding shares of 
stock entitled to vote thereon. If the Apax Funds’ beneficial ownership falls below 50% of the total number of 
shares of our common stock outstanding, then all of our directors may be removed only for cause upon the 
affirmative vote of at least 662⁄3% of the voting power of our outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote 
thereon. Additionally, our Director Nomination Agreement provides the Apax Funds the right to designate 
nominees for election to our Board for so long as the Apax Funds beneficially own 10% or more of the 
outstanding shares of our common stock. For more information, see "Item 13. Certain Relationships and 
Related Transactions, and Director Independence—Director Nomination Agreement."

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our Board has established an Audit Committee, Compensation and Talent Committee, and Nominating and 
Governance Committee. Our Board may establish other committees from time to time to facilitate the 
management of our business. Members of each committee serve until their resignation or until otherwise 
determined by our Board. The composition and functions of each committee are described below. Each 
committee has adopted a written charter that satisfies the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the 
Nasdaq Listing Rules, which are available on our website at investors.thoughtworks.com. Currently, our 
committee assignments are as follows:

Board Member Audit Committee
Compensation and 
Talent Committee

Nominating and 
Governance 
Committee

Ian Davis C
Robert Brennan C •
Jane Chwick • •
Xiao Guo
Rohan Haldea • •
Gina Loften • •
Salim Nathoo •
William Parrett C(1) •
Roxanne Taylor • •

C = Committee chair
(1) Designated as an "audit committee financial expert" within the meaning of SEC regulations and applicable 
listing standards of Nasdaq

Audit Committee 

We are complying with the audit committee requirements of the SEC and Nasdaq, which require that the Audit 
Committee be composed of a majority of independent directors within 90 days following our initial public 
offering and all independent directors within one year following our initial public offering. Our Board has 
determined that Gina Loften, Roxanne Taylor and William Parrett meet the independence requirements of Rule 
10A-3 under the Exchange Act and the applicable listing standards of Nasdaq. The Audit Committee’s 
responsibilities include: 

• appointing, approving the compensation of, and assessing the qualifications, performance, and 
independence of our independent registered public accounting firm; 

• pre-approving audit and permissible non-audit services, and the terms of such services, to be provided 
by our independent registered public accounting firm; 
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• reviewing our policies on risk assessment and risk management; 
• reviewing and discussing with management and the independent registered public accounting firm our 

annual and quarterly financial statements and related disclosures as well as critical accounting policies 
and practices used by us; 

• reviewing the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting; 
• establishing policies and procedures for the receipt and retention of accounting-related complaints and 

concerns; 
• recommending, based upon the Audit Committee’s review and discussions with management and the 

independent registered public accounting firm, whether our audited financial statements shall be 
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K; 

• monitoring our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as they relate to our financial 
statements and accounting matters;

• preparing the Audit Committee report required by the rules of the SEC to be included in our annual proxy 
statement; 

• reviewing all related party transactions for potential conflict of interest situations and approving all such 
transactions; and 

• reviewing and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm our 
earnings releases and guidance. 

Compensation and Talent Committee 

The Compensation and Talent Committee’s responsibilities include: 

• annually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to the compensation of our 
chief executive officer; 

• evaluating the performance of our chief executive officer in light of such corporate goals and objectives 
and determining and approving the compensation of our chief executive officer; 

• reviewing and approving the compensation of our other executive officers; 
• appointing, compensating and overseeing the work of any compensation consultant, legal counsel, or 

other advisor retained by the Compensation and Talent Committee; 
• conducting the independence assessment outlined in rules with respect to any compensation 

consultant, legal counsel, or other advisor retained by the Compensation and Talent Committee; 
• annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacy of the committee charter in its compliance with the 

listing requirements of Nasdaq; 
• reviewing and establishing our leadership compensation, philosophy and guidelines; 
• overseeing and administering our equity compensation plans; 
• overseeing our diversity and inclusion programs and planning for human capital management; 
• overseeing management succession planning; 
• reviewing and making recommendations to our Board with respect to director compensation; and 
• reviewing and discussing with management the compensation discussion and analysis to be included in 

our annual proxy statement or Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Compensation and Talent Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

None of our executive officers currently serves, or in the past fiscal year has served, as a member of the 
Board or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our Board  
or Compensation and Talent Committee. 

Nominating and Governance Committee 

The Nominating and Governance Committee’s responsibilities include: 

• developing and recommending to our Board criteria for board and committee membership;
• developing and recommending to our Board best practices and corporate governance principles; 
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• subject to the rights of the Apax Funds under the Director Nomination Agreement as described in 
“Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions—Director Nomination Agreement,” identifying and 
recommending to our Board the persons to be nominated for election as directors and to each of our 
Board’s committees; 

• overseeing our “Environmental, Social and Governance” program; 
• developing and recommending to our Board a set of corporate governance guidelines; and 
• reviewing and recommending to our Board the functions, duties and compositions of the committees of 

our Board.

Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our employees, officers, contracts and directors. 
The full text of our Code of Conduct is posted on our website at investors.thoughtworks.com. We intend to 
disclose on our website any future amendments of our Code of Conduct or waivers that exempt any senior 
financial officers or our directors from provisions in the Code of Conduct. Information contained on, or that 
can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
and you should not consider information on our website to be part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among any of our directors and executive officers.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

No director or executive officer has been involved in any of the proceedings described in Item 401(f) of 
Regulation S-K in the past 10 years.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

For purposes of the SEC’s executive compensation disclosure rules, we qualify as an “emerging growth 
company” within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and as such, 
we have opted to comply with the executive compensation disclosure rules applicable to “smaller reporting 
companies,” as such term is defined in the rules promulgated under the Securities Act. This section discusses 
the material components of the executive compensation program for our Chief Executive Officer and our two 
other most highly compensated executive officers, whom we collectively refer to as our Named Executive 
Officers ("NEOs"). For our fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (“fiscal year 2021”), our NEOs were Guo Xiao 
(our President and Chief Executive Officer), Dr. Rebecca Parsons (our Chief Technology Officer) and 
Christopher Murphy (our Chief Executive Officer of Thoughtworks North America).

This discussion may contain forward-looking statements that are based on our current plans, considerations, 
expectations and determinations regarding future compensation programs. Actual compensation programs 
that we adopt in the future may differ materially from the currently planned programs summarized in this 
discussion.
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The following table summarizes total compensation for each of our NEOs in fiscal years 2021 and 2020:

Name and Principal Position Year
Salary 

($)

Stock 
Awards 

($)(1)

Option 
Awards 

($)(1)

Non-Equity
Incentive  Plan
Compensation

($)(2)

All 
Other

Compe
nsation
($)(3)

Total
($)

Guo Xiao
(President and Chief Executive 
Officer)

2021  682,000  6,743,541  —  1,001,700  9,983  8,437,224 

2020  633,131  —  198,657  262,106  4,571  1,098,465 
Dr. Rebecca Parsons
(Chief Technology Officer)

2021  715,014  2,900,157  —  730,476  9,983  4,355,630 

2020  676,776  —  198,657  194,849  4,666  1,074,948 
Christopher Murphy
(Chief Executive Officer of 
Thoughtworks North America)

2021  612,575  2,559,201  —  464,852  11,051  3,647,679 

2020  580,324  —  180,597  245,700  5,483  1,012,104 

(1) Amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock or option awards, computed in accordance 
with FASB ASC 718, granted to the NEOs.

(2) Amounts for each year represent performance-based annual cash bonuses earned with respect to such 
performance year, which were paid or will be paid, as applicable, to our NEOs in the first quarter of the 
year following the respective performance year.

(3) In accordance with the SEC’s disclosure rules, other benefits provided to Mr. Guo and Dr. Parsons for 
fiscal 2021 are not included because the aggregate cost of these items was less than $10,000 per 
individual. Amounts in this column for Mr. Murphy in respect of fiscal 2021 represent (i) $4,500 in 401(k) 
plan matching contributions made by us on his behalf, (ii) $4,600 related to an award granted under the 
2017 Share Appreciation Rights Plan, when it closed at IPO, (iii) life insurance and disability insurance 
premiums paid by us and (iv) a global mobility tax preparation fee paid by the company on his behalf.

Narrative to Summary Compensation Table

For 2021, the compensation of our NEOs consists of base salaries, performance-based annual cash bonus 
opportunities, long-term incentive compensation in the form of RSUs and other benefits, as described below 
and in "—Severance, Change in Control and Equity Arrangements—Outstanding Equity Awards".

Following the completion of our IPO recently in 2021, the Compensation and Talent Committee is assessing 
the compensation arrangements to ensure we have the appropriate balance of short and long-term variable 
pay, are market competitive and align the executive compensation structure to connect it with the experience 
of our shareholders.

Base Salary

Each of our NEOs is paid a base salary commensurate with his or her position, experience, skills, duties and 
responsibilities. For fiscal year 2021, amounts received based on annual base salary rates for Mr. Guo, Dr. 
Parsons and Mr. Murphy were $682,000, $715,014 and $612,575, respectively. 

Non-Equity Incentive Compensation – Performance-Based Annual Cash Bonuses

Each of our NEOs has a performance-based annual cash bonus opportunity that pays out upon the Company 
meeting predetermined corporate performance objectives. Payments under the annual bonus program were 
conditioned upon achievement of revenue and profit type targets set at a level to reward robust growth. For 
fiscal year 2021, the target annual cash bonus opportunities for Mr. Guo, Dr. Parsons and Mr. Murphy were 
40.8%, 28.4% and 27.5%, respectively, of their annual base salaries.  This was unchanged from the prior fiscal 
year.

Executive Employment Agreements

In 2017, the Company entered into an employment agreement with each NEO (together, the “Executive 
Employment Agreements”) that memorialized the NEO’s base salary, performance-based annual cash bonus 
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opportunity and eligibility to receive reimbursement of reasonable business expenses and participate in the 
Company’s benefit plans generally.

Each Executive Employment Agreement also provides for an initial three-year term, subject to successive 
one-year extensions thereafter, unless either party elects not to permit such automatic non-renewal with at 
least 30 days’ prior written notice. In addition, each Executive Employment Agreement provides for certain 
severance benefits upon a resignation by such NEO for “good reason” or upon a termination by the Company 
without “cause,” each as defined therein, subject to the NEO’s execution, delivery and non-revocation of a 
release of claims in favor of the Company. In connection with the adoption of the Executive Severance Plan 
and our NEOs’ participation therein, severance benefits under the Executive Employment Agreements are no 
longer in effect. Please see “—Severance, Change in Control and Equity Arrangements” below for more 
details regarding the severance benefits each NEO is eligible to receive.

Each Executive Employment Agreement also subjects the NEO to (i) a non-competition covenant during 
employment and for 12 months thereafter (or such longer period (not to exceed 18 months) that such NEO is 
receiving severance benefits), (ii) non-interference, non-solicitation and non-hire covenants during 
employment and for 12 months (in the case of Mr. Murphy) or  18 months (in the case of Mr. Guo and Dr. 
Parsons) thereafter, and (iii) assignment of inventions and perpetual confidentiality and non-disparagement 
covenants.

Health and Welfare Plans and Retirement Plans

Our NEOs are eligible to participate in employee benefit plans, including plans providing for medical, dental, 
disability, vision and life insurance benefits. We maintain a tax-qualified retirement plan that provides all 
regular employees with an opportunity to save for retirement on a tax-advantaged basis. Under our 401(k) 
plan, participants may elect to defer a portion of their compensation on a pre-tax basis and have it 
contributed to the plan subject to applicable annual limits under the Internal Revenue Code. Pre-tax 
contributions are allocated to each participant’s individual account and are then invested in selected 
investment alternatives according to the participant’s directions. Employee elective deferrals are 100% vested 
at all times. We have the ability to make discretionary matching and profit sharing contributions to the 401(k) 
plan, and such match is issued on a quarterly basis and was capped at $4,500 per employee per year prior to 
fiscal year 2022. As a U.S. tax-qualified retirement plan, contributions to the 401(k) plan and earnings on 
those contributions are not taxable to the employees until distributed from the 401(k) plan and all 
contributions are deductible by us when made.
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Outstanding Equity Awards At 2021 Fiscal Year End

The following tables summarize the outstanding equity awards held as of December 31, 2021, the last day of 
fiscal year 2021, by each of the NEOs:

Option/RSU Awards

Name Grant Date

Number of 
Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised 
Options - 

Exercisable 
(#)(1)

Number of 
Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised 
Options - 

Unexercisable
(#)(1)

Exercise 
Price ($)

Option 
Expiration 

Date

RSUs 
That 

Have Not 
Vested 
(#)(2)

Market Value 
of RSUs that 

Have Not 
Vested
($)(3)

Guo Xiao 10/12/2017  2,445,472  —  2.29 10/12/2027

12/19/2018  473,498  70,340  2.48 12/19/2028

9/15/2020  16,300  12,463  5.16 9/15/2030

9/9/2021  173,818  4,660,061 

11/18/2021  95,239  2,553,358 
Dr. Rebecca Parsons 10/12/2017  1,212,367  —  2.29 10/12/2027

12/19/2018  186,526  22,660  2.48 12/19/2028

9/15/2020  16,300  12,463  5.16 9/15/2030

9/9/2021  81,023  2,172,227 

11/18/2021  36,905  989,423 
Christopher Murphy 10/12/2017  789,234  —  2.29 10/12/2027

6/8/2018  103,051  5,900  2.29 6/8/2028

12/19/2018  72,854  18,882  2.48 12/19/2028

9/15/2020  14,819  11,329  5.16 9/15/2030

9/9/2021  64,787  1,736,939 

11/18/2021  36,905  989,423 

(1) The time-vesting Options (43.33% of each Option grant) vest over a four-year period, with 37.5% vesting 
on the 18-month anniversary of the grant date, and an additional 6.25% vesting every three months for 
the remainder of the 48-month vesting period. Vesting is subject to (i) the Option holder’s continuous 
service with us through the applicable vesting date and (ii) full acceleration upon the consummation of a 
“change in control” (as defined in the Option Plan). The performance-vesting Options (56.67% of each 
Option grant) fully vested on September 14, 2021. 

(2) The RSUs granted on September 9, 2021 vest 50% on March 17, 2022 and the remaining 50% on 
September 17, 2022. The RSUs granted on November 18, 2022 vest annually in equal installments over a 
four-year period at each anniversary of the grant date, subject to the applicable terms and limitations 
contained in the Omnibus Plan. 

(3) Based on the $26.81 closing price of the Company's common stock as reported by Nasdaq on the last 
day of our fiscal year 2021.

Severance, Change in Control and Equity Arrangements

Severance Benefits

On September 9, 2021, our Board approved a new Executive Severance Plan (the “Executive Severance 
Plan”), under which each of our NEOs is entitled to severance (the “New Severance Benefits”) following a 
termination of their employment by the Company without “cause” or by the NEO with “good reason” (each a 
“Qualifying Termination”), each as defined in the Executive Severance Plan and summarized below, subject to 
their execution of a fully effective release of claims in favor of the Company and continued compliance with 
applicable restrictive covenants. Generally, the New Severance Benefits consist of 18 months of continued 
base salary payments (“Salary Severance”), a pro-rated portion of the NEO’s target bonus for the year in 
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which the Qualifying Termination occurred, and up to 12 months of continued healthcare coverage at active 
employee rates (“Healthcare Severance”).

In addition, if the Qualifying Termination occurs within three months prior to or 12 months following (18 
months following, in the case of our Chief Executive Officer) a change in control (as defined in the 2021 Plan 
described below), (i) the Salary Severance will consist of one and one-half times (or two times, in the case of 
our Chief Executive Officer) the sum of the NEO’s base salary and target bonus, payable in a single lump sum, 
(ii) the Healthcare Severance will consist of up to 18 months of continued healthcare coverage at active 
employee rates (or 24 months, in the case of our Chief Executive Officer) and (iii) if the Qualifying Termination 
occurs within two years following the change of control, the New Severance Benefits will also include full 
acceleration of outstanding equity awards (at the greater of target and actual performance, in the case of 
performance-based awards) that are assumed or substituted by the successor in the change in control, 
provided that such equity awards that are not so assumed or substituted in the change of control will 
immediately become fully vested upon consummation of the change in control.

Under the Executive Severance Plan, with respect to each NEO, “cause” and “good reason” have the meaning 
set forth in the NEO’s Executive Employment Agreement, provided that a material diminution of the NEO’s 
duties or responsibilities, taken as a whole, without the NEO’s consent, will also constitute a basis for “good 
reason.”

The Executive Severance Plan includes a “best-net” provision pursuant to which any “parachute 
payments” (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code) that become payable to a 
participant, including a NEO, will either be paid in full or reduced so that such payments are not subject to the 
excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, whichever results in the better after-tax 
treatment to the participant.

Outstanding Equity Awards

In September 2021, our Board adopted and our shareholders approved the Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. 2021 
Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "Omnibus Plan"), pursuant to which employees, consultants and directors of our 
company and our affiliates performing services for us, including our executive officers, will be eligible to 
receive awards in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, RSUs, bonus stock, 
dividend equivalents, other stock-based awards, substitute awards, annual incentive awards and 
performance awards intended to align the interests of participants with those of our shareholders. We initially 
reserved 62,048,123 shares of our common stock for issuance under the Omnibus Plan, which will be subject 
to an annual increase on the first day of each calendar year beginning January 1, 2022, and ending and 
including January 1, 2031, equal to the lesser of (i) 5% of the total number of shares of our common stock 
outstanding on the final day of the immediately preceding calendar year and (ii) any such smaller number of 
shares of our common stock as is determined by the Board.

The Omnibus Plan is administered by our Compensation and Talent Committee, which, concurrent with our 
Board, has the authority to construe and interpret the Omnibus Plan, grant awards and make all other 
determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the Omnibus Plan. Awards under the Omnibus 
Plan may be made subject to “performance conditions” and other terms.

Prior to the IPO, the NEOs were granted long-term incentives in the form of Options under our 2017 Stock 
Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) and in the form of SARs under our 2017 Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (the 
"SAR Plan"). 

The Options are partially subject to time-vesting (43.33% of each grant). The time-vesting Options vest over 
a four-year period, with 37.5% of the time-vesting Options vesting on the 18-month anniversary of the grant 
date, and an additional 6.25% of the time-vesting Options vesting every three months for the remainder of 
the 48-month vesting period, subject to (i) the Option holder’s continuous service with us through the 
applicable vesting date and (ii) full acceleration upon the consummation of a “change in control” (as defined in 
the Option Plan). The time-vesting Options will continue to be subject to the foregoing vesting terms following 
consummation of the IPO.

The Options were also partially subject to performance-vesting (56.67%) of each grant). In connection with 
our IPO, the Board approved the full vesting acceleration of all outstanding, unvested performance-vesting 
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Options upon the completion of the IPO, regardless of whether their original vesting criteria were met. Thus all 
performance-vesting Options became fully vested as of September 14, 2021.

In connection with our IPO, our Board also approved the discontinuation of the SAR Plan and the conversion 
of outstanding SAR awards thereunder, including those held by the NEOs, into RSUs of equal value granted 
under the Omnibus Plan in exchange for cancellation of the SAR awards.

The exercise or base prices, as applicable, and number of shares of our common stock subject to the Options 
and SARs (prior to their conversion to RSUs) were adjusted for the Stock Split effected in connection with our 
IPO at a ratio of approximately 43.6-to-1.

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In connection with our IPO, our Board adopted, and our shareholders approved, the Thoughtworks Holding, 
Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The ESPP has not yet been implemented. We initially 
reserved 7,483,586 shares of our common stock for issuance under the Omnibus Plan, which will be subject 
to an annual increase on the first day of each calendar year beginning January 1, 2022, and ending and 
including January 1, 2031, equal to the lesser of (i) 1% of the total number of shares of our common stock 
outstanding on the final day of the immediately preceding calendar year and (ii) any such smaller number of 
shares of our common stock as is determined by the Board. 

The ESPP as approved includes two components: a “Section 423 Component” and a “Non-Section 423 
Component.” The Section 423 Component is intended to qualify as an “employee stock purchase plan” under 
Section 423 of the Code and will be administered, interpreted and construed in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of Section 423 of the Code. In addition, the ESPP authorized the grant of options under the 
Non-Section 423 Component, which need not qualify as options granted pursuant to an “employee stock 
purchase plan” under Section 423 of the Code; such options granted under the Non-Section 423 Component 
will be granted pursuant to separate offerings containing such sub-plans, appendices, rules or procedures as 
may be adopted by the administrator of the ESPP and designed to achieve tax, securities laws or other 
objectives for eligible employees in locations outside of the United States. Except as otherwise provided or 
determined by the ESPP administrator, the Non-Section 423 Component will operate and be administered in 
the same manner as the Section 423 Component. Offerings intended to be made under the Non-Section 423 
Component will be designated as such by the ESPP administrator at or prior to the time of such offering. After 
implementation, the ESPP will be administered by our Compensation and Talent Committee, which, 
concurrent with our Board, has the authority to construe and interpret the ESPP, grant options and make all 
other determinations necessary or advisable for the administration of the ESPP.

Emerging Growth Company Status

As an emerging growth company, we will be exempt from certain requirements related to executive 
compensation, including the requirements to hold a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and 
to provide information relating to the ratio of total compensation of our Chief Executive Officer to the median 
of the annual total compensation of all of our employees, each as required by the Investor Protection and 
Securities Reform Act of 2010, which is part of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
Act.

Director Compensation

The following table summarizes total compensation for each of our non-employee directors in fiscal year 
2021. Other than as set forth in the table and described more fully below, we did not pay any compensation, 
reimburse any expense of, make any equity awards or non-equity awards to, or pay any other compensation 
to, any of the other non-employee members of our Board or representatives of Apax in fiscal year 2021. 
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Representatives of Apax receive no compensation for service as directors and, consequently, are not 
included in this table.

Name

Fees Earned or 
Paid in Cash 

($)(1)
Stock Awards 

($)(2)

All Other 
Compensation 

($)(3)
Total

($)
Ian Davis 54,396  75,012  —  129,408 
Robert Brennan 46,468  50,001  —  96,469 
Jane Chwick 87,917  141,603  —  229,520 
Gina Loften 46,468  50,001  —  96,469 
William Parrett 87,917  141,603  —  229,520 
Roxanne Taylor 54,396  50,001  —  104,397 
Anita Sands(4) 51,776  150,024  27,043  228,843 

(1) Represents the actual annual fees paid to our non-employee directors for fiscal year 2021.
(2) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of RSU awards, computed in accordance with FASB ASC 

718.
(3) Represents fees for consulting services provided to the Company during 2021.
(4) Ms. Sands retired from the Board effective August 20, 2021.

Pursuant to the director compensation policy that we adopted at the time of our IPO, our non-employee 
directors are eligible to receive compensation for their service on our Board pursuant to the non-employee 
director compensation policy, which will provide for: (i) an annual cash retainer of $100,000, payable in four 
equal quarterly installments and prorated for any partial year of service on our Board; and (ii) an annual equity 
grant in the form of restricted stock units with an aggregate grant date fair value of $150,000 (plus an 
additional $60,000 for the Non-Executive Board Chair, an additional $20,000 for each of the chair of the 
Audit Committee and the chair of the Compensation and Talent Committee and an additional $10,000 for the 
chair of the Nominating and Governance Committee), to be granted on the date of our annual stockholders 
meeting, subject to the terms of the 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan and the award agreement pursuant to 
which such award is granted, including a one-year vesting term, subject to continued service on our Board 
Our non-employee directors are also reimbursed for their business expenses incurred in connection with their 
performance of services.

The following table summarizes the number of shares underlying options that are exercisable and 
unexercisable and unvested RSUs held by our non-employee directors on December 31, 2021.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number of Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised Options - 
Exercisable (#)

Number of Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised Options - 
Unexercisable(#)

RSUs That Have Not 
Vested (#)

Ian Davis —  —  3,572 
Robert Brennan —  —  2,381 
Jane Chwick 66,197  57,197  6,743 
Gina Loften —  —  2,381 
William Parrett 66,197  57,197  6,743 
Roxanne Taylor —  —  2,381 
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and 
Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plan information as of December 31, 2021.

Plan Category

Number of
Securities to be

Issued upon 
Exercise of

Outstanding
Options, 
Warrants

and Rights (a)

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price 
of

Outstanding
Options, 
Warrants

and Rights (b)

Number of 
Securities 
Remaining

Available for Future
Issuance under

Equity
Compensation

Plans (c)
Equity compensation plans 
approved by security holders (1)

Stock options  24,097,082 (2) $ 3.79 (3)  2,516,205 
Restricted stock units  14,128,722 (4)  —  47,919,401 (5)
Employee stock purchase plan  8,980,304 (6)

Equity compensation plans not 
approved by security holders  —  —  — 
Total  38,225,804 $ 3.79  59,415,910 

(1) Includes the Option Plan and the Omnibus Plan.
(2) Represents the number of underlying shares of common stock associated with outstanding options under 

our shareholder approved Option Plan.
(3) Represents the weighted-average exercise price of stock options outstanding under the Option Plan.
(4) Represents the number of underlying shares of common stock associated with outstanding RSUs under 

our shareholder approved Omnibus Plan. 
(5) Does not include 4.3 million shares granted to employees in China from the Omnibus Plan upon approval 

of China SAFE registration, which occurred on February 25, 2022.
(6) Represents the number of underlying shares of common stock available for issuance under our 

shareholder approved ESPP.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as 
of March 4, 2022, with respect to:  

• each person known by us to beneficially own 5% or more of the outstanding shares of our common 
stock;

• each member of our Board and each NEO; and
• the members of our Board and our executive officers as a group.

Applicable percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 305,132,181 shares of common stock outstanding 
as of March  4, 2022. We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. 
Except as indicated by the footnotes below, we believe, based on the information furnished to us, that each 
person or entity named in the table below has sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of 
common stock that he, she or it beneficially owns, subject to applicable community property laws.
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Except as otherwise noted below, the address of each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o 
Thoughtworks Holding, Inc., 200 East Randolph Street, 25th Floor, Chicago, IL 60601. Beneficial ownership 
representing less than 1% is denoted with an asterisk (*).

Name of Beneficial Owner Number of shares Percentage
5% Stockholders
Turing EquityCo II L.P.(1)  197,750,138  64.8 %
Siemens AG(2)  24,152,051  7.9 %
Gamnat PTE LTD(3)  20,858,662  6.8 %

Directors and NEOs

Guo Xiao(4)  3,963,180  1.3 %
Dr. Rebecca Parsons(5)  2,146,772 *
Christopher Murphy(6)  1,352,630 *
Ian Davis  — *
Robert Brennan  — *
Jane Chwick(7)  146,893 *
Rohan Haldea  — *
Gina Loften  — *
Salim Nathoo  — *
William Parrett(8)  142,467 *
Roxanne Taylor  — *
All directors and executive officers as a group (18 individuals)(9)  12,671,826  4.1 %

(1) Turing EquityCo II L.P. (“EquityCo II”) holds these shares directly. Apax IX GP Co. Limited (“Apax IX GP”), 
through majority vote of its investment committee, shares voting and dispositive power over the shares 
held directly by EquityCo II and, accordingly, may be deemed the beneficial owner of such shares. The 
individual members of the investment committee of Apax IX GP disclaim beneficial ownership of these 
shares. The business address of EquityCo II is PO Box 656, East Wing, Trafalgar Court, Les Banques, St 
Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3PP. The business address of Apax IX GP is Royal Bank Place, Third Floor, 1 
Glategny Esplanade, St. Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 2HJ.

(2) Based on information contained in a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 10, 2022, Siemens AG 
has the sole voting power with respect to 24,152,051 shares and the sole dispositive power with respect 
to 24,152,051 shares. Siemens AG stated its business address as Otto-Hahn-Ring 6, 81739, Munich, 
Germany.

(3) Based on information contained in a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC by GIC Private Limited (“GIC”), GIC 
Asset Management Pte. Ltd. (“GAM”) and Gamnat Pte Ltd. (“Gamnat”) on February 11, 2022, (a) Gamnat 
shares the power to vote and the power to dispose of 18,456,646 shares held directly by it with GAM and 
GIC, (b) Gamnat is managed by GAM, (c) GAM is wholly owned by GIC and is the public equity investment 
arm of GIC, (d) GIC is a fund manager for the Government of Singapore (“GoS”) and Monetary Authority of 
Singapore (“MAS”), (e) GIC has been given the sole discretion to exercise the voting rights attached to, 
and the disposition of, any shares managed on behalf of GoS, (f) as such, GIC has the sole power to vote 
and the power to dispose of 1,959,911 shares beneficially owned by it and shares the power to vote and 
dispose of 442,105 shares beneficially owned by it with MAS, (g) GIC is wholly-owned by the GoS and 
was set up with the sole purpose of managing Singapore’s foreign reserves, and (h) GoS disclaims 
beneficial ownership of these shares. GIC, GAM and Gamnat stated their business address as 168 
Robinson Road, #37-01 Capital Tower, Singapore 068912.

(4) Includes 918,742 shares of common stock owned and held by Xiao Guo Trust 2020 as well as 2,957,529 
shares underlying options that are currently exercisable or that will become exercisable with 60 days of 
March  4, 2022 and 86,909 shares of common stock underlying RSUs that will vest within 60 days of 
March 4, 2022.
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(5) Includes 680,728 shares of common stock owned directly as well as 1,425,532 shares underlying options 
that are currently exercisable or that will become exercisable with 60 days of March 4, 2022 and 40,512  
shares of common stock underlying RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 4, 2022.

(6) Includes 328,358 shares of common stock owned directly as well as 991,878 shares underlying options 
that are currently exercisable or that will become exercisable with 60 days of March 4, 2022 and 32,394 
shares of common stock underlying RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 4, 2022.

(7) Includes 60,981 shares of common stock owned directly as well as 82,540 shares underlying options that 
are currently exercisable or that will become exercisable with 60 days of March 4, 2022 and 3,372 shares 
of common stock underlying RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 4, 2022.

(8) Includes 56,555 shares of common stock owned and held by Family Leisure Properties, LLC - Series E as 
well as 82,540 shares underlying options that are currently exercisable or that will become exercisable 
with 60 days of March 4, 2022 and 3,372 shares of common stock underlying RSUs that will vest within 
60 days of March 4, 2022.

(9) Includes with respect to all Directors and Named Executive Officers 3,145,391 shares directly or indirectly 
beneficially owned, 9,240,389 shares underlying options that are currently exercisable or that will 
become exercisable with 60 days of March  4, 2022 and 286,046 shares of common stock underlying 
RSUs that will vest within 60 days of March 4, 2022.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director 
Independence

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons 

The Audit Committee of our Board  has primary responsibility for reviewing and approving transactions with 
related parties. The audit committee charter provides that the Audit Committee shall review and approve in 
advance any related party transactions. We have adopted a formal written policy providing that our executive 
officers, directors, nominees for election as directors, beneficial owners of more than 5% of any class of our 
voting stock, any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons, and any firm, corporation 
or other entity in which any of the foregoing persons is employed, is a general partner or principal or in a 
similar position, or in which such person has a 5% or greater beneficial ownership interest, is not permitted to 
enter into a related party transaction with us without the consent of our Audit Committee, subject to the 
exceptions described below. 

In approving or rejecting any such proposal, our Audit Committee is to consider the relevant facts and 
circumstances available and deemed relevant to our Audit Committee, including whether the transaction is on 
terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third party under the same or similar 
circumstances and the extent of the related party’s interest in the transaction. Our Audit Committee will 
determine that certain transactions will not require audit committee approval, including certain employment 
arrangements of executive officers, director compensation, transactions with another company at which a 
related party’s only relationship is as a non-executive employee or beneficial owner of less than 5% of that 
company’s shares, transactions where a related party’s interest arises solely from the ownership of our 
common stock and all holders of our common stock received the same benefit on a pro rata basis, and 
transactions available to all employees generally. 

Transactions with Related Persons

Dividend 

In April 2021, the Company declared and paid a pro rata dividend of $325.0 million to the Company’s 
shareholders, including our then-principal stockholder Turing EquityCo L.P., an affiliate of Turing EquityCo II 
L.P., the investment vehicle through which the Apax Funds now hold their investment in the Company. See 
the section entitled “Principal and Selling Stockholders” for more information on our principal stockholder’s 
ownership in our Company.

Family Relationship

We currently employ Penelope Morrow, who is married to Christopher Murphy, our Chief Executive Officer of 
Thoughtworks North America. In 2021, Ms. Morrow received total annual compensation, consisting of base 
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salary and other compensation, which includes the grant date fair value of an RSU award, of approximately 
$260,000. Ms. Morrow’s compensation and other benefits are comparable to those of other employees of the 
Company in similar positions and determined by the Company consistent with its compensation practices 
applicable to other similarly situated employees.

Directors Nomination Agreement

We have entered into a Director Nomination Agreement with the Apax Funds. Specifically, the Director 
Nomination Agreement provides the Apax Funds, through their control of Turing EquityCo II L.P., the right, but 
not the obligation, to nominate a number of individuals designated for election as our directors at any meeting 
of our stockholders (the “Apax Directors”), such that, upon the election of each such individual, and each 
other individual nominated by or at the direction of our Board or a duly-authorized committee of the board, as 
a director of our company, the number of Apax Directors serving as directors of our company will be equal to: 

(i) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 50% of the total voting 
power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number that is greater than 
50% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; 

(ii) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 40% (but less than 
50%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number 
that is at least 40% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; 

(iii) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 30% (but less than 
40%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole 
number that is at least 30% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; 

(iv) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 20% (but less than 
30%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole 
number that is at least 20% of the total number of directors comprising our Board; and 

(v) if the Apax Funds and their affiliates together continue to beneficially own at least 10% (but less than 
20%) of the total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock, the lowest whole number 
that is at least 10% of the total number of directors comprising our Board. The Apax Funds’ nominees 
must comply with applicable law and stock exchange rules. 

The Apax Funds have agreed in the Director Nomination Agreement to vote any shares of our common stock 
and any other securities held by it in favor of the election to our Board so designated. At any time when the 
Apax Funds have the right to designate for election at least 40% of the total number of directors comprising 
our Board, the Apax Funds will also have the right to have one of their nominated directors hold one seat on 
each Board committee, subject to satisfying any applicable exchange rules or regulations regarding the 
independence of Board committee members. In addition, the Apax Funds shall be entitled to designate the 
replacement for any of their Board designees whose Board service terminates prior to the end of the 
director’s term regardless of the Apax Funds’ beneficial ownership at such time. The Director Nomination 
Agreement provides for certain consent rights for the Apax Funds so long as they own at least 50% of the 
total voting power of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Additionally, the Director Nomination 
Agreement prohibits us from increasing or decreasing the size of our Board without the prior written consent 
of the Apax Funds for so long as the Apax Funds hold at least 40% of the total outstanding voting power. This 
agreement will terminate at such time as the Apax Funds own less than 10% of the total voting power of the 
outstanding shares of our common stock. 

Registration Rights Agreement 

We are party to a registration rights agreement with the Apax Funds and certain other stockholders, which 
provides customary demand and piggyback registration rights. The registration rights agreement also 
provides that we will pay customary expenses relating to such registrations and indemnify the Apax Funds 
and the other stockholders against certain liabilities that may arise under the Securities Act. 

Indemnification of Officers and Directors

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our executive officers and directors. The 
indemnification agreements provide the executive officers and directors with contractual rights to 
indemnification, expense advancement, and reimbursement, to the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL. 
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Additionally, we may enter into indemnification agreements with any new directors or officers that may be 
broader in scope than the specific indemnification provisions contained in Delaware law.

Stockholders Agreement

Prior to our IPO, we were party to a stockholders agreement with the Apax Funds and certain other pre-IPO 
stockholders setting forth certain board rights, assuring continuity in management and ownership and limiting 
the terms by which our shares may be transferred. Such stockholders agreement was terminated upon the 
consummation of our IPO.

Independence of Directors

Our Board conducts an annual review of the independence of our directors. In its most recent review, our 
Board determined that all of our directors, with the exception of Guo Xiao, are “independent directors” as 
defined under the applicable rules, regulations and listing standards of Nasdaq and the SEC. In addition, our 
Board has determined that all members of our audit committee are independent and satisfy the relevant SEC 
and Nasdaq independence requirements for such committees. 

Controlled Company Exemption

The Apax Funds continue to control a majority of our outstanding common stock. As a result, we are a 
“controlled company.” Under Nasdaq rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power for the 
election of directors is held by an individual, group, or another company is a “controlled company” and may 
elect not to comply with certain Nasdaq corporate governance requirements, including the requirements that, 
within one year of the date of the listing of our common stock:

• we have a board that is composed of a majority of “independent directors,” as defined under the 
rules of such exchange

• we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors; and
• we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of 

independent directors

In the future, we may not have a majority of independent directors on our Board, and our Compensation and 
Talent Committee and our Nominating and Governance Committee may not consist entirely of independent 
directors. Accordingly, you may not have the same protections afforded to shareholders or companies that 
are subject to all of the Nasdaq corporate governance requirements. 

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be filed (and is hereby incorporated by reference) by an amendment 
hereto or pursuant to a definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation 14A that will contain such 
information.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Statements. Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated 
Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. The financial statement schedules have been omitted as they are 
either not applicable or the required information otherwise included.

3. Exhibits. The exhibits included below are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or are 
incorporated herein by reference.

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit 
Number Description

Filed 
Herewith Form File No. Filing Date 

Exhibit 
Number

3.1 Fourth Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation

8-K 001-40812 September 20, 2021 3.1

3.2 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws 8-K 001-40812 September 20, 2021 3.2

4.1 Description of Securities X

4.2 Amended and Restated Registration 
Rights Agreement

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 4.1

4.3 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and 
Restated Registration Rights 
Agreement

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 4.2

10.1 Amended and Restated Credit 
Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2021

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.1

10.2+ Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. 2021 
Omnibus Incentive Plan

S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.1

10.3+ Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. 2021 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.2

10.4+ Form of Thoughtworks U.K. Share 
Incentive Plan

S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.3

10.5+ Turing Holding Corp. (n/k/a 
Thoughtworks Holding, Inc.) 2017 
Stock Option Plan

S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.4

10.6+ Form of Stock Option Agreement S-8 333-259702 September 21, 2021 10.5

10.7+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit 
Agreement

10-Q 001-40812 November 15, 2021 10.11

10.8+ Form of Indemnification Agreement S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.5

10.9+ Form of Thoughtworks Holding, Inc. 
Executive Severance Plan

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.11

10.10+ Employment Agreement, dated as of 
October 12, 2017, by and between 
Thoughtworks, Inc. and Guo Xiao

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.7

10.11+ Employment Agreement, dated as of 
October 12, 2017, by and between 
Thoughtworks, Inc. and Dr. Rebecca 
Parsons

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.8
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1866550/000119312521256429/d184249dex41.htm
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10.12+ Employment Agreement, dated as of 
October 19, 2017, by and between 
Thoughtworks, Ltd and Christopher 
Murphy

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.9

10.13+ Letter Agreement, dated as of August 
10, 2021, by and between 
Thoughtworks, Inc. and Christopher 
Murphy

S-1/A 333-258985 August 25, 2021 10.10

10.14 Director Nomination Agreement, dated 
as of September 17, 2021, by and 
among the Company and the other 
signatories party thereto.

10-Q 001-40812 November 15, 2021 10.10

21.1 List of Subsidiaries X

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, 
independent registered public 
accounting firm

X

24.1 Power of Attorney (included in 
signature page hereto)

X

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive 
Officer pursuant to Rule 
13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) under the 
Exchange Act, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002.

X

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial 
Officer pursuant to Rule 
13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) under the 
Exchange Act, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002.

X

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive 
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial 
Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the 
instance document does not appear in 
the Interactive Data File because its 
XBRL tags are embedded within the 
Inline XBRL document

X

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Schema Document

X

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Calculation Linkbase Document

X

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Definition Linkbase Document

X

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label 
Linkbase Document

X

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Presentation Linkbase Document

X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - 
(formatted as inline XBRL and 
contained in Exhibit 101)

X

+ Indicates management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 8, 2022

THOUGHTWORKS HOLDING, INC.

By: /s/ Guo Xiao
Guo Xiao
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Guo Xiao and Erin Cummins, and each 
one of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and 
resubstitution, for him or her and in their name, place, and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all 
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other 
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said 
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every 
act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes 
as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and 
agents or any of them, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue 
hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities as of March  8, 
2022.

Signature Title

/s/ Guo Xiao Chief Executive Officer and Director
Guo Xiao (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Erin Cummins Chief Financial Officer
Erin Cummins (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Ian Davis Chairman of the Board of Directors
Ian Davis

/s/ Robert Brennan Director
Robert Brennan

/s/ Jane Chwick Director
Jane Chwick

/s/ Rohan Haldea Director
Rohan Haldea

/s/ Gina Loften Director
Gina Loften

/s/ Salim Nathoo Director
Salim Nathoo

/s/ William Parrett Director
William Parrett

/s/ Roxanne Taylor Director
Roxanne Taylor
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